
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

Hon. Robert J. Torres, 

Chairman 

 

Hon. Alberto C. Lamorena, III 

Vice-Chairman 

 

Atty. Jacqueline T. Terlaje 

Member 

 

Mrs. Donna R. Muña Quinata 

Member 

 

Dr. KristiAnna S. Whitman 

Member 

 

 
ADMINISTRATION 

 

Stephen P. Hattori 

Executive Director 

PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICE CORPORATION 
(Kotperasion Setbision Defensot Pupbleku) 

GOVERNMENT OF GUAM 

779 Route 4 
Sinajåña, Guam 96910-5174 

Tel: (671) 475-3100 ◆Fax: (671) 477-5844 

 

 
Board of Trustees’ Regular Scheduled Meeting 

Tuesday, April 2, 2024 – 12:30 p.m. 

Via Video Conferencing: Zoom & YouTube 

A G E N D A 

 
I. Call to Order 

 

II. Roll Call 

 

III. Determination of Quorum 

 

IV. Proof of Due Notice of Meeting: 

 

A. Notice: 5 Working Days, DOA/PDSC/Guam PDN 

B. Notice: 48 Hours, DOA/PDSC/Guam PDN 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Tuesday, March 26, 2024 

Friday, March 29, 2024 

 

John P. Morrison 

Deputy Director 

 

Cathyann C. Gogue 

Administrative Director 

V. Approval of Minutes: Regular Scheduled Meeting of February 27, 2024 

 

VI. Old Business 

A. Financial Status Update / Allotment Releases (PDSC, APD, CLC ) 

B. Report from PDSC Executive Director 

C. Report from APD Managing Attorney 

D. Report from CLC Managing Attorney 

E. Executive Director Pay Update                 (EXHIBIT A)

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

VII. New Business 

A. Amending Administrative Assistant to Administrative Officer (EXHIBIT B) 
 

VIII. Public Discussion 

 

IX. Adjournment and Next Meeting Date: Tuesday, April 23, 2024 at 12:30 p.m. via Zoom 

/ YouTube / PDSC Conference Room. 

 
 

 Page 1 of 103 



Proof of Due Meeting 
Notice:

Tuesday, March 26, 2024
Friday, March 29, 2024

 Page 2 of 103 



1
5

T
u
e
s
d
a
y,

 M
a
rc

h
  
2
6
, 
2
0
2
4
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
T

h
e

 P
a

c
if

ic
 D

a
il

y
 N

e
w

s
g

u
a

m
p

d
n

.c
o

m

Board of Trustees’ Regular Scheduled Meeting
Tuesday, April 2, 2024 – 12:30 p.m.

via Video Conferencing: Zoom & YouTube

A  G  E  N  D A
I. Call to Order

II. Roll Call

III. Determination of Quorum

IV. Proof of Due Notice of Meeting:
 A. Notice: 5 Working Days, DOA/PDSC/Guam PDN 
   Tuesday, March 26, 2024
 B. Notice: 48 Hours, DOA/PDSC/Guam PDN 
   Friday, March 29, 2024
V. Approval of Minutes: Regular Scheduled Meeting of 
 February 27, 2024.

VI. Old Business
 A. Financial Status Update / Allotment Releases (PDSC, APD, CLC)
 B. Report from PDSC Executive Director  
 C. Report from APD Managing Attorney  
 D. Report from CLC Managing Attorney 
 E. Executive Director Pay Adjustment    (EXHIBIT A)

VII. New Business
 A.  Amending Administrative Assistant to Administrative   
  Officer (EXHIBIT B)

VIII. Public Discussion

IX.   Adjournment and Next Meeting Date: Tuesday, April 23,   
 2024 at 12:30 p.m. via Zoom / YouTube / PDSC Conference Room.

PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICE CORPORATION 
(Kotperasion Setbision Defensot Pupbleku) 

GOVERNMENT OF GUAM
779 Route 4 

Sinajåña, Guam 96910-5174
Tel: (671) 475-3100 • Fax: (671) 477-5844

CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION
KUMISION I SETBISION SIBIT

Bell Tower Suite 201, 710 W. Marine Corps Drive 
Hagåtña, Guam 96910

Tel: (671) 647-1855 • Fax (671) 647-1867

NOTICE OF MEETING
IN-PERSON MEETING AT 9:00 A.M. ON TUESDAY, APRIL 02, 2024.

The public can access a live stream of this meeting on the CSC 
website at: csc.guam.gov or via zoom at: 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89013882623?pwd=Maz0FikFeMrnZ9VJnx

YTRN59DwEBbe.1

(Meeting ID: 890 1388 2623 / Passcode: 662798)

AGENDA:
I. CALL TO ORDER.
II.  APPROVAL OF MINUTES: February 15, 2024 and February 20, 2024.
III.  NEW BUSINESS: 
  (1) MOTION HEARING.
  Donna E. Lawrence vs. Office of the Attorney General/LAW;
  CSC Case No.: 23-AA13T.
IV.  OLD BUSINESS:
 (1)  SIGNING: DECISION AND JUDGEMENT.
  Jordan L. Pauluhn vs. Office of the Attorney General/LAW;
  CSC Case No.: 23-GRE09.
 (2)  SIGNING: DECISION AND JUDGEMENT.
  Vivian Nisperos vs. Office of the Attorney General/LAW;
  CSC Case No.: 23-PA04.
 (3)  GRIEVANCE HEARING.
  Joseph T. Taitague Jr. vs. Department of Corrections; 
  CSC Case No.: 22-GRE26.
V.  GENERAL BUSINESS:
 (1)  Bills and Laws affecting CSC: None.
 (2)  Administrative Counsel Litigation Update.
 (3)  Administrative Matters:
  (a) Board Training: Civil Service Commission Board Members.
VII. ADJOURNMENT.

For special accommodations, please contact Maria P. Masnayon, CSC 
ADA Coordinator at (671) 647-1872 / (671) 647-1855.

/s/ Daniel D. Leon Guerrero, Executive Director
Paid for by the Civil Service Commission.

Turn here for
your next vehicle

Discover your
new home

Find a new job
or career

Household,Jobs
Homes

Rentals
& Auto

CLASSIFIEDS

Pets &
Furniture,

Place an ad online TODAY!

Guampdn.com/Classifieds
Or call (671)472-1PDN (1736)

PDN LobbyHours: Monday–Friday 8am–5pm

 

  

All classified ads are subject to the applicable rate card, copies of 
which are available from our Advertising Dept. All ads are subject to 
approval before publication. The Pacific Daily News/Pacific Sunday 
News reserves the right to edit, refuse, reject, classify or cancel any 
ad at any time. Errors must be reported in the first day publication. 
The Pacific Daily News/Pacific Sunday News shall not be liable for 
any loss or expense that results from an error in or omission of an 
advertisement. No refunds for early cancellation of order.

SUPER CLASSIFIED DEALS
For all categories except employment and real estate.

There are no line limits 

Good: Text only. 3 days in print/7 days online  $35
Better: Text with border. 5 days in print/10 days online  $45
Best: Text with border & image. 8 days in print/14 days online  $60

CATEGORIES
Animals for Sale: Livestock / Pets • Automotive: Cars/

Motorcycles/Pickups and SUVs • Celebrations • Fundraisers 
 • Goods for Sale: Auto Parts/Baby Items/Computers/Electronics/

Exercise Equipment/Furniture/Household Goods/Miscellaneous/
Musical Instruments/Sports and Outdoors Equipment/Tool • Lost 

and Found • Heavy Equipment • Repairs and Installation: Air 
Conditioning/Appliances/Cellphones/Computers/Electrical/Electronics/
Plumbing/Repair and Installation Services Needed • Services: Child 
and Elderly Care/Educational/Lawn Care or Yardwork/Other Services/
Therapeutic Massage/Tutoring/Cleaning Services • Wanted to Buy 

• Watercraft: Boats/Personal Water Craft

EMPLOYMENT CLASSIFIED 

PACKAGES
There are no line limits

Good: Text only. 3 days in print and 7 days online  $99
Better: Text with border. 5 days in print/10 days online  $114
Best: Text with border & image. 8 days in print/14 days online  $120 

CATEGORIES
Help Wanted Full Time • Help Wanted Part Time

REAL ESTATE CLASSIFIED 

PACKAGES
There are no line limits

Good: Text only. 3 days in print / 7 days online  $81 
Better: Text with border. 5 days in print / 10 days online  $96
Best: Text with border & image. 8 days in print/14 days online  $105

CATEGORIES
Businesses for sale • For Lease Land • For Rent Commercial

 • For Rent Residential • For Sale Commercial • For Sale 
Residential • For Sale Land • Rooms for Rent

OPEN RATE LINERS 
Priced per line

All liners come with digital. There are no Print Only options.

Private Party Open Rate Liners 
** Applies to all categories except for Employment and Real Estate

$14.45 per line/per day for print and 3 days online.

$50 5 days online – No Line Limit

Employment Open Liners
$16.50 per line/per day for print and 3 days online.

$75 5 days online – No Line Limit

Real Estate Open Liners
$14.70 per line/per day for print and 3 days online.

$85 5 days online – No Line Limit

Optional Adds for Open Liners
• Bold: $2 • Border: $7 • Image: $7

Online
Classifieds

GuamPDN.com

To place your ads, 
please

1.

3.

4.

2.

Log onto 
GuamPDN.com

Click on “Start 
Creating Your Ad 
Now”

Complete the form 
and make payment

Click on “Place 
an ad” under the 
Quick Links on the 
left blue sidebar

 Page 3 of 103 



1
6

F
ri
d

a
y,

 M
a
rc

h
  
2
9
, 
2
0
2
4
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
T

h
e

 P
a

c
if

ic
 D

a
il

y
 N

e
w

s
g

u
a

m
p

d
n

.c
o

m

Board of Trustees’ Regular Scheduled Meeting
Tuesday, April 2, 2024 – 12:30 p.m.

via Video Conferencing: Zoom & YouTube

A  G  E  N  D A
I. Call to Order

II. Roll Call

III. Determination of Quorum

IV. Proof of Due Notice of Meeting:
 A. Notice: 5 Working Days, DOA/PDSC/Guam PDN 
   Tuesday, March 26, 2024
 B. Notice: 48 Hours, DOA/PDSC/Guam PDN 
   Friday, March 29, 2024
V. Approval of Minutes: Regular Scheduled Meeting of 
 February 27, 2024.

VI. Old Business
 A. Financial Status Update / Allotment Releases (PDSC, APD, CLC)
 B. Report from PDSC Executive Director  
 C. Report from APD Managing Attorney  
 D. Report from CLC Managing Attorney 
 E. Executive Director Pay Adjustment    (EXHIBIT A)

VII. New Business
 A.  Amending Administrative Assistant to Administrative   
  Officer (EXHIBIT B)

VIII. Public Discussion

IX.   Adjournment and Next Meeting Date: Tuesday, April 23,   
 2024 at 12:30 p.m. via Zoom / YouTube / PDSC Conference Room.

PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICE CORPORATION 
(Kotperasion Setbision Defensot Pupbleku) 

GOVERNMENT OF GUAM
779 Route 4 

Sinajåña, Guam 96910-5174
Tel: (671) 475-3100 • Fax: (671) 477-5844

CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION
KUMISION I SETBISION SIBIT

Bell Tower Suite 201, 710 W. Marine Corps Drive 
Hagåtña, Guam 96910

Tel: (671) 647-1855 • Fax (671) 647-1867

NOTICE OF MEETING
IN-PERSON MEETING AT 9:00 A.M. ON TUESDAY, APRIL 02, 2024.

The public can access a live stream of this meeting on the CSC 
website at: csc.guam.gov or via zoom at: 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89013882623?pwd=Maz0FikFeMrnZ9VJnx

YTRN59DwEBbe.1

(Meeting ID: 890 1388 2623 / Passcode: 662798)

AGENDA:
I. CALL TO ORDER.
II.  APPROVAL OF MINUTES: February 15, 2024 and February 20, 2024.
III.  NEW BUSINESS: 
  (1) MOTION HEARING.
  Donna E. Lawrence vs. Office of the Attorney General/LAW;
  CSC Case No.: 23-AA13T.
IV.  OLD BUSINESS:
 (1)  SIGNING: DECISION AND JUDGEMENT.
  Jordan L. Pauluhn vs. Office of the Attorney General/LAW;
  CSC Case No.: 23-GRE09.
 (2)  SIGNING: DECISION AND JUDGEMENT.
  Vivian Nisperos vs. Office of the Attorney General/LAW;
  CSC Case No.: 23-PA04.
 (3)  GRIEVANCE HEARING.
  Joseph T. Taitague Jr. vs. Department of Corrections; 
  CSC Case No.: 23-GRE09.
V.  GENERAL BUSINESS:
 (1)  Bills and Laws affecting CSC: None.
 (2)  Administrative Counsel Litigation Update.
 (3)  Administrative Matters:
  (a) Board Training: Civil Service Commission Board Members.
VII. ADJOURNMENT.

For special accommodations, please contact Maria P. Masnayon, CSC 
ADA Coordinator at (671) 647-1872 / (671) 647-1855.

/s/ Daniel D. Leon Guerrero, Executive Director
Paid for by the Civil Service Commission.

The Guam Environmental Protection Agency (Guam EPA) wishes to notify the general public and other interested 
parties of Guam EPA's intent to issue a Solid Waste Permit to the following company:

U.S Naval Hospital Guam
Processing – Medical Waste

 U.S. Naval Hospital, Bldg. 48, Agana Heights 

The Permits and their conditions are proposed and open for public comment, in accordance with 10 GCA §51104. A 
copy of the proposed permit and permit applications for the applicant listed above, and all other supporting 
documents are available for public inspection, Monday through Friday (excluding holidays), 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 
at the agencyʼs administration building located at 17-3404 Mariner Avenue, Tiyan Barrigada. A public hearing will 
be held in the event a reasonable request is made.

PUBLIC REVIEW AND COMMENT PERIOD:
FRIDAY•MARCH 29, 2024 - MONDAY•MAY 13, 2024

Written comments are welcomed and must be received by the agency via hand delivery, or mail 
and should be addressed to: Solid Waste Management Program, c/o Guam EPA:

17-3304 Mariner Avenue Tiyan Barrigada, Guam 96913-1617. Written comments must be 
received, or postmarked no later that 5:00 p.m. on Monday, May 13, 2024.

Facsimile submittals will not be accepted.
The final decision to set conditions and issue the final permit or deny application for the permit
will be decided after all comments have been considered. Please bring this information to the 

attention of all persons who may be interested in this matter.

/s/ MICHELLE C.R. LASTIMOZA, Administrator
(THIS AD PAID FOR BY US NAVAL HOSPITAL)

Guam Environmental Protection Agency
Ahensian Pruteksion Lina’La Guahan

PUBLIC NOTICE
RENEWAL OF SOLID WASTE PROCESSING PERMIT

Turn here for
your next vehicle

Discover your
new home

Find a new job
or career

Household,Jobs
Homes

Rentals
& Auto

CLASSIFIEDS

Pets &
Furniture,

Place an ad online TODAY!

Guampdn.com/Classifieds
Or call (671)472-1PDN (1736)

PDN LobbyHours: Monday–Friday 8am–5pm

 

  

All classified ads are subject to the applicable rate card, copies of 
which are available from our Advertising Dept. All ads are subject to 
approval before publication. The Pacific Daily News/Pacific Sunday 
News reserves the right to edit, refuse, reject, classify or cancel any 
ad at any time. Errors must be reported in the first day publication. 
The Pacific Daily News/Pacific Sunday News shall not be liable for 
any loss or expense that results from an error in or omission of an 
advertisement. No refunds for early cancellation of order.

SUPER CLASSIFIED DEALS
For all categories except employment and real estate.

There are no line limits 

Good: Text only. 3 days in print/7 days online  $35
Better: Text with border. 5 days in print/10 days online  $45
Best: Text with border & image. 8 days in print/14 days online  $60

CATEGORIES
Animals for Sale: Livestock / Pets • Automotive: Cars/

Motorcycles/Pickups and SUVs • Celebrations • Fundraisers 
 • Goods for Sale: Auto Parts/Baby Items/Computers/Electronics/

Exercise Equipment/Furniture/Household Goods/Miscellaneous/
Musical Instruments/Sports and Outdoors Equipment/Tool • Lost 

and Found • Heavy Equipment • Repairs and Installation: Air 
Conditioning/Appliances/Cellphones/Computers/Electrical/Electronics/
Plumbing/Repair and Installation Services Needed • Services: Child 
and Elderly Care/Educational/Lawn Care or Yardwork/Other Services/
Therapeutic Massage/Tutoring/Cleaning Services • Wanted to Buy 

• Watercraft: Boats/Personal Water Craft

EMPLOYMENT CLASSIFIED 

PACKAGES
There are no line limits

Good: Text only. 3 days in print and 7 days online  $99
Better: Text with border. 5 days in print/10 days online  $114
Best: Text with border & image. 8 days in print/14 days online  $120 

CATEGORIES
Help Wanted Full Time • Help Wanted Part Time

REAL ESTATE CLASSIFIED 

PACKAGES
There are no line limits

Good: Text only. 3 days in print / 7 days online  $81 
Better: Text with border. 5 days in print / 10 days online  $96
Best: Text with border & image. 8 days in print/14 days online  $105

CATEGORIES
Businesses for sale • For Lease Land • For Rent Commercial

 • For Rent Residential • For Sale Commercial • For Sale 
Residential • For Sale Land • Rooms for Rent

OPEN RATE LINERS 
Priced per line

All liners come with digital. There are no Print Only options.

Private Party Open Rate Liners 
** Applies to all categories except for Employment and Real Estate

$14.45 per line/per day for print and 3 days online.

$50 5 days online – No Line Limit

Employment Open Liners
$16.50 per line/per day for print and 3 days online.

$75 5 days online – No Line Limit

Real Estate Open Liners
$14.70 per line/per day for print and 3 days online.

$85 5 days online – No Line Limit

Optional Adds for Open Liners
• Bold: $2 • Border: $7 • Image: $7

 Page 4 of 103 



Minutes 
February 27, 2024 

 Page 5 of 103 



PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICE CORPORATION 
Board of Trustees’ Meeting 

Tuesday, February 27, 2024 – 12:30 PM 
via Video Conferencing - Zoom 

Public Defender Service Corporation Conference Room 
 

MINUTES 

I. CALL TO ORDER 
 
The meeting was called to order at 12:31 p.m. on February 27, 2024 by Chairman Chief Justice 
Robert J. Torres.  

 
II. ROLL CALL 

Present: Chief Justice Robert J. Torres, Chairman 
Presiding Judge Alberto C. Lamorena, III, Vice Chairman 

 Trustee Donna M. Quiñata, Member 
Trustee KristiAnna Whitman, Member  
Attorney Jacque T. Terlaje, GBA President, Member 

 
Others Present: Stephen P. Hattori, Executive Director  
   John P. Morrison, Deputy Director 
   Ana Maria Gayle, APD Managing Attorney 
   Cathyann Gogue, Administrative Director 
   Carol Hinkle-Sanchez, Civil Law Center 

Julito Tingson, MIS Administrator 
Kenneth Lim, Network Specialist 

   Katherine Sablan, Personnel Specialist 
Gwendolyn Diego, Civil Law Center 

   Audre K. Hattori, Alternate Public Defender 
   

III. DETERMINATION OF QUORUM 
 

With the presence of three (3) out of the five (5) board members, a quorum was determined 
for the meeting to proceed. 
 

IV. PROOF OF DUE NOTICE OF MEETINGS 
 

“Notice of Public Meeting” was published in the Pacific Daily News on Tuesday, February 
20, 2024 and Friday, February 23, 2024.   

  
V. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 

Chairman Chief Justice Torres proceeded with the approval of the minutes of the regular board 
meeting of January 23, 2024.   
Motion to adopt the minutes subject to correction was made by Trustee Quiñata and 
seconded by Trustee Whitman. Approved by acclamation.  
 

 Page 6 of 103 



Chief Justice Torres acknowledged the presence of Presiding Judge Lamorena. 
  
VI.  OLD BUSINESS 
 

A. FINANCIAL STATUS UPDATE/ALLOTMENT RELEASES (PDSC, APD, CLC) 
   
 AD Gogue reported that since the last board meeting, PDSC received $605,602; 

bringing PD allotment to 91 percent. Additionally, APD received $650,900, raising 
their allotment to 93 percent. With this week being payroll, a total of $302,801 is 
expected from DOA before the week ends.   

 
 On February 12, 2024, an additional $44,208 was received for Improving Criminal 

Justice Response Grant (ICJR). As of January 31, $104,000 was expended from ICJR 
leaving a balance of $71,600 for personnel cost and $9,704 for travel and supplies. 
With the approval from Federal Programs, ICJR funds will be used for The 
Advocacy Center (TAC) until STOP 2022 funding is received.  

 
Regarding EJC, January invoices were submitted to DPHSS. PDSC will continue to 
follow-up on reimbursements due to the Corporation.  
 
The Access to Counsel Grant, funded by JAG (Justice Assistance Grant) with BJA, 
has a remaining balance of approximately $3,000. Bureau of Statistics & Plans (BSP) 
and has extended expenditure of fund to June 2024.  

 
B.  REPORT FROM PDSC EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

 
ED Hattori stated that statistics for January are a bit inflated due to outstanding bench 
warrants and pending closures. There are 1,020 pre-judgment cases and 851 pre-trial 
bench warrant cases. Eighty-two cases were picked up in January with some closures 
due to conflict with Attorney Spivey’s former cases. Fewer cases were opened in 
January 2024 compared to other years because of CLC. With the Civil Law Center, 
the PD has turned over all guardianship and protective order cases – reducing conflict. 
The only civil matters for PDSC’s criminal side are those assigned by trial judges.  
 
For Electronic Monitoring (EM), there were 15 applications submitted and five were 
approved by the Court. ED Hattori added that the office is still awaiting the report from 
the Sixth Amendment Center that he will share with the board once it is completed.  
  

C.  REPORT FROM APD MANAGING ATTORNEY 
 
 MA Gayle reported that APD’s statistics and EM application totals for this month will 

be provided at the next meeting. She continued that she and ED Hattori participated in 
the Court’s strategic planning meeting and hopes their comments are included in the 
final report.  

 
D. REPORT FROM CLC MANAGING ATTORNEY 
 

 Page 7 of 103 



 MA Hinkle-Sanchez stated that CLC is receiving court-appointed juvenile matters and 
are withdrawing from cases with conflicts. The office continues to explore building 
their guardian ad litem program with UOG and GCC’s social work programs. She 
continued that CLC applied for and will soon receive grant funds from WestCare for 
a veterans program to assist with homelessness, evictions and similar matters under 
EJC.  

 
Chief Justice Torres acknowledged the presence of Guam Bar President Terlaje. 
 
VII. NEW BUSINESS 
 

A. ATTORNEY PAY PLAN ADJUSTMENT – ALIGN WITH DOA 
 
AD Gogue shared Resolution 03-24 regarding PDSC’s attorney pay to align with DOA’s 
24% increase. The adjustment is approximately 2 percent and will bring PDSC and APD 
attorneys to a total of 24 percent. ED Hattori stated that this will allow PDSC’s attorneys 
to match the pay with all other government agencies. Chief Justice Torres suggested that 
the resolve clause be amended to read a 24 percent pay adjustment to ensure there are no 
disparities between PDSC/APD attorneys and other government agency attorneys.  
 
Motion was made by Chief Justice Torres to amend the resolve clause of Resolution 
03-24 to update PDSC’s Attorney Pay Plan to yield a 24 percent adjustment for 
PDSC and APD attorneys that ensure there are no disparities with other Government 
of Guam attorneys. Seconded by Trustee Quiñata, and approved by acclamation.  
 
Motion to adopt Resolution 03-24 as amended was made by Trustee Terlaje and 
seconded by Trustee Quiñata. Approved by acclamation.  
 

B. EXECUTIVE PAY PLAN ADJUSTMENT 
 

This matter will be tabled to the next meeting.  
 

VIII.  PUBLIC DISCUSSION 
 

None.  
 
IX. ADJOURNMENT AND NEXT MEETING DATE 
 

With no further matters to discuss, motion was made by Presiding Judge Lamorena and 
seconded by Trustee Quinata to adjourn the meeting. Approved by acclamation.  

 
The next BOT meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, March 26, 2024 at 12:30 p.m. in the PDSC 
conference room via Zoom/YouTube.  
        Respectfully submitted,  

 
         /s/ 
        CATHY GOGUE  
        Board Secretary  

 Page 8 of 103 



 

 

Old  Business
Agenda Item VI-B  PDSC 

Executive Director
6th Amendment Center 

Report

 Page 9 of 103 



THE RIGHT TO 
COUNSEL ON 
GUAM 
Evaluation Of Trial-Level Indigent Defense 
Representation In Adult Criminal Cases

MARCH 2024

 Page 10 of 103 



iThe Right to Counsel on Guam

The Right to Counsel on Guam: Evaluation of Trial-Level Indigent Defense Representation in Adult Criminal 

Cases 

Copyright © 2024 by the Sixth Amendment Center. 

All rights reserved. 

Publication Number: 2024.001

SIXTH AMENDMENT CENTER 

PO Box 15556 

Boston, MA 02215 

www.6AC.org

Prepared by

The Sixth Amendment Center is a non-partisan, non-profit organization providing technical assistance and 

evaluation services to policymakers and criminal justice stakeholders. Its services focus on the constitutional 

requirement to provide effective assistance of counsel at all critical stages of a case to the indigent accused 

facing a potential loss of liberty in a criminal or delinquency proceeding. See Sixth Amendment Center, 

https://6AC.org. 

The Sixth Amendment Center acknowledges with gratitude those who contributed to the work of 

conducting the evaluation and writing this report:

Sixth Amendment Center staff: Nancy Bennett, Gabrielle Caron, David Carroll, Lacey Coppage, Aditi Goel, 

Rachael Liebert, Marquita Johnson, Phyllis Mann, Jon Mosher and Jiacheng Yu.

Sixth Amendment Center Law Student Network interns: Rohan Garg, Maya Madden, and Tori Staley

Prepared for 

The Guam Public Defender Service Corporation requested this evaluation. 

This report solely reflects the opinions of the authors and does not necessarily reflect the views of the Guam 

Public Defender Service Corporation.

 Page 11 of 103 



iiThe Right to Counsel on Guam

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Executive Summary
In 1963, the U.S. Supreme Court declared it an “obvious truth” in Gideon v. Wainwright that anyone accused 

of a crime who cannot afford the cost of a lawyer “cannot be assured a fair trial unless counsel is provided for 

him.” Gideon holds that the provision of the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel for the 

indigent accused is an obligation of the states under the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. 

The Organic Act of Guam requires that the Sixth Amendment and the Fourteenth Amendment due process 

clause apply on Guam and shall have the same force and effect there as in the United States. Therefore, the 

right to counsel is an obligation of Guam under the Organic Act.

The Guam legislature created the Public Defender Service Corporation (PDSC corporation) “to provide 

effective legal aid and assistance to those persons in Guam who are unable to afford counsel.” The PDSC 

corporation requested the Sixth Amendment Center (6AC) to conduct this evaluation. 

6AC is a non-partisan, non-profit organization providing technical assistance and evaluation services to 

policymakers and criminal justice stakeholders. 6AC evaluates indigent defense systems through four basic 

components: legal research and analysis; data collection and analysis; court observations; and criminal 

justice stakeholder interviews.

The first step in evaluating right to counsel services in any jurisdiction is to understand the broader criminal 

justice system within which the indigent defense system operates. Because the people of Guam did not 

have the freedom to govern themselves for most of the past 400 years, Guam’s history is important to 

understanding the development of its justice system. Chapter II through V explains that history and the 

broader criminal justice system. Chapters VI through IX contain our findings, and Chapter X contains our 

recommendations.

Guam’s justice system is relatively young, and its indigent defense system is even younger. As such, since 

its inception, the Judiciary of Guam has assumed the responsibility of overseeing the provision of the right 

to counsel on Guam. Members of the judiciary expressed the position that judicial oversight of indigent 

defense services was necessary in the earliest stages of growth to ensure its proper development and 

evolution. Nonetheless, Guam must ensure the independence of right to counsel services. 

The findings from our evaluation reflect, at root, an indigent defense system that lacks independence. The 

question for Guam’s policymakers is how best to provide effective assistance of counsel to indigent people, 

as required by the Sixth Amendment, under Guam’s unique circumstances. There is no uniform “cookie-

cutter” indigent defense services delivery model that jurisdictions must apply. Our recommendations 

suggest one way for restructuring Guam’s indigent defense system to achieve independence.

 Page 12 of 103 



iiiThe Right to Counsel on Guam

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

RECOMMENDATION 1: Guam should vest the authority to oversee all indigent legal services in an 

independent right to counsel commission. 

Guam should give an equal number of commission member appointments to the executive, legislative, and 

judicial branches of government, so that no single branch of government can usurp power over or exert 

outsized influence over the delivery of indigent defense services.

RECOMMENDATION 2: Guam should empower the right to counsel commission to promulgate and 

enforce standards applicable to all indigent defense system attorneys. 

The right to counsel commission must be statutorily required to promulgate and enforce binding 

standards applicable to all indigent defense system attorneys, including: attorney qualifications; attorney 

performance; attorney supervision; time sufficiency; continuity of services whereby the same attorney 

provides representation from appointment through disposition; client communications; data collection; and 

indigency determination.

RECOMMENDATION 3: Guam should empower the right to counsel commission to collect, analyze, and 

report on data needed to ensure effective representation.

The commission should collect and evaluate on an on-going basis all information necessary to ensure that 

a sufficient number of qualified attorneys are available to be appointed and that adequate resources are 

available to ensure effective assistance of counsel can be provided to each person who is entitled to public 

counsel under the Organic Act, the Sixth Amendment, and Guam law.

RECOMMENDATION 4: Guam should authorize and fund the right to counsel commission to create an 

office of indigent legal services to carry out the day-to-day duties of the commission. 

The commission should have statutory authority to select a senior attorney to serve as executive director of 

the office of indigent legal services. The executive director should be hired for a fixed term that is subject to 

renewal and should not be removed from office absent good cause shown through due process. 

 Page 13 of 103 



ivThe Right to Counsel on Guam

THE RIGHT TO COUNSEL  
ON GUAM

EVALUATION OF TRIAL-LEVEL INDIGENT DEFENSE 
REPRESENTATION IN ADULT CRIMINAL CASES

MARCH 2024

 Page 14 of 103 



vThe Right to Counsel on Guam

Table of Contents
Chapter I. Introduction ..................................................................................................................................2

A. The right to counsel on Guam ............................................................................................................................2

B. This evaluation .............................................................................................................................................................4

Chapter II. The courts & prosecution ........................................................................................................6

A. Brief history of Guam’s justice system ...........................................................................................................6

B. The judicial branch ....................................................................................................................................................7

1. Judicial Council ............................................................................................................................................................... 7

2. Supreme Court of Guam .........................................................................................................................................8

3. Superior Court of Guam .......................................................................................................................................... 9

C. Prosecution ................................................................................................................................................................... 11

Chapter III. Assessment criteria ............................................................................................................... 13

Chapter IV. Guam’s indigent defense system ..................................................................................... 17

A. Structure of the indigent defense system ................................................................................................. 18

1. Governmental employees ..................................................................................................................................... 18

2. Appointed private attorneys ...............................................................................................................................23

B. Funding of the indigent defense system................................................................................................... 25

Chapter V. Process of a criminal case ................................................................................................... 29

A. Arrest ...............................................................................................................................................................................30

B. Proceedings before a judicial officer ............................................................................................................ 31

1. Magistrate hearing .....................................................................................................................................................32

a. The right to counsel .......................................................................................................................................... 34

b. Pre-trial release or detention ......................................................................................................................39

c. Next steps ................................................................................................................................................................40

2. Preliminary examination (felonies only, pre-indictment) .............................................................40

3. Arraignment .................................................................................................................................................................40

Chapter VI. Providing counsel at critical stages ...............................................................................44

Chapter VII. Providing qualified, trained, and supervised attorneys ......................................... 51

Chapter VIII. Sufficient time & resources ............................................................................................60

Chapter IX. Independence & Oversight ................................................................................................ 66

Chapter X. Recommendations ................................................................................................................. 69

TABLE OF CONTENTS

 Page 15 of 103 



1The Right to Counsel on Guam

INTRODUCTION

CHAPTER I

Introduction

A. The right to counsel on Guam

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution states that in “all criminal prosecutions” the 

accused shall enjoy the right, among others, to “have the Assistance of Counsel for his defence.”1 In 1963, the 

U.S. Supreme Court declared it an “obvious truth” that anyone accused of a crime who cannot afford the 

cost of a lawyer “cannot be assured a fair trial unless counsel is provided for him.”2 The U.S. Supreme Court 

held in Gideon v. Wainwright that providing the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel 

for the indigent accused in state courts is an obligation of the states under the due process clause of the 

Fourteenth Amendment.3 

The Organic Act of Guam is the controlling law of Guam,4 established by and subject to amendment by the 

U.S. Congress.5 The Organic Act contains a “Bill of Rights” that provides: “In all criminal prosecutions the 

accused shall have the right . . . to have the assistance of counsel for his defense.”6 It also requires that the 

Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and the Fourteenth Amendment due process clause7 

apply on Guam and “shall have the same force and effect there as in the United States or in any State of the 

United States.”8 Therefore, the right to counsel is an obligation of Guam under the Organic Act.

Since Gideon v. Wainwright, the Sixth Amendment right to counsel means every person who is accused 

of a crime is entitled to have an attorney provided at government expense to defend them in all federal 

courts and the courts of Guam (just as in all state courts) whenever that person is facing the potential loss of 

liberty and is unable to afford an attorney.9 Moreover, the appointed lawyer needs to be more than merely a 

1   U.S. Const. amend. VI.

2   Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963).

3   Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 343-45 (1963).

4   48 U.S.C. §§ 1421 et seq. (2022). The Organic Act establishes the government of Guam as its three branches with those powers 
given to them by the Organic Act, and it places Guam “under the general administrative supervision of the [U.S.] Secretary of the Inte-
rior.” 48 U.S.C. § 1421a (2022)

5   Guam is not afforded a voting member of Congress. Instead, since 1972 Guam has a non-voting delegate to the U.S. House of 
Representatives. 48 U.S.C. § 1711 (2022).

6   48 U.S.C. § 1421b(g) (2022).

7   The Fourteenth Amendment’s second sentence of section 1 is commonly referred to as the “due process clause” and states: “No 
State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any 
State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal 
protection of the laws.” U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1.

8   48 U.S.C. § 1421b(u) (2022). 

9   Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963).

 Page 16 of 103 



2The Right to Counsel on Guam

INTRODUCTION

warm body with a bar card.10 The attorney must also be effective,11 subjecting the prosecution’s case to “the 

crucible of meaningful adversarial testing.”12 

The U.S. Supreme Court has expressly held that the Sixth Amendment requires the appointment of counsel 

for the indigent in felonies, jailable misdemeanors,13 misdemeanors with suspended sentences,14 direct 

appeals,15 and appeals challenging a sentence imposed following a guilty plea where the sentence was 

not agreed to in advance.16 Children in delinquency proceedings, no less than adults in criminal courts, are 

entitled to appointed counsel when facing the loss of liberty.17  

All crimes on Guam are either a felony, misdemeanor, or petty misdemeanor, and they all carry possible 

imprisonment as a sentence upon conviction.18 Guam guarantees by statute that: “In any criminal action, 

the defendant is entitled . . . [t]o defend in person and with counsel. Every defendant accused of a crime 

who is financially unable to employ counsel shall be entitled to have counsel assigned at public expense 

to represent him at every stage of the proceedings from his initial appearance before the court through 

appeal, unless he waives such appointment.”19 Guam’s court rules make clear that this guarantee applies to 

both adults and children.20

Under the Organic Act, I Liheslaturan Guåhan (the Guam legislature)21 is free to enact greater protections 

for its people than those required by federal law, so long as the laws enacted do not contravene the 

10   As the Court noted in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685 (1984), “[t]hat a person who happens to be a lawyer is present 
at trial alongside the accused, however, is not enough to satisfy the constitutional command.”

11   McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771 n.14 (“It has long been recognized that the right to counsel is the right to the effective 
assistance of counsel.”). To be effective, an attorney must be reasonably competent, providing to the particular defendant in the par-
ticular case the assistance demanded of attorneys in criminal cases under prevailing professional norms, such as those “reflected in 
American Bar Association standards and the like.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688-89 (1984),

12   United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 656 (1984).

13   Argersinger v. Hamlin, 407 U.S. 25 (1972). 

14   Alabama v. Shelton, 505 U.S. 654 (2002).

15   Douglas v. California, 372 U.S. 353 (1963).

16   Halbert v. Michigan, 545 U.S. 605 (2005).

17   In re Gault, 387 U.S. 1 (1967). 

18   9 Guam Code Ann. § 1.18(a) (2022). See 8 Guam Code Ann. § 5.50 (2022).
     A felony is an offense that carries a sentence of imprisonment in excess of one year. 9 Guam Code Ann. § 1.18(b) (2022). There are 
three degrees of felonies: a) first degree felony – sentence of not less than 5 years and not more than 20 years; b) second degree 
felony – sentence of not less than 3 years and not more than 10 years; and c) third degree felony – sentence of not more than 5 
years. There are lesser sentences of imprisonment available for first felony convictions and greater sentences including up to life 
imprisonment available in various aggravating circumstances. 9 Guam Code Ann. §§ 1.19, 80.30, 80.31, 80.32, 80.37, 80.37.1, 80.37.2, 
80.37.3 80.38, 80.42 (2022). 
     A misdemeanor is an offense that carries a maximum sentence of imprisonment of not more than one year, with a greater sen-
tence of up to three years imprisonment available in various aggravating circumstances. 9 Guam Code Ann. §§ 80.34, 80.36, 80.37.3, 
80.40, 80.42 (2022). See 9 Guam Code Ann. § 1.18(c), (d) (2022).
     A petty misdemeanor is an offense that carries a maximum sentence of imprisonment of not more than 60 days. 9 Guam Code 
Ann. § 80.34 (2022). See 9 Guam Code Ann. § 1.18(e) (2022).

19   8 Guam Code Ann. § 1.11 (2022). For the definition of and laws applicable to a “criminal action,”  see 7 Guam Code Ann. §§ 1106, 1112 
(2022); 8 Guam Code Ann. § 5.45 (2022).

20   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.1.(a).

21   Under Guam statutory law, “The legislature created by the Organic Act of Guam shall be known and designated as, ‘I 
Liheslaturan Guåhan.’ . . ..” 2 Guam Code Ann. § 1101 (2022).

 Page 17 of 103 



3The Right to Counsel on Guam

INTRODUCTION

Organic Act or other U.S. laws to which Guam is subject,22 and so long as the U.S. Congress does not annul 

them.23 Guam requires courts to appoint counsel in certain involuntary mental health proceedings and 

allows the courts to appoint counsel for those financially unable to obtain representation in certain other 

circumstances.24 

B. This evaluation

The Guam legislature created the Public Defender Service Corporation as a public corporation “to provide 

effective legal aid and assistance to those persons in Guam who are unable to afford counsel.”25 The Guam 

Public Defender Service Corporation requested this evaluation. 

The scope of this evaluation is limited to the provision of counsel in adult criminal cases in the Guam 

trial courts. However, throughout Guam the same indigent defense system must provide representation 

when appointed in all case-types for which Guam provides a right to counsel. As a result, many of the 

same indigent defense system lawyers appointed to represent adults in trial-level criminal cases are also 

appointed in criminal appellate cases, civil cases in the trial and the appellate court,  juvenile delinquency 

cases, and some other civil matters. For this reason, it is impossible to segregate the provision of services 

in adult criminal trial-level cases on Guam from the other services provided by Guam’s indigent defense 

system, as explained when necessary throughout this report.  

The Sixth Amendment Center (6AC) conducted this evaluation beginning in November 2022.  

Methodology. 6AC uses Sixth Amendment case law and national standards for right to counsel services as 

the uniform baseline measure for providing attorneys to indigent people, along with the requirements of 

local and federal laws. 6AC evaluates indigent defense systems through four basic components:

• Legal research and analysis. Every state and land that is part of or associated with the United States 

has its own substantive and procedural law through its constitution, statutes, rules, regulations, and 

case law. 6AC independently researches the relevant law of the jurisdiction and the courts operating 

within it and analyzes its internal interactions and its interactions with federal law and national 

standards, in order to understand and explain the workings of the indigent defense system being 

evaluated.

• Data collection and analysis. Information about how a jurisdiction provides right to counsel services 

22   48 U.S.C. § 1423a (2022). “States are free to provide greater protections in their criminal justice system than the Federal 
Constitution requires,” but they cannot provide less.  California v. Ramos, 463 U.S. 992, 1014 (1983). See, e.g., Oregon v. Hass, 420 U.S. 
714, 719 (1975); Cooper v. California, 386 U.S. 58, 62 (1967); O’Connor v. Johnson, 287 N.W.2d 400, 405 (Minn. 1979) (“The states may, as 
the United States Supreme Court has often recognized, afford their citizens greater protection than the safeguards guaranteed in the 
Federal Constitution. Indeed, the states are ‘independently responsible for safeguarding the rights of their citizens.’”); South Dakota v. 
Opperman, 247 N.W.2d 673, 674 (S.D. 1976) (“There can be no doubt that this court has the power to provide an individual with greater 
protection under the state constitution than does the United States Supreme Court under the federal constitution.”).

23   48 U.S.C. § 1423i (2022).

24   10 Guam Code Ann. § 82301 (2022); 19 Guam Code Ann. § 13308 (2022); Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.1.(b).

25   12 Guam Code Ann. § 11103 (2022).

 Page 18 of 103 



4The Right to Counsel on Guam

INTRODUCTION

exists in a variety of forms, from statistical information to policies and procedures. The Supreme Court 

and the Superior Court of Guam, the Judicial Council, the Public Defender Service Corporation, and 

many individuals provided information critical to this evaluation. 6AC obtained and analyzed extensive 

amounts of hard copy and electronic information from all of these sources.26 

• Court observations. Right to counsel services involve interactions among at least three critical 

processes: (1) the process a defendant experiences as their case advances from accusation through 

disposition; (2) the process the appointed attorney experiences while representing each person at the 

various stages of a case; and (3) the substantive laws and procedural rules that govern the justice system 

in which indigent representation is provided. 6AC remotely observed criminal proceedings, including 

magistrate hearings, arraignments, pretrial conferences, guilty pleas, status hearings, and probation 

violation hearings. In total, 6AC observed 167 proceedings in front of seven judges/magistrates over ten 

days during the spring and fall of 2023.

• Interviews. No individual component of the justice system operates in a vacuum. Rather, the policy 

decisions of one component necessarily affect another. Because of this, 6AC conducted interviews orally 

and in writing with a broad cross-section of stakeholders throughout the island, including 82 individual 

judges and magistrates, court clerks, former prosecutors, corrections and probation officials, staff and 

board of the Public Defender Service Corporation, and private attorneys appointed to represent indigent 

people. 

This report. The first step in evaluating right to counsel services in any jurisdiction is to understand the 

broader criminal justice system within which the indigent defense system operates. Chapters II through 

V provide this understanding. Chapter II describes Guam’s judicial system and the prosecution function. 

Chapter III explains the prevailing caselaw and standards used in the assessment of Guam’s indigent 

defense services. Chapter IV describes the structure and funding of Guam’s indigent defense system, and 

Chapter V explains the process of a criminal case throughout which the indigent defense system must 

effectively represent appointed clients. 

Chapters VI through IX contain our findings on: the presence of counsel at critical stages of a case (Chapter 

VI); qualified, trained, and supervised attorneys (Chapter VII); sufficient time and resources (Chapter VIII); 

and independence and the oversight of the defense function (Chapter IX).

Chapter X discusses the recommendations for overcoming the issues identified in the preceding chapters.

26   6AC acknowledges and appreciates the efforts made by Guam’s justice system stakeholders in providing requested 
information, particularly in light of the difficulties faced by the people of Guam during and after Typhoon Mawar.

 Page 19 of 103 



5The Right to Counsel on Guam

THE COURTS & PROSECUTION

CHAPTER II

The Courts & Prosecution
This chapter describes the judicial branch of Guam’s government, the courts, and the prosecution function. 

Because the people of Guam did not have the freedom to govern themselves for most of the past 400 

years,27 Guam’s history is important in understanding the development of its justice system.

A. Brief history of Guam’s justice system

Spain laid claim to Guam in the 1600s, leading to the Chamoru-Spanish War lasting from 1668 through 1695. 

Spain then governed the island until 1898, when Spain ceded Guam to the United States under the Treaty of 

Paris of 1898 at the close of the Spanish-American war, without input from the native inhabitants of Guam.28 

Therefore, Spanish law and courts operated on Guam for hundreds of years before the U.S. placed Guam 

under the control of the U.S. Navy.29

Beginning in 1910, the earliest Guam courts under U.S. naval authority were the Island Court, the Police 

Court, the Court of Equity, the Higher Court of Equity, and the Special Courts.30 These courts had jurisdiction 

over the trial-level civil and criminal cases arising under local Guam law, but it was unclear what court if any 

had appellate jurisdiction. A Court of Appeals was established by 1941 to hear appeals from all of the lower 

Guam courts.31 Then World War II threw everything into disarray.

Japan seized Guam on December 8, 1941.32 There was widespread forced labor, incarceration, torture, 

and massacre of the Chamorro under Japanese Occupation until July 21, 1944.33 After the United States 

recaptured the island in 1944, it returned the control of Guam to the U.S. Navy, and then transferred control 

to the U.S. Secretary of the Interior on July 1, 1950.34 

27   See 3 Guam Code Ann. § 21000 (2022) (“It is the intent of I Liheslaturan Guåhan to permit the native inhabitants of Guam, 
as defined by the U.S. Congress’ 1950 Organic Act of Guam to exercise the inalienable right to self-determination of their political 
relationship with the United States of America. I Liheslaturan Guåhan finds that the right has never been afforded the native 
inhabitants of Guam, its native inhabitants and land having themselves been overtaken by Spain, and then ceded by Spain to the 
United States of America during a time of war, without any consultation with the native inhabitants of Guam.”). The Chamorro people 
have inhabited the island of Guam for approximately 3500 years. Guam maintains a Chamorro Registry for all persons who are 
descendants of the people born on the island prior to 1800 or living there on April 11, 1899. 3 Guam Code Ann. §§ 18001, 18002, 18003, 
18010 (2022).

28   Treaty of Peace, U.S. – Spain, Dec. 10, 1898.

29   U.S. Exec. Order 108-A (Dec. 23, 1898).

30   Judiciary of Guam, Judicial History – Historical Review: “Justicia para todo,”  http://www.guamsupremecourt.com/
Judicial-History/Judiciary%20History.pdf. Many of the judges appointed to these courts were native Chamorro who had 
served as judges in the Spanish courts.

31   Judiciary of Guam, Judicial History – Historical Review: “Justicia para todo,”  http://www.guamsupremecourt.com/Judicial-
History/Judiciary%20History.pdf.

32   This was the same day that Pearl Harbor was bombed. The U.S. attributes the bombing of Pearl Harbor to having occurred 
on December 7, 1941, but it was already “tomorrow” in Guam, so Guam attributes the invasion of their island to having occurred on 
December 8, 1941.

33   July 21, 1944, is celebrated annually as the legal holiday of “Liberation Day. 1 Guam Code Ann. § 1011 (2022).

34   U.S. Exec. Order 1077 (Sept. 7, 1949).

 Page 20 of 103 



6The Right to Counsel on Guam

THE COURTS & PROSECUTION

The Organic Act of Guam was signed into law in August 1950 and created Guam’s government anew.35 

The First Guam Legislature convened the next year36 and abolished some of the existing local courts and 

reorganized others, resulting in three courts with trial-level jurisdiction over local law: the Island Court, the 

Police Court, and the Commissioner’s Court.37 

In 1974, the Guam legislature again reorganized the Guam courts into much the same form as they exist 

today, with a single superior court having all trial-level jurisdiction over local law and a single supreme court 

having jurisdiction over appeals from the superior court.38 It would be another thirty years though before 

the structure and powers of the local courts of Guam were solidified when the Organic Act of Guam was 

amended in October 2004.39

B. The judicial branch

The Organic Act of Guam mandates that the judicial branch of Guam is “a unified judicial system” that 

includes the Supreme Court of Guam and the Superior Court of Guam. The Guam legislature is authorized 

to establish additional lower local courts,40 although no other lower courts currently exist.41 Guam law has 

also created a judicial council with significant administrative authority over the courts and the system for 

providing the right to appointed counsel.42

1. Judicial Council

The judicial council was created by statute as a policy-making and administrative body for the judicial 

branch of Guam43 when the First Guam Legislature44 created the first Guam government under U.S. 

authority.45 The judicial council has five members,46 including all three supreme court justices (the chief 

35   Organic Act of Guam of 1950, Pub. L. No. 81-630, 64 Stat. 384.

36   2 Guam Code Ann. § 1117 (2022).

37   Judiciary Act of 1951, Guam Pub. L. 1-17. 

38   Court Reorganization Act of Jan. 16, 1974, Guam Pub. L. 12-85.

39   Act of Oct. 30, 2004, Pub. L. 108-378, 118 Stat. 2206 (amending the Organic Act of Guam to clarify the local judicial structure).

40   48 U.S.C. § 1424 (2022). The congressionally established District Court of Guam continues with jurisdiction over federal law, but 
its operations and proceedings are not the subject of this evaluation.

41   7 Guam Code Ann. § 3101 (2022). See 5 Guam Code Ann. § 3201 (2022).

42   7 Guam Code Ann. §§ 2101(a), 5101, 5102 (2022). 

43   7 Guam Code Ann. §§ 5101, 5102 (2022).

44   Under Guam statutory law, “The legislature created by the Organic Act of Guam shall be known and designated as, ‘I 
Liheslaturan Guåhan.’ . . ..” 2 Guam Code Ann. § 1101 (2022).

45   Judiciary Act of 1951, Guam Pub. L. 1-17. At that time, the judicial council served as a sort of collaborative body to improve the 
practice, procedure, and administration of and in the courts, and the members at that time were the judge of the District Court of 
Guam, the chief judge of the Island Court, the chairman of the legislature’s Committee on the Judiciary, the Attorney General of 
Guam, and the president of the Bar Association of Guam. Judiciary Act of 1951 §§ 121 - 124, Guam Pub. L. 1-17.

46   7 Guam Code Ann. § 5101(a), (c) (2022); Guam Judicial Council, Rules of Conduct and Operation arts. 1.02, 2 (adopted Nov. 20, 
2003, and signed Dec. 11, 2003). The chief justice designates judicial branch employees to serve as secretary and assistant secretary, 
attending meetings and recording the activity during meetings. Guam Judicial Council, Rules of Conduct and Operation art. 2.05 
(adopted Nov. 20, 2003, and signed Dec. 11, 2003).  

 Page 21 of 103 



7The Right to Counsel on Guam

THE COURTS & PROSECUTION

justice is the chairperson) and two superior court judges (the presiding judge and one other judge 

appointed by the presiding judge for a three-year term). At least three votes are necessary for action by the 

judicial council.47

The judicial council is responsible for, among other things:48

• making policies for the courts;

• making policies and rules for the operations of the courts (including personnel, procurement, facilities 

& property, travel, and finances);

• reviewing and approving the budget for the courts;

• determining the compensation of classified and unclassified employees in the judicial branch;

• adopting court filing fees and other court fees, and garnishing tax refunds for court-ordered 

obligations;

• establishing rules & regulations for claims brought by classified employees of the courts;

• overseeing claims of judicial misconduct.

The judicial council also appoints the administrator of the courts, who is responsible for the general 

supervision of all judicial branch employees other than the judges, judicial officers, and their immediate 

staff.49

2. Supreme Court of Guam

Despite the establishment of a supreme court in 1974, the current Supreme Court of Guam is a more recent 

development.50 

47   7 Guam Code Ann. § 5101(d) (2022). Despite the statutory requirement that three votes are necessary for action, the judicial 
council’s self-made rules allow for action by only two votes whenever there is a vacancy on the supreme court. Guam Judicial Council, 
Rules of Conduct and Operation art. 1.08 (adopted Nov. 20, 2003, and signed Dec. 11, 2003).

48   7 Guam Code Ann. § 5102 (2022); Guam Judicial Council, Rules of Conduct and Operation art. 4 (adopted Nov. 20, 2003, and 
signed Dec. 11, 2003).

49   7 Guam Code Ann. § 7103(c) (2022).

50   The U.S. Supreme Court decided in Guam v. Olsen that the Guam legislature lacked authority under the Organic Act to 
“transfer” any appellate jurisdiction from the District Court of Guam, including for appeals from the local Guam trial courts, and that 
only the U.S. Congress had that power. Guam v. Olsen, 431 U.S. 195 (1977). This abolished the Guam Supreme Court.
    In 1984, the U.S. Congress amended the Organic Act to expressly allow the Guam legislature to establish an appellate court and 
give it jurisdiction to hear appeals from the local Guam courts.  Act of Oct. 5, 1984, §§ 801 - 803, Pub. L. 98-454, 98 Stat. 1732 (among 
other things, amending sections 22 and 24 of the Organic Act of Guam). This left the Guam legislature with the power to establish 
(and to control the powers of or subsequently abolish altogether) Guam’s highest local court. 
     Through a bill passed January 14, 1993, the Guam legislature again restructured its judicial branch and established the Supreme 
Court of Guam as “the highest court of Guam” with jurisdiction over appeals from the superior court. Frank G. Lujan Memorial Court 
Reorganization Act of 1992, Guam Pub. L. 21-147 (Jan. 14, 1993). The justices of the supreme court were sworn into office in March 1996. 
See Guam Judicial Council Resolution No. JC04-008, Relative to Supporting an Amendment to the Organic Act of Guam to Clarify 
the Local Judicial Structure of Guam (adopted Apr. 30, 2004 and signed May 6, 2004). Two things stood in the way of the supreme 
court coming fully into its operations and authority: a) Before the supreme court could begin exercising its appellate jurisdiction, it 
would have to certify that it was “fully ready to accept the jurisdiction conferred upon it;” and, b) the Guam governor, legislature, and 
courts did not always fully agree about what it meant to be “the highest court of Guam,” particularly in the exercise of administrative 
authority over the judicial branch of government.
     Almost immediately, the Guam legislature amended the law in April 1996, altering the respective administrative authority of the 
supreme court and of the judicial council and changing the composition of the judicial council. See, e.g., Act of Apr. 19, 1996, Guam 
Pub. L. 23-86 (relating to the composition, duties, and powers of the judicial council).
     Following a somewhat difficult decade among the three branches of Guam’s government, after overriding a gubernatorial 
veto, on October 31, 2003, the legislature again reorganized the judicial branch “as the third co-equal and independent branch of 

 Page 22 of 103 



8The Right to Counsel on Guam

THE COURTS & PROSECUTION

The Supreme Court of Guam is the island’s highest court.51 It has jurisdiction over all appeals arising out 

of the lower courts of Guam.52 The supreme court has supervisory jurisdiction over all local Guam courts 

and is responsible for governing the administration, practice, and procedures in all Guam courts, as well as 

governing the practice of law on Guam.53 Guam statutes provide that the supreme court has “supervisory, 

but not administrative authority” over all other local courts, which must be exercised “in accordance with 

rules and regulations promulgated by” the judicial council,54 and the supreme court is required to enact 

certain types of rules for the operations of the superior court.55

The supreme court has three full-time justices, who are each appointed by I Magaˈlåhen Guåhan (the 

governor)56 with advice and consent of the legislature to an initial 10-year term and then stand for additional 

terms through retention elections.57 The three justices choose one among themselves to serve as chief 

justice for three years, with the position rotating every three years.58

3. Superior Court of Guam

The superior court is the only trial court of Guam.59 It has all jurisdiction over Guam law that is not given 

to the supreme court.60 While there is only one superior court, it operates several specialized divisions,61 in 

addition to exercising its general trial-level jurisdiction. 

government.” Act of Oct. 31, 2003, Guam Pub. L. 27-31 (relative to the judiciary and its operations). On the one hand, the bill stated 
the intent “to recognize and empower the Supreme Court of Guam as the highest Court of Guam with oversight over the Judicial 
Branch.” Act of Oct. 31, 2003, § 2, Guam Pub. L. 27-31 (relative to the judiciary and its operations). On the other hand, the bill stated that 
“[w]ith the passage of this Act, the Judicial Council of Guam shall serve as head of the Judicial Branch of government for Guam.” Act 
of Oct. 31, 2003, § 1, Guam Pub. L. 27-31 (relative to the judiciary and its operations).
     Guam’s delegate to the U.S. Congress, with support of Guam policymakers, repeatedly asked Congress to amend the Organic 
Act to clarify the local judicial structure of Guam. See Guam Judicial Council Resolution No. JC04-008, Relative to Supporting an 
Amendment to the Organic Act of Guam to Clarify the Local Judicial Structure of Guam (adopted Apr. 30, 2004, and signed May 
6, 2004). On October 30, 2004, the U.S. Congress amended the Organic Act of Guam to declare the structure and jurisdiction of 
the local courts of Guam. Act of Oct. 30, 2004, Pub. L. 108-378, 118 Stat. 2206 (amending the Organic Act of Guam to clarify the local 
judicial structure). Going forward, the existence, jurisdiction, and powers of the Supreme Court of Guam could no longer be altered by 
the Guam legislative and executive branches of government.

51   48 U.S.C. § 1424-1 (2022); 7 Guam Code Ann. §§ 1101.1, 2101(a), 3102 (2022).

52   48 U.S.C. § 1424-1 (2022); 7 Guam Code Ann. §§ 3107, 3108 (2022).

53   48 U.S.C. § 1424-1 (2022); 7 Guam Code Ann. § 3107 (2022).

54   7 Guam Code Ann. §§ 2101(a), 3107 (2022).

55   7 Guam Code Ann. § 4101 (2022).

56   Under Guam statutory law, “The Governor of Guam, created by the Organic Act of Guam, shall be known, and designated as, ‘I 
Magaˈlåhen Guåhan.’ . . ..” 5 Guam Code Ann. § 1510 (2022). 

57   7 Guam Code Ann. §§ 3103(a), 3109(a), 6101 (2022). All justices must be a U.S. citizen, a resident of Guam for at least five years, 
and in the active practice of law for at least 10 years.  7 Guam Code Ann. § 3109(c) (2022). Justices may not practice law privately while 
holding office nor be in partnership with a practicing attorney. 7 Guam Code Ann. § 3109(d), 6110 (2022).

58   7 Guam Code Ann. § 3103(a), (i), (j) (2022).

59   48 U.S.C. § 1424 (2022); 7 Guam Code Ann. § 2101 (2022).

60   48 U.S.C. § 1424-1(d) (2022); 7 Guam Code Ann. § 3105, 4101(b) (2022).

61   7 Guam Code Ann. § 2101 (2022). The specific jurisdiction of each of these individual divisions of the superior court is established 
by statute, and the superior court has appellate jurisdiction over certain cases heard at the trial level in its traffic division and its small 
claims division. 7 Guam Code Ann. § 4102 (2022). The supreme court is expressly authorized to create other divisions of the superior 
court. 7 Guam Code Ann. § 2101(a) (2022).

 Page 23 of 103 



9The Right to Counsel on Guam

THE COURTS & PROSECUTION

There are eight full-time judges in the superior court,62 who are each appointed by the governor with advice 

and consent of the legislature to an initial seven-year term and then stand for additional terms through 

retention elections.63 At some future time, the judges will elect one among themselves to serve as presiding 

judge for three years, with the position rotating every three years. However, the current presiding judge 

has held that position since July 1988, and will continue to do so for so long as he is retained as a superior 

court judge every seven years and remains in office.64 In addition to judges, other judicial officers can be 

appointed to serve the superior court.65 There are two magistrate judges,66 one family court referee,67 and 

one administrative hearing officer. 

62   From 1993 to 2023, the superior court had seven judges, in accordance with statutory law. 7 Guam Code Ann. § 4101(a) (2022). It 
is up to the judicial council to decide when more judges are needed for the superior court and then request the governor to appoint 
the additional number necessary. 7 Guam Code Ann. § 4101(b) (2022). Likewise, a vacant judgeship can remain vacant for so long as 
the judicial council determines it is not necessary to fill it. 7 Guam Code Ann. § 4101(c) (2022).
     The eighth superior court judge was added on March 1, 2023, seven years after the judicial council, through the chief justice, first 
and then repeatedly requested the governor to appoint an additional judge to the court. Guam Judicial Council Resolution No. JC16-
006, Relative to the Need to Appoint an Eighth Judge to the Superior Court of Guam (adopted Apr. 7, 2016 and signed May 3, 2016) 
(noting the last superior court judgeship was created in 1993); Guam Judicial Council Resolution No. JC18-002, Relative to Affirming 
the Continuing Need to Appoint an Eighth Judge for the Superior Court of Guam (adopted Jan. 11, 2018 and Jan. 17, 2018); Guam 
Judicial Council Resolution No. JC19-004, Relative to Affirming the Continuing Need to Appoint an Eighth Judge for the Superior 
Court of Guam (adopted Feb. 21, 2019 and Mar. 7, 2019).

63   7 Guam Code Ann. §§ 3103(a), 3109(a), 4101(a), 6101(b) (2022). All judges must be a U.S. citizen, a resident of Guam for at least 
five years, and in the active practice of law for at least seven years. 7 Guam Code Ann. § 3109(c) (2022). Judges may not practice law 
privately while holding office nor be in partnership be a practicing attorney. 7 Guam Code Ann. § 3109(d), 6110 (2022).

64   7 Guam Code Ann. § 4101(a) (2022).

65   7 Guam Code Ann. § 4401 (2022) (magistrates). 7 Guam Code Ann. §§ 7119, 7119.1 (2022); 19 Guam Code Ann. § 5113 (2022) (referees).

66   A magistrate must meet the qualifications required for a judge (be a U.S. citizen, a resident of Guam for at least five years, 
and in the active practice of law for at least seven years, 7 Guam Code Ann. § 3109(c) (2022); and may not practice law privately while 
holding office nor be in partnership be a practicing attorney, 7 Guam Code Ann. § 3109(d), 6110 (2022)), and be at least 30 years old, 
never convicted of a felony or a misdemeanor involving moral turpitude, and not related to a judge or justice at the time of initial 
appointment. Magistrates are appointed to a four-year term (removable for cause) by the chief justice with the approval of the 
governor, from a list of three candidates submitted by the Guam Bar Association. Magistrates cannot be paid more than 90% of the 
salary paid to judges. 7 Guam Code Ann. § 4401 (2022).

67   A referee must be a licensed Guam attorney. Referees are approved by the judicial council on nomination of the chief justice, 
and the judicial council establishes their duties and compensation. 7 Guam Code Ann. §§ 7119, 7119.1 (2022); 19 Guam Code Ann. § 5113 
(2022).

 Page 24 of 103 



10The Right to Counsel on Guam

THE COURTS & PROSECUTION

C. Prosecution

The attorney general, elected island-wide to a four-year term, is the chief legal officer of the government 

of Guam and the head of the Office of the Attorney General.68 The attorney general establishes the budget 

for the office, administers any federal funding and programs, approves its expenditure of funds, and selects 

the personnel employed by it.69 The attorney general is responsible for the prosecution of all offenses (both 

crimes and violations) against the laws of Guam.70 The attorney general also, among other things, represents 

the government of Guam in all civil actions, is legal counsel for the mayors’ council, and defends officers and 

employees of the government against damages for performance of official acts.71

68   48 U.S.C. § 1421g(d) (2022); 5 Guam Code Ann. §§ 3102, 30101(a) (2022). The attorney general must be at least 30 years old, a U.S. 
citizen and resident of Guam, a licensed Guam attorney for at least five years, and never convicted of a felony or suspended from the 
practice of law for a violation of ethical rules. 5 Guam Code Ann. § 30101(b) (2022). While in office, the attorney general cannot defend 
or assist in the defense of any criminal action. 5 Guam Code Ann. § 30112 (2022).

69   5 Guam Code Ann. §§ 30106, 30109(h), (i), (j), (k), 30121.1, 30121.2 (2022).

70   5 Guam Code Ann. §§ 30104, 30109(a) (2022).

71   5 Guam Code Ann. §§ 30102, 30108,  30109(c), 30117 (2022).

Courthouses

There are two Guam courthouses. The supreme court and the superior court both hold sessions at 
the main courthouse in Hagåtña, known as the Guam Judicial Center. All of the superior court judges 
and judicial officers except for one magistrate sit only at the Hagåtña courthouse. The Northern Court 
Satellite opened in Dededo in 2014. The only cases heard there are civil, traffic, debt, and magistrate 
hearings/first appearances. Only one of the two magistrates conducts proceedings at the satellite 
courthouse, while all other judges and judicial officers only preside at the main 
courthouse in Hagåtña. 

Public Defender 
Service Corporation (PDSC)

Superior Court (Satellite Courthouse)

Civic Law Center 
& Alternate Public 

Defender (APD)

Hagåtña 
Detention

Facility

Superior Court 
& Supreme Court 

of Guam

TAMUNING

DEDEDO

BARRIGADA

MANGILAO

HAGÅTÑA

Mangilao Detention Facility

MONGMONG
-TOTO-MAITE

SINAJANA

 

GUAM

YIGO

DEDEDO

YONA

BARRIGADA

ASAN

PITI

TAMUNING

M
ANGILAO

CHALAN 

PAGO-ORDOT

HÅGAT

HUM
ÅTAK INALÅHAN

MALESSO'

SÅNTA 
RITA-SUMAI 

TALO'FO'FO 

MONGMONG
-TOTO-MAITE

HAGÅTÑA

AGANA HEIGHTS

SINAJANA

 Page 25 of 103 



11The Right to Counsel on Guam

THE COURTS & PROSECUTION

Funding for the office is primarily through an annual legislative appropriation.72 The Department of 

Administration must distribute to the office no less than 1/12 of the appropriated budget each month, which 

is deposited to the “Office of the Attorney General Operations Fund.”73 

Beginning in January 2023, the attorney general’s office is divided into six divisions.74 Each division has a car, 

mostly used by investigators but sometimes by attorneys. The attorney general’s office has various support 

staff, such as victim advocates, investigators, a process officers unit (to do court runs, obtain documents, 

serve notices to appear, and subpoena witnesses), accountants, project coordinators (to assist in federal 

grants), paralegals, secretaries, legal clerks, office clerks, and receptionists.

All attorneys employed by the office are prohibited from the practice of law outside of their employment 

(subject to minor exceptions).75 Attorneys who serve as prosecutors are entitled to “special pay” of an 

additional 15% beyond their regular wage rate,76 so prosecuting attorneys are paid 15% more than the 

attorneys employed by the Public Defender Service Corporation. 

In 2023, the attorney general’s office experienced an attorney shortage, and as a result attorneys within the 

office who do not have criminal law experience are being required to prosecute. In addition, to make up for 

the shortage of attorneys, the attorney general’s office reportedly is contracting with private attorneys to 

serve as part-time prosecutors in criminal cases, which appears to contravene the statutory requirement 

that attorney general’s office attorneys may not practice law outside of the attorney general’s office.77

72   5 Guam Code Ann. § 30118 (2022).

73   5 Guam Code Ann. § 30118.1 (2022). General appropriation funds that are unspent at the end of the fiscal year, referred to as 
“lapsed funds,” are retained by the office.

74   The divisions are: a) administrative: responsible for office functions and budgets; b) general crimes: prosecutes adult criminal 
and juvenile delinquency cases; c) consumer protection: prosecutes matters of consumer fraud and handles matters of restitution at 
the close of a criminal case; d) victims services: supports victims by providing information about cases in which they are victims (e.g., 
when the defendant in the case is getting released from jail) and informing victims of their rights; e) civil: defends the government 
against lawsuits filed against the government and provides legal advice and representation to the government; and, f) child support: 
assists parents with obtaining child support payments and court orders for financial support.
     Under the previous attorney general’s administration, there were separate divisions for family (which included juvenile delinquency 
and mental health matters) and prosecution, which are now merged into the general crimes division. There were also separate 
divisions for civil litigation and civil solicitor, which are now merged into the civil division.

75   5 Guam Code Ann. § 30113 (2022).

76   5 Guam Code Ann. § 30104.1 (2022).

77   5 Guam Code Ann. § 30113 (2022).

 Page 26 of 103 



12The Right to Counsel on Guam

ASSESSMENT CRITERIA

CHAPTER III

Assessment Criteria
The Sixth Amendment Center independently and objectively evaluates indigent defense systems using 

U.S. Supreme Court caselaw and national standards for right to counsel services as the uniform baseline 

measurements for providing attorneys to indigent defendants.78  The use of standards as a basis for 

evaluation of government services is familiar to most governmental officials. After all, for many decades 

policymakers have ordered minimum safety standards in all proposals to build a new courthouse, provide a 

fleet of city buses, or construct a new state highway overpass. Our Constitution demands that the threat of 

taking an individual’s liberty is given at least the same level of concern and care. 

The criteria used to assess the effectiveness of indigent defense systems and the attorneys who work within 

them come primarily from two U.S. Supreme Court cases that were decided on the same day and which 

taken together describe the tests used to determine the constitutional effectiveness of right to counsel 

services: United States v. Cronic79 and Strickland v. Washington.80 

Strickland is applied after a criminal case is final to determine retrospectively whether the lawyer provided 

ineffective assistance of counsel, applying a two-pronged test of whether the appointed lawyer’s actions 

were unreasonable and prejudiced the outcome of the case. Cronic is applied at the outset of a criminal 

case and explains that, if certain factors in an indigent defense system are present (or necessary factors are 

absent), then a court should presume that ineffective assistance of counsel will occur.

The U.S. Supreme Court explains in Cronic that a deficient indigent defense can cause any lawyer – even the 

best lawyer – to perform in a non-adversarial way. The Court calls this a “constructive” denial of counsel.81 The 

overarching principle in Cronic is that the process must be a “fair trial” in which the defense function must 

put the prosecution’s case to the “crucible of meaningful adversarial testing.”82 If a defense attorney is either 

incapable of challenging the state’s case or barred from doing so because of a structural impediment, a 

constructive denial of counsel has occurred. 

78   This, along with the requirements of other Sixth Amendment case law and other relevant federal and local laws.

79   466 U.S. 648 (1984).

80   466 U.S. 668 (1984).

81   Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 683 (1984) (“The Court has considered Sixth Amendment claims based on actual or 
constructive denial of the assistance of counsel altogether, as well as claims based on state interference with the ability of counsel to 
render effective assistance to the accused.”) (citing United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648 (1984)).

82   United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 656-57 (1984) (“The right to the effective assistance of counsel is thus the right of the 
accused to require the prosecution’s case to survive the crucible of meaningful adversarial testing. When a true adversarial criminal 
trial has been conducted – even if defense counsel may have made demonstrable errors – the kind of testing envisioned by the Sixth 
Amendment has occurred. But if the process loses its character as a confrontation between adversaries, the constitutional guarantee 
is violated.”).

 Page 27 of 103 



13The Right to Counsel on Guam

ASSESSMENT CRITERIA

Cronic explains that the requirement of a fair fight does not necessitate one-for-one parity between the 

prosecution and the defense. Rather, the adversarial process requires states to ensure that both functions 

have the resources they need at the level their respective roles demand. As the Court notes: “While a 

criminal trial is not a game in which the participants are expected to enter the ring with a near match in 

skills, neither is it a sacrifice of unarmed prisoners to gladiators.”83

U.S. Department of Justice application of assessment criteria. The United States Department of Justice 

(DOJ) urges this application of Cronic. 

In September 2014, the DOJ filed a Statement of Interest in a class action lawsuit, Hurrell-Harring v. New 

York,84 brought by the New York Civil Liberties Union alleging a systemic denial of counsel in five upstate 

New York counties.85 The Statement of Interest provides DOJ’s expertise to the court on what constitutes a 

“constructive” denial of counsel under the Sixth Amendment. The DOJ statement establishes that a court 

does not have to wait for a case to be disposed of and then try to unravel retrospectively whether a specific 

defendant’s representation met the aims of Gideon and its progeny. If it is shown at the outset of a case 

that state or local governments create structural impediments that make the appointment of counsel 

“superficial” to the point of “non-representation,” a court can presume prospectively that the representation 

is ineffective. 

Structural impediments enunciated in the DOJ Statement of Interest include (but most assuredly are not 

limited to): “a severe lack of resources,” “unreasonably high caseloads,” “critical understaffing of public 

defender offices,” and/or anything else making the “traditional markers of representation” go unmet 

(i.e., “timely and confidential consultation with clients,” “appropriate investigations,” and adversarial 

representation, among others).86

83   United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 657 (1984) (quoting United States ex rel. Williams v. Twomey, 510 F.2d 634, 640 (7th Cir. 
1975)).

84   Statement of Interest of the United States, Hurrell-Harring v. New York, No. 8866-07 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. filed Sept. 1, 2014), available at 
https://www.clearinghouse.net/chDocs/public/PD-NY-0002-0010.pdf.

85   In March 2015, the case settled on the eve of trial with the State of New York agreeing to pay 100% of all indigent defense costs 
in the counties that were named defendants. Stipulation and Order of Settlement, Hurrell-Harring v. New York, No. 8866-07 (N.Y. Sup. 
Ct. filed Oct. 21, 2014). The state agreed to pay $5.5 million in attorneys’ fees and costs to the NYCLU and the law firm representing 
the plaintiffs. The lawsuit settlement has sparked greater advocacy for the state to pick up 100% of all indigent defense costs in the 
remaining upstate counties.

86   A trial court denied a motion to dismiss the lawsuit, but an intermediate court granted the dismissal. In 2010, the New York 
Court of Appeals reinstated the lawsuit. (Hurrell-Harring v. New York, 930 N.E.2d 217 (N.Y. 2010). The court found that the complaint 
alleged claims of both outright denial of the right to counsel and constructive denial of counsel where attorneys were appointed in 
name only but were unavailable to assist their clients, thus “stat[ing] cognizable Sixth Amendment claims.” “These allegations state a 
claim, not for ineffective assistance under Strickland, but for basic denial of the right to counsel under Gideon.”
    Quoting Strickland, the Court went on to note that “’[i]n certain Sixth Amendment contexts, prejudice is presumed. Actual or 
constructive denial of the assistance of counsel altogether is legally presumed to result in prejudice.’” The Court held that the 
allegations contained in the class action lawsuit “state claims falling precisely within this described category. . . .  Given the simplicity 
and autonomy of a claim for non-representation, as opposed to one truly involving the adequacy of an attorney’s performance, there 
is no reason . . . why such a claim cannot or should not be brought without the context of a completed prosecution.” Further, the court 
observed: “the right that plaintiffs would enforce – that of a poor person accused of a crime to have counsel provided for his or her 
defense – is the very same right that Gideon has already commanded the States to honor as a matter of fundamental constitutional 
necessity.  There is no argument that what was justiciable in Gideon is now beyond the power of a court to decide.” Hurrell-Harring, 
930 N.E.2d at 227.
     After seven years of litigation, the lawsuit settled by agreement in October 2014 and was approved by the trial court on 
March 11, 2015 (Stipulation and Order of Settlement, Hurrell-Harring v. New York, 930 N.E.2d 217 (N.Y. Ct. App. 2010) (No 8866-
07)). Under the settlement, the state was required to: (1) pay 100% of the cost in the five named counties: (2) ensure that all 

 Page 28 of 103 



14The Right to Counsel on Guam

ASSESSMENT CRITERIA

In another Statement of Interest, filed in August 2013 in Wilbur v. City of Mount Vernon,87 the DOJ comments 

specifically on the issue of indigent defense attorneys having sufficient time to provide adequate 

representation. At the heart of the Wilbur case was the issue of how excessive appointed caseloads of 

indigent defense attorneys resulted in deficient representation under the Sixth Amendment to the U.S. 

Constitution.88 At the time the original complaint was filed in 2011, the cities of Mt. Vernon and Burlington, 

Washington, jointly contracted with two private attorneys to represent indigent defendants in their 

municipal courts in exchange for a flat annual fee out of which they had to provide all “investigative, 

paralegal, and clerical services” without any additional compensation. In other words, the more work and 

non-attorney support they dedicated to their clients’ cases, the less each attorney took home in pay. Each 

private attorney handled between 950 and 1,150 appointed cases each year, in addition to maintaining 

a healthy private practice on the side. With such heavy caseloads, the private attorneys were alleged to 

“regularly fail to return calls” or “meet with” or “interview” their clients and “rarely, if ever, investigate the 

charges made against” their clients. The cities’ failure to adequately “monitor and oversee” the system the 

attorneys operated in amounted to a “construct[ive] denial of the right to counsel” as guaranteed under 

Gideon.89

The DOJ has twice filed amicus briefs furthering their position on constructive denial of counsel. In 

September 2015, the DOJ filed an amicus brief in Kuren v. Luzerne County in the Pennsylvania Supreme 

Court.90 The Kuren class action lawsuit alleged that the county so poorly funded right to counsel services 

as to constructively deny counsel to the indigent accused. The DOJ amicus brief makes clear that a civil 

constructive denial of counsel claim is an “effective way for litigants to seek to effectuate the promise of 

Gideon,” and “[p]ost-conviction claims cannot provide systemic structural relief that will help fix the problem 

of under-funded and under-resourced public defenders.”91 

indigent defendants are represented by counsel at their arraignment; (3) establish and implement caseload standards for 
all attorneys; and (4) assure the availability of adequate support services and resources.

87   Statement of Interest of the United States, Wilbur v. City of Mount Vernon, No. C11-1100RSL (W.D. Wash., filed Aug. 14, 2013), 
available at http://www.justice.gov/crt/about/spl/documents/wilbursoi8-14-13.pdf.

88   “The notes of freedom and liberty that emerged from Gideon’s trumpet a half a century ago cannot survive if that trumpet is 
muted and dented by harsh fiscal measures that reduce the promise to a hollow shell of a hallowed right.” Wilbur v. City of Mount 
Vernon, 989 F. Supp. 2d 1122 (W.D. Wash. 2013). Thus concluded U.S. District Judge Robert Lasnik in the court’s decision granting 
injunctive relief against the Washington cities of Mount Vernon and Burlington for “regularly and systematically” providing deficient 
right to counsel services to the indigent accused. Announcing that “adversarial testing of the government’s case” was so infrequent 
as to be a “non-factor in the functioning of the Cities’ criminal justice system,” the court found the appointment of counsel in 
Mount Vernon and Burlington to be “little more than a formality,” resulting in plea bargains having almost nothing to do with the 
individualized nature of each case. Importantly, the court found the cities culpable because this lack of adversarial testing of the 
prosecution’s cases was “natural, foreseeable, and expected,” given the deficient structure of indigent defense services.

89   Pointing to the ABA Ten Principles of a Public Defense Delivery System, the DOJ urged the court to consider that every 
jurisdiction should have caseload controls, but that: 

caseload limits alone cannot keep public defenders from being overworked into ineffectiveness; two additional protections 
are required. First, a public defender must have the authority to decline appointments over the caseload limit. Second, 
caseload limits are no replacement of a careful analysis of a public defender’s workload, a concept that takes into account 
all of the factors affecting a public defender’s ability to adequately represent clients, such as the complexity of cases on a 
defender’s docket, the defender’s skill and experience, the support services available to the defender, and the defender’s 
other duties. 

Statement of Interest of the United States at 9, Wilbur v. City of Mount Vernon, No. C11-1100RSL (W.D. Wash., filed Aug. 14, 2013).

90   Brief for the United States as Amicus Curiae in Support of Appellants, Kuren v. Luzerne County, Nos. 57 MAP 2015 (Pa., filed Sept. 
10, 2015), available at https://www.justice.gov/opa/file/769806/download.

91   In 2016, Pennsylvania’s high court ruled that indigent defendants have the right to prospectively challenge “systemic violations 

 Page 29 of 103 



15The Right to Counsel on Guam

ASSESSMENT CRITERIA

Most recently, in May 2016, DOJ filed an amicus brief in the Supreme Court of Idaho in Tucker v. Idaho,92 

in which the American Civil Liberties Union of Idaho alleged systemic denial of counsel for the indigent 

accused. As in Hurrell-Harring, the DOJ states in Tucker that a “constructive denial of counsel violating 

Gideon occurs where the traditional markers of representation are frequently absent or significantly 

compromised as a result of systemic, structural limitations.”93

of the right to counsel due to underfunding, and to seek and obtain an injunction forcing a county to provide adequate funding to 
a public defender’s office,” at the outset of a case before having to suffer from denial of counsel. (Kuren v. Luzerne County, 146 A.3d 
715, at 718.) The court said it was “obvious” that “the mere existence of a public defender’s office and the assignment of attorneys by 
that office” was not sufficient to satisfy the right to counsel, because “[i]t is the defense itself, not the lawyers as such, that animates 
Gideon’s mandate.” Kuren v. Luzerne County, 146 A.3d 715, at 735.) If the appointed lawyers cannot provide a defense, “the promise of 
the Sixth Amendment is broken.” The court observed that “Strickland does not limit claims asserting Sixth Amendment violations 
to the post-conviction context,” and it found that the Strickland test of ineffective assistance of counsel should be used by courts in 
evaluating post-conviction claims, but that “[a]pplying the Strickland test to the category of claims at bar would be illogical.” (Kuren v. 
Luzerne County, 146 A.3d 715, at 746).

92   Brief for the United States as Amicus Curiae Supporting Plaintiffs-Appellants, Tucker v. Idaho, No. 43922-2016 (Idaho, filed May 11, 
2016), available at https://www.justice.gov/crt/file/851311/download.

93   On April 28, 2017, the Supreme Court of Idaho found that indigent defendants “suffered ascertainable injuries by being actually 
and constructively denied counsel at critical stages of the prosecution, which they allege are the result of deficiencies in Idaho’s 
public defense system.” (Tucker v. Idaho, No. 43922 at 18.) The alleged injuries are “fairly traceable” to the state and the public defense 
commission, since the state “has ultimate responsibility to ensure that the public defense system passes constitutional muster.”( 
Tucker v. Idaho, No. 43922 at 9.) Importantly, the court explained that the two-pronged ineffective assistance of counsel test of 
Strickland “is inapplicable when systemic deficiencies in the provision of public defense are at issue. The issues raised in this case do 
not implicate Strickland.” (Tucker v. Idaho, No. 43922. at 7.) Instead, the court held the appropriate standard is that of United States v. 
Cronic: “[a] criminal defendant who is entitled to counsel but goes unrepresented at a critical stage of prosecution suffers an actual 
denial of counsel and is entitled to a presumption of prejudice.” Tucker v. Idaho, No. 43922, at 7).
     The DOJ has also made clear that its Cronic analysis applies equally to juvenile delinquency proceedings, through its Statement 
of Interest in N.P. v. Georgia, filed March 13, 2015. Statement of Interest of the United States, N.P. v. Georgia, No. 2014-CV-241025 
(Ga. Super. Ct. filed Mar. 13, 2015). In that case, the Southern Center for Human Rights filed the class action lawsuit alleging that 
children were regularly denied their right to counsel and instead treated to “assembly-line justice” in the Cordele Judicial Circuit. The 
lawsuit alleged that children regularly appeared in court without lawyers, and those who did receive representation were assigned 
lawyers who did not have time to talk with them before court. The suit claimed that the Cordele Circuit Public Defender Office 
was structurally unable to provide meaningful representation due to chronic underfunding and understaffing. The DOJ statement 
provides the trial court with a Cronic framework to evaluate the claims.
     A month after the DOJ filed its statement of interest, on April 20, 2015, the defendants in the class action lawsuit – the Georgia 
Public Defender Standards Council, the Cordele Circuit Public Defender, and the four counties in the circuit – agreed to settle the 
matter. Consent Decree, N.P. v. Georgia, No. 2014-CV-241025 (Ga. Super. Ct. filed Apr. 20, 2015). The approved consent decree seeks to 
address a number of structural flaws. Specifically, it will: increase the size of the public defender’s office staff; require public defenders 
to meet with clients (a) within three days of their detainment to determine indigency, and (b) within three days of assignment to 
their case; and require defenders to receive training, including specific training for juvenile defenders. The consent decree requires 
public defenders to advise juvenile defendants who seek to waive their right to counsel about what a lawyer could do for them and 
also requires the public defender office to comply with the terms of the Georgia Indigent Defense Act of 2003 including by creating a 
specialized juvenile division.
     Finally, the DOJ has taken action to enforce the four main principles enumerated in Cronic. On April 26, 2012, the DOJ Civil Rights 
Division delivered a report, Investigation of the Shelby County Juvenile Court, to officials in Shelby County (Memphis), Tennessee, 
stating that the juvenile court of Memphis and Shelby County (JCMSC) “fails to ensure due process for all children appearing for 
delinquency proceedings” in direct violation of the U.S. Supreme Court’s ruling in In re Gault, 387 U.S. 1 (1967).  An agreement was 
reached requiring the county and JCMSC to ensure, among other things, that “juvenile defenders have appropriate administrative 
support, reasonable workloads, and sufficient resources to provide independent, ethical, and zealous representation to children in 
delinquency matters” at “all stages of the juvenile delinquency case, including pre-adjudicatory investigation, litigation, dispositional 
advocacy, and post-dispositional advocacy,” for as long as a case is active. The agreement additionally requires “the promulgation and 
adoption of attorney practice standards” and the “supervision and evaluation” of defense attorneys “against such practice standards.” 
United States Department of Justice, Civil Rights Division, Memorandum of Agreement Regarding the Juvenile Court of Memphis 
and Shelby County (Dec. 17, 2012).

 Page 30 of 103 



16The Right to Counsel on Guam

GUAM'S INDIGENT DEFENSE SYSTEM

CHAPTER IV

Guam’s Indigent Defense 
System
The structure of Guam’s indigent defense system is complex. To simplify the discussion and to explain 

the intricacies of the current system and recommendations for future structural changes, this report uses 

terminology that is different than that typically used locally on Guam.

Indigent defense system terminology as used in this report

• “PDSC corporation”– the statutorily-created corporation that is required to defend indigent people 

who face the potential loss of liberty in criminal or delinquency proceedings, assist in federal land-

taking claims, and represent poor people in civil law matters, except where the PDSC corporation 

attorneys have a conflict of interest.

• “PDSC board” – the statutorily-created board of trustees that is required to oversee the PDSC 

corporation.

• “PDSC administration” – that portion of the PDSC corporation, including staff and resources, 

that provides at least some administrative services (e.g., fiscal, human resources, and IT/case 

management systems) to all divisions of the PDSC corporation.

• “primary division” – a division of the PDSC corporation that includes only the attorneys and non-

attorney staff and resources allocated to the representation of appointed clients with whom the 

primary division attorneys do not have a conflict of interest; this division is what most people on 

Guam think of as being signified whenever anyone refers to the “PDSC.”

• “alternate division” – a division of the PDSC corporation, referred to locally as the “Alternate Public 

Defender” or the “APD,” that includes only the attorneys and non-attorney staff and resources 

allocated to the representation of appointed clients with whom the primary division attorneys 

have a conflict of interest and with whom the alternate division attorneys do not have a conflict of 

interest. 

• “PAP standing committee” – the committee created by court rules to oversee the panel attorneys.

• “panel attorneys” – the private attorneys who have agreed to be appointed to represent indigent 

defendants in certain types of cases when both the primary division and the alternate division have 

a conflict of interest; referred to locally as the “Private Attorney Panel” or the “PAP.”

• “non-panel attorneys” – the private attorneys who are appointed by the courts to represent 

indigent defendants but who have not agreed to be appointed.

 Page 31 of 103 



17The Right to Counsel on Guam

GUAM'S INDIGENT DEFENSE SYSTEM

A. Structure of the indigent defense system

There are only two ways in which the government of Guam provides attorneys to represent indigent people 

in Guam’s courts. All appointed attorneys in adult criminal cases are either governmental employees of 

the Public Defender Service Corporation or they are private attorneys who are appointed by the courts on 

a case-by-case basis.94 While the legislature has mandated these two methods of providing counsel, the 

legislature left it almost entirely up to the judicial branch to decide how to carry this out. 

1. Governmental employees

PDSC corporation. The Guam legislature created the Public Defender Service Corporation as a public 

corporation “to provide effective legal aid and assistance to those persons in Guam who are unable to afford 

counsel.”95 The PDSC corporation is required by statute to:96

• “defend indigent persons charged in criminal cases before the courts of Guam” when appointed by 

the courts;

• “assist and represent in court or otherwise persons who” have federal land takings claims and who 

meet certain statutory criteria;97 and

• “render legal aid and assistance to those persons in Guam, who, . . . are in the greatest economic 

and social need of legal assistance and representation,” under rules established by the PDSC board of 

trustees – in other words, to provide representation to the poor in civil law matters both in and out of 

court.98

94   12 Guam Code Ann. § 11104 (2022) (“It shall be the duty of the [Public Defender Service] Corporation to defend indigent persons 
charged in criminal cases before the courts of Guam. . . .”); 8 Guam Code Ann. § 45.40 (2022) (“In any criminal action in which a 
defendant is entitled to be represented by counsel at public expense and the court finds that because of conflict of interest or other 
reason that the public defender has properly refused to represent the defendant, the court shall appoint private counsel for the 
defendant and order that counsel receive a reasonable sum for compensation and necessary expenses to be paid by the Treasurer of 
the Territory.”).

95   12 Guam Code Ann. § 11103 (2022).

96   12 Guam Code Ann. §§ 11104, 11104.1, 11105, 11106, 11115 (2022). 

97   This is a narrow area of civil law matters that arise out of Guam’s unique place in history and its relationship to the U.S. federal 
government. Over decades, many Guam people were deprived of title to real property that they had owned. In some instances, the 
U.S. government took title to land through judicial condemnation proceedings, but in other instances people were defrauded out of 
their property titles in some fashion. Between 1944 and 1963, the federal district court on Guam ruled on a number of claims brought 
by people of Guam regarding their real estate, then in 1977 the U.S. government allowed the decisions in those cases to be reopened 
to ensure that people were paid fair compensation for their property. See Omnibus Territories Act of 1977, Pub. L. 95-134 § 204, 91 Stat. 
1159, 1162 (Oct. 15, 1977) (current version at 48 U.S.C. § 1424c). By the time decisions about those claims were made, many of the original 
landowners to whom awards were due were deceased and any award would pass to their heirs and assigns. The process of claiming 
these settlement awards often involves title searches as well as knowledge of probate and inheritance law, and Guam has established 
some special procedures for addressing some of these awards. See 15 Guam Code Ann. §§ 4901 through 4912 (2023).

98   Until late in the 20th century, the PDSC board allowed the PDSC corporation to represent indigent people in a wide array of 
civil cases, including, for example, immigration, bankruptcy, divorce, probate, eviction, etc. At least as early as 1995, the PDSC board 
began to limit the types of civil matters that the PDSC corporation could take on because the caseloads of its attorneys had become 
excessive. Over the years, the PDSC board lifted and reimposed moratoriums on civil matters many times, with each moratorium 
applying to varying types of cases for varying amounts of time. See, e.g., Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. 
PDSC 96-01, Lifting the Temporary Limitation of Caseload in Civil and Domestic Cases of the Public Defender Service Corporation 
(adopted Mar. 15, 1996); Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 97-01, Limiting the Caseload of the Public 
Defender Service Corporation Temporarily (adopted Mar. 31, 1997); Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 

 Page 32 of 103 



18The Right to Counsel on Guam

GUAM'S INDIGENT DEFENSE SYSTEM

The PDSC corporation must accept all the criminal case types in which the courts are required to appoint 

counsel to represent indigent people unless it has a conflict of interest.99 Additionally, Guam courts are 

allowed in their discretion to appoint counsel to represent indigent people, and the PDSC corporation must 

accept those appointments if it does not have a conflict of interest in: civil or criminal contempt proceedings 

where a person faces loss of liberty; proceedings seeking collateral relief from judgment in a criminal 

matter; and proceedings of any type where a person’s rights under the Organic Act or the U.S. Constitution 

“may be substantially infringed without the appointment of counsel.”100

PDSC board. The PDSC board of trustees oversees the PDSC corporation. The five-member board consists 

of:101

• the chief justice of the Supreme Court of Guam, who is the chairperson;

• the presiding judge of the Superior Court of Guam, who is the vice-chairperson;

• the president of the Guam Bar Association; and

• two members appointed by the chief justice102 for a three-year term (who cannot be the attorney 

general or member of the attorney general’s staff and cannot be employees of the PDSC corporation).

The PDSC board approves the budgets for the PDSC corporation and its individual divisions. 

Members of the PDSC board explain that their role is “not to interfere or micromanage” but rather to 

“set policy and guidelines” for the PDSC corporation to ensure it fulfills its legislative duties, including 

establishing standards for PDSC corporation divisions and rules and regulations regarding employees of the 

PDSC corporation, including their selection, retention, and compensation.103 

99-06(2), Limiting the Caseload of the Public Defender Service Corporation Temporarily (adopted Nov. 9, 1999); Guam Public Defender 
Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 02-03, Moratorium Involving Civil and Domestic Cases Due to Budgetary Constraints 
(adopted June 3, 2003); Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 13-12, Continuation of a Moratorium 
Involving Civil and Domestic Cases (adopted Aug. 28, 2012); Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 05-20, 
Lifting a  Moratorium Involving Civil and Domestic Cases (adopted July 28, 2020). 

It is difficult to know the types of civil matters that the PDSC corporation is accepting at any particular moment, because the 
PDSC board typically only identifies particular types of cases that it is prohibiting during a moratorium rather than ever explicitly 
stating the types of civil matters that it authorizes the PDSC corporation to accept. See, e.g., Guam Public Defender Service 
Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 13-12, Continuation of a Moratorium Involving Civil and Domestic Cases (adopted Aug. 28, 2012) (the 
PDSC Board imposes “an indefinite continuation of the previous moratorium involving non-criminal cases (with certain exceptions)” 
and “recogniz[ing] that certain exceptions (i.e., uncontested guardianships, burial of expired bodies, and domestic cases involving 
violence or the threat of violence) exist,” allows PDSC to continue to accept “[c]ases of this nature” through December 31, 2012, 
“whereupon this matter will be reviewed for further action”). As of February 2023, the PDSC corporation accepts at least the following 
types of civil matters: protective orders, guardianships over minors, civil commitments, person in need of services cases involving 
Child Protective Services a/k/a/ PINS cases, cases where a parent is alleged to be unable to effectively supervise their children a/k/a 
beyond control cases, name changes, and writs of habeas corpus.

99   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.1(a).

100   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.1(b).

101   12 Guam Code Ann. § 11107 (2022). Three members of the board constitute a quorum. 12 Guam Code Ann. § 11107 (2022); By-laws, 
Public Defender Service Corporation, arts. 1.06, 1.08 (as amended through Oct. 27, 2016).

102   Each chief justice is free to use their own approach in determining whom to appoint to these positions. For example, the 
current chief justice asked at least one former PDSC board member for recommendations before making appointments in 2023, and 
that same board member had “applied” to serve on the board when they were appointed by a different chief justice several years 
earlier.  

103   4 Guam Code Ann. § 4105 (2022); 12 Guam Code Ann. § 11110 (2022).

 Page 33 of 103 



19The Right to Counsel on Guam

GUAM'S INDIGENT DEFENSE SYSTEM

PDSC administration. The PDSC corporation provides administrative services for all its divisions through a 

single administrative office, including fiscal services, human resources, and information technology/case 

management services. 

At the head of the PDSC administration is the PDSC corporation executive director. The PDSC board is 

statutorily required to appoint a PDSC corporation executive director, who then serves at the pleasure of 

the PDSC board.104 The only qualification established by Guam statutes is that the person appointed must 

have at least five years’ experience practicing law at the time of appointment to the position.105 There is no 

formalized or written procedure for how the PDSC board goes about appointing the executive director. 106 

When a vacancy occurs, the members of the board at that time decide how the vacancy will be filled.107

As of fiscal year 2023,108 the other PDSC administration staff are the deputy director, the administrative 

director and one administrative assistant, one program coordinator, one human resources person, the chief 

fiscal officer and one account technician, and two management information systems staff.

The PDSC administration is housed at the primary division location and the employees working in the PDSC 

administration are designated as employees of the primary division.

PDSC corporation divisions. The PDSC corporation has three separate divisions within its corporate 

structure, only two of which have direct relevance to this evaluation.109

104   12 Guam Code Ann. § 11108 (2022). Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 13-16, Reappointment of 
Attorney Stephen P. Hattori as the Executive Director of the Public Defender Service Corporation (adopted June 27, 2016). Guam’s 
statutes direct that the executive director is to hold a classified position. 12 Guam Code Ann. § 11108 (2022). Despite this requirement, 
the current executive director holds an unclassified position.

105   12 Guam Code Ann. § 11108 (2022).

106   Between 1981 and the present, there have been five PDSC corporation executive directors, whose terms of office were: 1981 
through 2003; 2003 through 2008; 2008 through 2011; 2011 through 2016; and the current executive director’s term of 2016 through 
the present. Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 06-03, Forming Search Committee for the Selection 
of a New Director of the Public Defender Service Corporation (adopted Aug. 19, 2003); Guam Public Defender Service Corporation 
Resolution No. PDSC 08-03, Appointment of Attorney Kathleen E. Maher as Director of the Public Defender Service Corporation 
(adopted Nov. 18, 2003); Guam Judicial Council Resolution No. JC08-022, Relative to Commending Kathleen E. Maher for Her 
Service as the Director of Public Defender Service Corporation (adopted Sept. 18, 2008); Guam Public Defender Service Corporation 
Resolution No. PDSC 08-11, Relative to Extending Our Profound Gratitude to Executive Director Mike Ancheta Nisperos, Jr. for His 
Outstanding Service to the Public Defender Service Corporation (adopted July 26, 2011); Guam Public Defender Service Corporation 
Resolution No. PDSC 12-16, Relative to Extending Our Profound Gratitude to Executive Director Eric Donn Miller for His Dedicated 
Service to the Public Defender Service Corporation (adopted Feb. 25, 2016); Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution 
No. PDSC 13-16, Appointment of Attorney Stephen P. Hattori as the Executive Director of the Public Defender Service Corporation 
(adopted Feb. 25, 2016); Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 13-16, Reappointment of Attorney Stephen P. 
Hattori as the Executive Director of the Public Defender Service Corporation (adopted June 27, 2016).

107   For example, when the position of executive director became vacant during 2003, the board formed a five-member search 
committee that was charged to announce the opening, solicit applicants, receive applications, interview applicants, and “present a 
list of the three most qualified applicants” to the full board within 30 days. When the position of executive director was last filled in 
2016, it is believed that there were four or five applicants for the position, and members of the board at that time recall questioning 
applicants during interviews.

108   The fiscal year for Guam government (and all entities involved in this evaluation) is October 1 through September 30. 5 Guam 
Code Ann. § 4102.1 (2022).

109   The third division is the civil division, referred to locally as the “Civil Law Center” or “CLC.” The PDSC corporation first began 
referring to this civil division as the Civil Law Center in early 2023. See Public Defender Service Corporation, Fiscal Year 2024 Budget 
Request at pp. 25, 97-106 (Apr. 26, 2023). Today, the civil division encompasses two subdivisions – The Advocacy Center (TAC), and the 
Elder Justice Center (EJC) – both of which pre-existed the new naming of the division, and outside of the two subdivisions it provides 
additional civil legal services including war claims probate, legal guardianship, and burial of expired bodies.

 Page 34 of 103 



20The Right to Counsel on Guam

GUAM'S INDIGENT DEFENSE SYSTEM

• Primary division. The primary division of the PDSC corporation must provide representation in all 

appointed cases unless the primary division has a conflict of interest. This division is what most people 

on Guam think of as being signified whenever anyone refers to the “PDSC.”

Both the PDSC corporation executive director and the PDSC corporation deputy director are part of 

the PDSC administration, with administrative responsibilities for all of the divisions within the PDSC 

corporation. They are, however, also the managing attorneys for the primary division, and both directly 

represent defendants to whom the primary division is appointed. For fiscal year 2023, the primary 

division is authorized to have 17 full-time attorneys, including the executive director and deputy director 

of the PDSC corporation. As of March 10, 2023, the primary division had only 13 attorneys.

As of April 2023, the primary division also had 31 non-attorney staff: six investigators; one social worker; 

one law clerk (a “soon-to-be attorney” who has graduated law school but is awaiting their bar exam 

results); one paralegal; 12 legal secretaries; four legal clerks; three general office clerks; and three process 

division employees. 

• Alternate division. Guam’s statutes do not make any mention of the alternate division. This division, 

known locally as the “Alternate Public Defender (APD),” was created within the PDSC corporation in 

2004 through the joint agreement of the judicial council and the PDSC board.110 Guam’s court rules 

require that the alternate division must be appointed in all cases in which the primary division has a 

conflict of interest, unless the alternate division also has a conflict of interest.111 

     TAC was originally a single employee of the PDSC corporation who, beginning some time prior to 2011, provided services to victims 
and survivors of violence (such as obtaining protective orders and restraining orders) as part of a U.S. federal grant known as the 
“Stop Violence Against Women Program” that today requires some funding from the Guam government. Until early 2023, the PDSC 
corporation referred to this as the “domestic violence program.” See Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 
01-11, Advancement of Public Defender Service Corporation’s Operations Fund to the Domestic Violence Program to Cover Program 
Expenses Pending the Release of Federal Funds (adopted Feb. 23, 2011); Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. 
PDSC 06-12, Funding Advance for the Domestic Violence Program (adopted Dec. 20, 2011); Guam Public Defender Service Corporation 
Resolution No. PDSC 16-16, Funding Advance for the Domestic Violence Program (adopted Apr. 26, 2016); Guam Public Defender 
Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 12-17, Use of Lapsed Funds for Funding of the Domestic Violence (adopted Aug. 22, 2017).
    EJC was established in 2021 as its own separate division within the PDSC corporation, having begun in 2020 as a six-month pilot 
project, to provide civil legal services (such as preparing wills or powers of attorney) as part of a pre-existing program operated by the 
Guam Department of Public Health and Social Services and funded in part by a U.S. federal grant and in part through funds from the 
Guam government. Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 06-20, The Creation of the Elder Justice Center 
Pilot Program (adopted July 28, 2020); Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 01-22, Establishing the Elder 
Justice Center as a Permanent Division (adopted Oct. 26, 2021); Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 01-
23, Establishing the Elder Justice Center as a Permanent Division (adopted Oct. 25, 2022).

The entire civil division provides civil representation only (of only certain types to certain categories of clients). The courts do not 
appoint civil division attorneys to represent indigent defendants. The work of the civil division and its two subdivisions is outside the 
scope of this evaluation, and further information about the civil division is contained in this report only to the extent that it affects the 
provision of counsel by the primary division and/or the alternate division attorneys.

110    See “Agreement to Provide Attorney Services for Indigent Defendants,” between the Judicial Council and the Public Defender 
Service Corporation (June 15, 2004); Guam Judicial Council Resolution No. JC04-009, Relative to Approving the Proposal of the 
Public Defender Service Corporation to Create the Alternate Public Defender Office (adopted Apr. 30, 2004, and signed May 6, 2004) 
(attaching as Exh. A the PDSC “Proposal For The Establishment Of The Office Of The Alternate Public Defender (rev’d Apr. 20, 2004); 
and attaching as Exh. B proposed budget for the APD’s first year of operation);  Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution 
No. PDSC 08-04, Establishment of the Office of the Alternate Public Defender (adopted Apr. 21, 2004).

111   Court rules require the courts to appoint counsel in the order of: “(1) The Public Defender Service Corporation; (2) The Alternative 
Public Defender Office; (3) The Private Attorney Panel; and (4) Active members of the Guam Bar Association.” Guam Super. Ct Local 
R. MR 1.1.3.(a); Promulgation Order 06-006-01, Adoption of the Guam Rules of Civil Procedure and Local Rules of the Superior Court 
of Guam (Guam May 3, 2007) (attaching as Exh. A the “Guam Rules of Civil Procedure” and attaching as Exh. B the “Local Rules of the 

 Page 35 of 103 



21The Right to Counsel on Guam

GUAM'S INDIGENT DEFENSE SYSTEM

From October 2004 through September 2020, a series of annually renewed contracts between 

the judicial council and the PDSC corporation established the alternate division anew each year. 

These written contracts established all of the terms under which the alternate division operated, 

including but not limited to defining its duties, the terms under which it would be appointed, how 

it was funded, and who held responsibility for the representation it provided to indigent people.112 

Beginning with fiscal year 2021, the judicial council and the PDSC corporation stopped entering 

into contracts regarding the alternate division.113 Today, the alternate division’s existence and its 

operation is governed by informal agreement.

The substantive work of the alternate division is overseen by the alternate division’s managing 

attorney (and not by the PDSC corporation’s executive director).114 The PDSC board appoints the 

managing attorney of the alternate division.115 Guam law does not establish any qualifications that 

a person must have to be appointed as the managing attorney of the alternate division. There is 

no formalized or written procedure for how the PDSC board goes about appointing the alternate 

division’s managing attorney.116

Superior Court of Guam”). From October 1, 2004, through September 30, 2020, a series of annually renewed contracts between the 
judicial council and the PDSC corporation each contained a provision stating:

Any case that has been appointed to the PDSC by a Judge or Justice pursuant to the Rules for the Appointment 
of Counsel for Indigent Defendants which the PDSC reasonably believes it must reject due to a legitimate 
conflict of interest shall be transferred by the PDSC to the APDD upon the court’s approval of the PDSC’s written 
motion to withdraw or, under exigent circumstances, withdrawal may be sought orally while on the record if 
allowed by the assigned judge or an ex parte judge. APDD shall be appointed directly by the court on cases 
where the court is aware that PDSC has a conflict of interest at the time of appointment. In the event that a 
legitimate conflict of interest prohibits the APDD from accepting a case, the APDD shall immediately file a notice 
to the appointing Judge or Justice indicating its conflict and the case will be further assigned under the Rules for 
Appointment of Counsel for Indigent Defendants. 

See, e.g., “Agreement Between the Judicial Council of Guam and the Public Defender Service Corporation” § 1 (Oct. 1, 2019).

112   See, e.g., “Agreement to Provide Attorney Services for Indigent Defendants,” between the Judicial Council and the Public 
Defender Service Corporation (June 15, 2004); “Agreement Between the Judicial Council of Guam and the Public Defender Service 
Corporation” (Oct. 1, 2019).

113   There is no indication as to what prompted this change after nearly two decades, and there is no formal memorialization that 
this change has occurred (no statutory amendment, no judicial council resolution, no PDSC board resolution).

114   From October 1, 2004, through September 30, 2020, the annually renewed contracts between the judicial council and the PDSC 
corporation each contained provisions stating:

APDD is an independent division of the PDSC. The APDD acts independently for the purposes of case 
management. The Executive Director (“ED”) of the Public Defender is normally in charge of both the PDSC and 
the APD, however the ED is not involved in the day-to-day operations of the APDD and does not initiate any 
promotional or disciplinary actions. Only upon specific recommendations of the APDD supervising attorney may 
the ED of the PDSC make changes in the salary or working conditions of persons working at the APD. Although 
the APDD is formally a branch of the PDSC, it operates autonomously, with a separate supervising attorney who 
is responsible for directing, coordinating, and evaluating the work of attorneys and staff employed by the APD;

and
the supervising attorney in charge of the APDD reports to the Board of Trustees in conjunction with the ED of 
PDSC and personnel decisions affecting the APDD supervising attorney are reviewed by the Board of Trustees 
directly. The two offices remain physically apart, the attorneys and staff have no access to each other’s files and 
the MIS computer case management system is completely separate from the main PDSC. Employees of the 
main PDSC shall not have keys to each other’s offices and do have separate office letterheads. The PDSC and the 
APDD adhere to a well-known policy and this agreement’s Standard Operating Procedure (SOP) of keeping all 
legal activities completely separate;

See, e.g., “Agreement Between the Judicial Council of Guam and the Public Defender Service Corporation” recitals F, G (Oct. 
1, 2019).

115   It is a commonly held, but incorrect, belief that the chief justice makes the appointment individually.

116   For example, when the position of the alternate division’s managing attorney most recently became vacant in 2007, there 
was no application process and no selection process, and there does not appear to be any publicly available documentation of the 

 Page 36 of 103 



22The Right to Counsel on Guam

GUAM'S INDIGENT DEFENSE SYSTEM

For fiscal year 2023, the alternate division was authorized to have six full-time attorneys including 

the managing attorney, but, as of April 2023, the alternate division had 4.5 attorneys (of the six 

authorized).117 As of the same date, the alternate division also had nine non-attorney staff: two 

investigators; one management officer; one administrative assistant; one computer operator; two 

legal secretaries; and two legal clerks.

2. Appointed private attorneys 

Under Guam’s statutes, if the PDSC corporation is unable to represent a defendant who is entitled to 

appointed counsel in a criminal case, then the court must appoint a private attorney to represent that 

defendant.118 The judicial branch has developed two separate mechanisms for appointing private attorneys: 

panel attorneys and non-panel attorneys. 

Panel attorneys. Court rules first authorized the creation of panels of private attorneys to be appointed to 

represent indigent defendants in 1981.119 Today, “panel attorneys” are private attorneys who have agreed to 

be appointed to represent indigent defendants in certain types of cases, in exchange for which the attorney 

is paid an hourly rate but with the possible compensation capped based on the type of case.120 

Court rules intend for the panel to have five categories of case types (felony; misdemeanor; juvenile, 

including juvenile delinquency and person in need of services cases; guardian ad litem in juvenile cases; and 

appellate), with 10 to 15 private attorneys available for appointment in each category.121

appointment having been made.

117   The part-time attorney is retired from Guam government and, as allowed by Guam statutes, is officially considered a contractor 
in the alternate division so that he can continue to receive retirement benefits. 

118   8 Guam Code Ann. § 45.40 (2022) (“In any criminal action in which a defendant is entitled to be represented by counsel at public 
expense and the court finds that because of conflict of interest or other reason that the public defender has properly refused to 
represent the defendant, the court shall appoint private counsel for the defendant and order that counsel receive a reasonable sum 
for compensation and necessary expenses to be paid by the Treasurer of the Territory.”).

119   In 1981, the judicial council adopted rules for “Appointment of Counsel for Indigent Defendants” in cases in the superior court. 
See Superior Court of  Guam – Appointment of Counsel for Indigent Defendants, Guam Bar Journal, vol. 3 & 4, Rainy Season – 1981, at  
88; Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1 note. 

After the Supreme Court of Guam was established, in 2002 the supreme court repealed those earlier rules and enacted 
what was known as Rule 13, which provided for a “Private Attorney Panel” to eventually be created. Promulgation Order 02-009, 
Amendments to the Rules for Appointment of Counsel for Indigent Defendants (Guam Nov. 19, 2002). Several steps were necessary 
before the panel could be established, and until that time “the priority of appointment shall be: Public Defender, court contracted 
law firms or lawyers, active members of the Guam Bar.” Promulgation Order 02-009, Amendments to the Rules for Appointment 
of Counsel for Indigent Defendants (Guam Nov. 19, 2002). In 2004, the supreme court authorized the chief justice to establish an 
“Interim Private Attorney Panel,” from which private attorneys could be appointed as needed, until such time as the “Private Attorney 
Panel” was created. Promulgation Order 04-003, Amendments to the Rules for Appointment of Counsel for Indigent Defendants 
(Guam Feb. 27, 2004). The first “Interim Private Attorney Panel” of attorneys was designated by the supreme court on January 18, 2007. 
Promulgation Order 07-001, Interim Private Attorney Panel (Guam Jan. 18, 2007)

On May 3, 2007, Rule 13 was recodified into the Local Rules of the Superior Court of Guam, as Miscellaneous Rule 1.1. 
Promulgation Order 06-006-01, Adoption of the Guam Rules of Civil Procedure and Local Rules of the Superior Court of Guam (Guam 
May 3, 2007) (attaching as Exh. B the “Local Rules of the Superior Court of Guam”). The court rules require the existence of a “Standing 
Committee” to receive and review applications from private attorneys who want to serve on the panel, so the standing committee 
had to be established before the panel could be created. See Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.3.(b). The first standing committee 
convened at some point between May 2007 and May 2017. The earliest information made available to the Sixth Amendment Center 
about the existence and members of the standing committee begins on May 12, 2017.

120   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.3., 1.1.5 (as amended effective Apr. 1, 2023).

121   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.3.(b)(2)(G).

 Page 37 of 103 



23The Right to Counsel on Guam

GUAM'S INDIGENT DEFENSE SYSTEM

As of September 2023, there were 14 panel attorneys.122 The table below shows the number of panel 

attorneys, in total and for each case type, for fiscal years 2019 through September of fiscal year 2023.123

NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS ON PRIVATE ATTORNEY PANEL
OCT. 5, 2018 THROUGH SEPT. 20, 2023

FISCAL 
YEAR DATE OF LIST

TOTAL  
# OF 

ATTYS

FELONY  
# ATTYS

MISDEMEANOR  
# ATTYS

JUVENILE  
# ATTYS

GAL  
# ATTYS

APPELLATE  
# ATTYS

FY19

October 5, 2018 18 8 8 8 6 8

October 23, 2018 18 7 7 8 6 8

November 13, 2018 17 6 6 8 6 8

April 17, 2019 21 8 9 10 7 8

May 9, 2019 20 8 8 9 7 8

FY20
March 12, 2020 18 8 8 8 6 7

April 24, 2020 19 8 8 8 6 8

FY21 August 10, 2021 18 7 7 8 6 8

FY22

March 18, 2022 17 6 6 8 6 8

March 22, 2022 16 5 5 8 6 8

April 8, 2022 16 5 5 7 5 8

April 11, 2022 15 4 4 6 5 8

May 19, 2022 15 4 4 5 5 8

August 16, 2022 14 4 4 5 5 7

FY23

October 18, 2022 13 3 4 5 5 6

December 28, 2022 11 2 3 3 4 6

January 31, 2023 11 2 3 4 4 6

April 5, 2023 13 2 3 4 4 8

April 19, 2023 14 2 4 5 4 8

September 20, 2023 14 3 3 4 4 8

As the table shows, the number of panel attorneys accepting criminal appointments has decreased over 

the past four years.  Because so few private attorneys are willing to serve as panel attorneys for felony and 

misdemeanor cases, the supreme court temporarily suspended (from November 17, 2023 through May 17, 

2024) appointments to panel attorneys for felony and misdemeanor cases.124 

122   One of these attorneys is now deceased, two of the attorneys have become employees of the primary division, and two of 
these are organizations rather than individual attorneys (the Guam Legal Services Corporation and the Micronesian Legal Services 
Corporation). Only the now-deceased attorney accepted appointments in all types of cases; the other 13 attorneys (11 individual 
attorneys and 2 organizations) accept cases in only one or two categories. Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1, app. B (as of Sept. 20, 2023).

123   During this evaluation, the Sixth Amendment Center was provided the lists of the panel attorneys beginning with October 5, 
2018, however it is uncertain whether all changes to the lists were provided and in particular whether there may have been additional 
changes between April 19 and September 20 of 2023. The most current list is usually available on the judiciary’s website (see e.g., 
http://www.guamcourts.org/Indigent-Defense/images/2023-10-24-PAP.pdf), but past lists are not publicly available.

124   Promulgation Order 06-006-25, Amendments to Miscellaneous Rule 1.13. of the Local Rules of the Superior Court of Guam 
(Indigent Defense Rule) (Guam Nov. 17, 2023).

 Page 38 of 103 



24The Right to Counsel on Guam

GUAM'S INDIGENT DEFENSE SYSTEM

PAP standing committee. The court rules require the supreme court to “create a Standing Committee to 

oversee the Private Attorney Panel.”125 The PAP standing committee is made up of five voting members, 

required to be attorneys who possess “experience and interest in the local criminal justice system.”126 The 

PDSC corporation executive director is a permanent member, and the chief justice appoints four members 

to two-year terms.127 There are also three ex officio, non-voting members: the clerks of the superior and 

supreme courts, and the chair of the judiciary’s “subcommittee on indigent defense.”128 

From May 2017 to the present, a total of six private attorneys and the PDSC executive director served on the 

PAP standing committee while also being panel attorneys who receive court appointments.129 

Non-panel attorneys. When the PDSC corporation divisions both have a conflict of interest with an indigent 

person’s case, and there is no panel attorney available to be appointed, the court rules provide that the court 

can appoint any active member of the Guam Bar Association.130

B. Funding of the indigent defense system 

All funding for providing the right to counsel of indigent people on Guam comes from one of three sources:

• legislative appropriation;

• fines/fees assessed by the Guam courts on users of the Guam judicial system (collected and deposited 

into the judicial branch’s “Judicial Client Services Fund”); and

• U.S. federal funds, typically provided in the form of grants.

These funds are used: to compensate all of the attorneys who are appointed to represent indigent people 

and also the attorneys who provide representational services authorized by statute but for which courts 

do not appoint counsel; to cover the costs of these attorneys’ overhead to some extent; and to pay for the 

case-related expenses necessary to the representation of individual appointed clients to the extent that the 

courts allow.

The following table shows the sources and amounts of all funds expended for Guam’s indigent 

representation services for fiscal years 2018 through 2022, to the extent that information was available at the 

time of this report.131

125   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.3.(b)(1)(A). 

126   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.3.(b)(1)(A). 

127   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.3.(b)(1)(A), (B), (C).

128   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.3.(b)(1).

129   See Letter[s], from Supreme Court of Guam Chief Justice to [individual attorney] (various dates of: May 12, 2017; Feb. 18, 2020; 
Feb. 17, 2023). 

All four of the appointed voting positions on the standing committee were vacant between May 12, 2019, and February 18, 2020 
(i.e., the chief justice had not made the necessary appointments).

For the appointments made May 12, 2017, and February 18, 2020, the chief justice appointed all four members to two-year terms, 
as required by the court rules; for the appointments made February 17, 2023, the chief justice appointed two members to one-year 
terms and two members to two-year terms, which differs from the requirements of the court rules. Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 
1.1.3.(b)(1)(C).

130   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.3.(a).

131   The information shown in this table is from the following sources:

 Page 39 of 103 



25The Right to Counsel on Guam

GUAM'S INDIGENT DEFENSE SYSTEM

Legislative appropriations. The Guam legislature appropriates the largest portion of the funding for the 

right to counsel on Guam. Funds for the right to counsel are appropriated to the PDSC corporation and 

may be appropriated to the judicial branch’s “Judicial Client Services Fund.” Appropriated funds unspent 

at the end of the fiscal year, referred to as “lapsed funds,” are retained by the body to which they were 

appropriated.132 

The PDSC corporation receives legislative appropriations from the general fund, and the funds are deposited 

into the “Public Defender Service Corporation Fund.”133 Beginning in fiscal year 2021 and continuing through 

for the PDSC corporation:
• expenditures from other sources and from U.S. federal funds are the actual receipts as shown in the PDSC corporation’s 
Citizen Centric reports. For FY 2018, the PDSC corporation reported receiving $1,110,501 from the “Judiciary of Guam,” but it is 
unclear whether this is duplicative of or in addition to the amount shown as having been paid from the Judicial Client Service 
Fund for the alternate division. Because it could be duplicative, it is excluded here out of caution.
• expenditures from legislative appropriations are the actual expenditures as shown in the budget requests to the legislature.
• for the alternate division:
• expenditures from legislative appropriations are the actual expenditures as shown in the budget requests to the legislature.
• expenditures from the Judicial Client Services Fund are from the Guam judiciary’s expense ledgers for “Court Appointed 
Fees / Pro Temp” (one of five line items within the Judicial Client Services Fund). These expenditures reflect the year in which the 
judiciary made the payment and not the year in which the services were provided.
• for appointed private attorneys:
• expenditures from the Judicial Client Services Fund are from the Guam judiciary’s expense ledgers for “Court Appointed 
Fees / Pro Temp” (one of five line items within the Judicial Client Services Fund). These expenditures reflect the year in which the 
judiciary made the payment and not the year in which the services were provided.
• for case-related expenses:
• there was no source of information available to determine the amounts paid for case-related expenses in appointed cases (i.e., 
for experts, investigators, and interpreters, as authorized by Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.4).

132   The PDSC corporation was first allowed to retain and carry over its lapsed funds beginning with FY 2000. 12 Guam Code Ann. 
§ 11113.1 (2022). See Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 99-05, Requesting Legislative Approval for the 
Carry-over of any Lapsed Funds from Each Fiscal Year Budget to the Following Fiscal Year (adopted June 29, 1999) (noting: “for 
previous fiscal years, the Corporation was the only entity within the judiciary branch of our government that was not authorized to 
carry-over unexpended funds from one fiscal year to the next”).

133   12 Guam Code Ann. § 11113 (2022). 

SOURCES & AMOUNTS OF ALL EXPENDITURES FOR GUAM INDIGENT REPRESENTATION SERVICES, 
FISCAL YEARS 2018 THROUGH 2022

Purpose Of  
Expenditures

PDSC Corporation, 
Excluding Alternate Division Alternate Division

Appointed  
Private 

Attorneys

Case-
Related  

Expenses

Source Of  
Expenditures

“Other 
Sources”

U.S. 
Federal  
Funds

Legislative 
Appropriation

Legislative 
Appropriation

Judicial 
Client  

Services 
Fund

Judicial 
Client  

Services 
Fund

Judicial 
Client  

Services 
Fund

Fiscal Year               Total1

FY 2018 *** $14,422 $4,223,344 $0 $2,160,171 $801,463 unknown $7,199,399 

FY 2019 $92,551 $44,752 $4,142,960 $0 $1,470,873 $903,548 unknown $6,654,685 

FY 2020 $0 $50,420 $4,459,158 $0 $3,125,008 $767,327 unknown $8,401,913 

FY 2021 $0 $114,665 $4,743,135 $1,187,412 $0 $886,768 unknown $6,931,980 

FY 2022 $0 $426,150 $4,805,963 $1,187,343 $0 $779,454 unknown $7,198,910 

1   This does not include the unknown amounts expended for case-related expenses.

 Page 40 of 103 



26The Right to Counsel on Guam

GUAM'S INDIGENT DEFENSE SYSTEM

the present, the PDSC corporation uses these funds for the PDSC administration as well as the operations of 

each of its three divisions.  

The PDSC corporation and the alternate division each prepare their respective budget requests, and each 

presents separately to the PDSC board for its approval. The PDSC board has reportedly never declined a 

budget request. In the view of one board member, that is because 80-90% of the budget request is for 

personnel “so we don’t have much wiggle room.” 

After the PDSC board approves the two budget requests, they are presented to the Guam legislature. The 

alternate division’s managing attorney is interviewed by the legislature about the budget request for the 

alternate division, and the PDSC corporation’s executive director is interviewed by the legislature about 

the PDSC corporation’s budget request for all funding requested other than for the alternate division. 

From fiscal year 2021 and continuing through the present, the PDSC corporation receives one lump sum 

appropriation from the legislature, but the legislature directs that a specific amount of the appropriated 

funds can be spent only for the alternate division.

“Judicial Client Services Fund.” Guam statutes established the “Judicial Client Services Fund” within the 

judicial branch of government under the stewardship of the judicial council.134 There are two sources of 

deposits to this fund: 135

• any general appropriation authorized by the legislature and designated to be deposited into the fund; 

and

• “[a]ll increase in fees, fines or revenues . . . collected by the [c]ourts . . . over and above the fees 

schedule in existence as of September 12, 2002, for the filing of documents, or imposition of fines 

[except as laws provide for the Guam Law Library and the Criminal Injuries Compensation] . . ..”

The judicial council is required to submit a report to the legislature each fiscal year containing “full 

statements of accounts of all money received and expended out of the account or accounts of the Judicial 

Client Services Fund.”136

One of the statutorily required purposes for the fund is “Appointment of Counsel of Indigent Defendants 

including, but not limited to, attorney fees, investigator fees, interpreter fees, expert fees, jury fees, and 

any other related expenses approved by the Superior Court of Guam or the Supreme Court of Guam.”137 

Court personnel explain that, while most of the expenditures from the Judicial Client Services Fund are 

for indigent representation in court-appointed cases,138 the fund also supports the salaries of judiciary staff 

providing interpreter services and forensic evaluations in court appointed cases.

134   7 Guam Code Ann. §§ 9600, 9602 (2022).

135   7 Guam Code Ann. §§ 9601, 9602, 9604 (2022).

136   7 Guam Code Ann. § 9603 (2022).

137   7 Guam Code Ann. §§ 9600, 9602, 9604 (2022).

138   In addition to funding costs of appointed attorneys in adult criminal cases, funds are also provided for appointed attorneys in 
juvenile delinquency cases, appointed attorneys for parents in juvenile PINS cases, guardian ad litem for minor children in juvenile 
PINS cases, and appointed attorneys in special proceedings.

 Page 41 of 103 



27The Right to Counsel on Guam

GUAM'S INDIGENT DEFENSE SYSTEM

The judiciary’s budget request documents submitted to the legislature show five types of expenditures 

made from the Judicial Client Services Fund:

• “contractual services” includes interpreter services for indigent cases (and presumably the fees of 

authorized experts in indigent cases) and services for an access and visitation site for domestic custody 

cases;

• “travel/off-island escort;”

• “miscellaneous - CAF /pro temp”139 pays the private attorney invoices submitted to and approved by 

the court (and was used to pay for the operations of the alternate division prior to fiscal year 2021);  

• “miscellaneous - interpreters” - it is unclear what interpreter services are paid for from this line item; 

and

• “miscellaneous - investigator claims.”

U.S. federal funds. A relatively small portion of the funding for the right to counsel on Guam comes from 

U.S. federal funds, provided to the PDSC corporation in the form of grants. The PDSC corporation holds a 

separate bank account for each federal grant that it receives, and the funds in each account can only be 

used for the purposes authorized under the grant. All federal grant funds received by the PDSC corporation 

today are used to operate its civil division, which is outside the scope of this evaluation.140 Federal grant 

funds are currently not used to provide representation in adult criminal cases.

139   This is the judiciary’s general ledger account number 25-01-21-21-G 5293. “CAF” stands for “court appointed fees.”

140   The civil division today encompasses two subdivisions - the “TAC” or The Advocacy Center; and the “EJC” or Elder Justice 
Center.
     The TAC subdivision of the civil division originated in approximately FY 2011 as a single employee of the PDSC corporation - a 
“Family Violence Program Specialist” - who provided services to victims and survivors of violence (such as obtaining protective orders 
and restraining orders) as part of a U.S. federal grant known as the “Stop Violence Against Women Program.” The PDSC corporation 
was a sub-grantee under the federal grant that was administered by the office of the governor. Until early 2023, the PDSC corporation 
referred to this as the “domestic violence program.” See Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 01-11, 
Advancement of Public Defender Service Corporation’s Operations Fund to the Domestic Violence Program to Cover Program 
Expenses Pending the Release of Federal Funds (adopted Feb. 23, 2011); Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution 
No. PDSC 06-12, Funding Advance for the Domestic Violence Program (adopted Dec. 20, 2011); Guam Public Defender Service 
Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 16-16, Funding Advance for the Domestic Violence Program (adopted Apr. 26, 2016); Guam Public 
Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 12-17, Use of Lapsed Funds for Funding of the Domestic Violence (adopted Aug. 
22, 2017) (noting: for FY 2017 the PDSC corporation will have to fund 50% of the personnel cost for the Family Violence Program (FVP) 
Specialist).
     The EJC subdivision of the civil division began in July 2020 as a six-month pilot project by the PDSC corporation to provide civil 
legal services (such as preparing wills or powers of attorney) as a sub-grantee under a pre-existing program operated by the Guam 
Department of Public Health and Social Services and funded in part by a U.S. federal grant and in part through funds from the Guam 
government. Today, the grant funding pays for one attorney and a project coordinator, along with a small number of supplies and 
equipment. Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 06-20, The Creation of the Elder Justice Center Pilot 
Program (adopted July 28, 2020); Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 01-22, Establishing the Elder 
Justice Center as a Permanent Division (adopted Oct. 26, 2021); Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 01-
23, Establishing the Elder Justice Center as a Permanent Division (adopted Oct. 25, 2022).
     The PDSC corporation received approximately $1.5 million passed through by the Guam government from the American Rescue 
Plan Act federal funding provided as a result of the covid-19 pandemic. The PDSC corporation used this funding to pay for some 
overhead expenses of the civil division, including rent, a case management system, and the internet.

 Page 42 of 103 



28The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROCESS OF A CRIMINAL CASE

CHAPTER V

Process of a Criminal Case
In 2008, the United States Supreme Court reaffirmed in Rothgery v. Gillespie County that the right to counsel 

attaches when “formal judicial proceedings have begun.”141 For a person who is arrested, the beginning of 

formal judicial proceedings is at “a criminal defendant’s initial appearance before a judicial officer, where 

he learns the charge against him and his liberty is subject to restriction,”142 without regard to whether a 

prosecutor is aware of the arrest.143 For all defendants (both those who are arrested and those who are not), 

the commencement of prosecution, “whether by way of formal charge, preliminary hearing, indictment, 

information, or arraignment,” signals the beginning of formal judicial proceedings.144 

In accordance with these requirements, Guam guarantees by statute that: “In any criminal action, the 

defendant is entitled . . . [t]o defend in person and with counsel. Every defendant accused of a crime who 

is financially unable to employ counsel shall be entitled to have counsel assigned at public expense to 

represent him at every stage of the proceedings from his initial appearance before the court through 

appeal, unless he waives such appointment.”145

The Court in Rothgery carefully explained, however, that the question of whether the right to counsel has 

attached is distinct from the question of whether a particular proceeding is a “critical stage” at which 

counsel must be present as a participant. “Once attachment occurs, the accused at least is entitled to the 

presence of appointed counsel during any ‘critical stage’ of the postattachment proceedings . . ..”146 In other 

words, according to the Court, the Constitution does not necessarily require that defense counsel be present 

at the moment the right to counsel attaches, but from that moment forward, no critical stage in a criminal 

or juvenile delinquency case can occur unless the defendant is represented by counsel or has made an 

informed and intelligent waiver of counsel. Arraignments,147 plea negotiations,148 and sentencing hearings,149 

for example, are all critical stages of a case. If an indigent defendant is actually deprived of counsel at a 

141   Rothgery v. Gillespie County, 554 U.S. 191, 211 (2008). See also Michigan v. Jackson, 475 U.S. 625, 629 n.3 (1986); Brewer v. Williams, 
430 U.S. 387, 388-89 (1977).

142   Rothgery v. Gillespie County, 554 U.S. 191, 213 (2008).

143   Rothgery v. Gillespie County, 554 U.S. 191, 194 (2008).

144   Brewer v. Williams, 430 U.S. 387, 398 (1977) (quoting Kirby v. Illinois, 406 U.S. 682, 689 (1972)). See also Michigan v. Jackson, 475 
U.S. 625, 629 n.3 (1986).

145   8 Guam Code Ann. § 1.11 (2022). For the definition of and laws applicable to a “criminal action,”  see 7 Guam Code Ann. §§ 1106, 
1112 (2022); 8 Guam Code Ann. § 5.45 (2022).

146   Rothgery v. Gillespie County, 554 U.S. 191, 212 (2008).

147   Hamilton v. Alabama, 368 U.S. 52, 53-55 (1961).

148   Lafler v. Cooper, 132 S. Ct. 1376, 1386 (2012); Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 373 (2010); McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771, 
771 n.14 (1970).

149   Lafler v. Cooper, 132 S. Ct. 1376, 1386 (2012); Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 538 (2003); Glover v. United States, 531 U.S. 198, 203-04 
(2001); Mempa v. Rhay, 389 U.S. 128, 134, 137 (1967).

 Page 43 of 103 



29The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROCESS OF A CRIMINAL CASE

critical stage, the U.S. Supreme Court says that is unfair and so likely to prejudice the accused that “no 

amount of showing of want of prejudice would cure it.”150 

This chapter details the process of a client’s criminal case, focusing on the early stages that occur from 

arrest through arraignment.

A. Arrest

A person can be arrested on Guam for any felony or misdemeanor, with or without a warrant.151 Law 

enforcement officers report that most criminal cases on Guam begin with the warrantless arrest of a 

suspect at the scene of a crime.

When a person is arrested, with or without a warrant, the officer making the arrest must take the person 

before a judge “without unnecessary delay” and always within 48 hours after the arrest.152 However, there 

are a few circumstances in which an officer may release an arrested person instead of taking the person 

before a judge within 48 hours.

Release with no further proceedings – “station house release.” The officer may release the defendant if 

the defendant is arrested without a warrant and: the officer is satisfied that there are insufficient ground for 

requesting a criminal complaint against the person; or the person was arrested for “intoxication only, and 

no further proceedings are desirable;” or the person was arrested “only for being under the influence of a 

narcotic drug, or restricted dangerous drug” and is “delivered to a facility or hospital for treatment and no 

further proceedings are desirable.”153 This is referred to on Guam as “station house release,” and according to 

law enforcement officers it is “sparingly used” and most often occurs when the attorney general’s office tells 

police to let someone go. Typically, nothing further will happen in the criminal proceeding, although the 

police report is sent to the attorney general’s office.

Release with written notice to appear – “booked and released.” If the defendant was arrested on a warrant 

and the court that issued the warrant set conditions for the defendant’s release, an officer may “accept and 

approve any bond or deposit required by the warrant” and release the defendant subject to the conditions 

of the warrant.154 

If the defendant was arrested without a warrant and “does not demand to be taken before a judge,” the 

officer may release the defendant (except for certain felony offenses).155 Guam law enforcement officers 

historically had almost total discretion about whether to release or detain a person who was arrested 

150   United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 658-59 (1984) (quoting Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 318 (1974)).

151   8 Guam Code Ann. § 20.15 (2022).

152   8 Guam Code Ann. § 45.10 (2022). If an arrestee is not taken before a judge within 48 hours, the government bears the burden of 
demonstrating that “a bona fide emergency or an extraordinary circumstance existed.” 8 Guam Code Ann. § 45.10 (2022).

153   8 Guam Code Ann. § 20.60 (2022).

154   8 Guam Code Ann. § 15.50 (2022).

155   8 Guam Code Ann. §§ 20.60, 25.10 (2022). 

 Page 44 of 103 



30The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROCESS OF A CRIMINAL CASE

without a warrant. Prior to January 2023, all people arrested without a warrant on a misdemeanor charge 

were released as a matter of policy, because Guam’s detention facilities are overpopulated and because 

of pandemic-related dangers of detention. Since January 2023, law enforcement contacts the attorney 

general’s office to determine whether to release or detain the person in all cases (both misdemeanor and 

felony), and the attorney general’s policy has been to request cash bail or detention in all cases. 

Both of these situations are referred to on Guam as “booked and released.” A defendant who is booked and 

released must sign a written notice to appear in court on the date and time contained in the notice, which 

must be at least five days after the arrest.156 The date on which the person is required to appear in court will 

be their arraignment, sometimes referred to locally as “first appearance.”157 

A person who is booked and released on a misdemeanor is typically ordered to appear for their arraignment 

approximately 364 days after their arrest, while a person who is booked and released on a felony is typically 

ordered to appear just shy of three years after arrest. The reason that these arraignment dates are set so 

far into the future after arrest is because the attorney general has one year following commission of a 

misdemeanor and at least three years following commission of a felony to commence the prosecution upon 

which the defendant will be arraigned.158 

Not released – “booked and confined.” If not otherwise released (referred to locally as “booked and 

confined”), a person who is arrested must be taken before a judge “without unnecessary delay” and always 

within 48 hours after the arrest.159 The date on which the person is taken before a judge is referred to locally 

as their “magistrate hearing.” 

B. Proceedings before a judicial officer

The next step, after a person is either “booked and confined” or “booked and released,” is for the defendant 

to appear in court before a judicial officer. The Guam courts have assigned magistrates (rather than judges) 

to preside over all of these initial appearances by defendants in criminal cases.160

The initial appearance by an in-custody defendant (a person who was “booked and confined”) must be held 

within 48 hours after the arrest,161 and the proceeding is referred to locally as a “magistrate hearing.” The 

156   8 Guam Code Ann. § 25.20 (2022). A person who is released by law enforcement prior to appearing before a judge is not 
subject to any conditions of release nor are they required to post bail of any sort. If the person fails to appear as ordered in the 
notice to appear that they signed at the time of their release from custody, a bench warrant for their arrest can be issued, although 
stakeholders report that a bench warrant is usually not issued until after a defendant’s second failure to appear.

157   Occasionally, prosecution is initiated against a defendant (either by grand jury indictment or by a complaint) after they are 
released but before the date they are required to appear in court according to their signed notice to appear. When this occurs, the 
defendant is supposed to be personally served with a summons to appear in court. 

158   8 Guam Code Ann. §§ 10.20, 10.30, 10.70 (2022). 

159   8 Guam Code Ann. § 45.10 (2022). 

160   Guam S.Ct. Admin. R. 20-001, Exh. A, p. 7.

161   8 Guam Code Ann. § 45.10 (2022). If an arrestee is not taken before a judge within 48 hours, the government bears the burden of 
demonstrating that “a bona fide emergency or an extraordinary circumstance existed.” 8 Guam Code Ann. § 45.10 (2022).
     Magistrate hearings occur at 3:00 p.m. six days per week, Monday through Saturday, except when a holiday falls on Monday 

 Page 45 of 103 



31The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROCESS OF A CRIMINAL CASE

initial appearance by an out-of-custody defendant (a person who was “booked and released) is likely to be 

approximately 364 days after their arrest for a misdemeanor or just shy of three years after their arrest for a 

felony, and the proceeding is the arraignment which is sometimes referred to locally as a “first appearance.” 

During the time between an indigent defendant’s arrest and their initial appearance, they are rarely ever 

represented by an attorney.162  

Whether a defendant is in- or out-of-custody, this initial appearance before a judicial officer is the 

proceeding on Guam that triggers the attachment of the right to counsel under Rothgery v. Gillespie 

County.163 From that moment forward, every indigent defendant has the right to be effectively represented 

by appointed counsel during every critical stage of their case, unless they make an informed and intelligent 

waiver of their right to counsel.

1. Magistrate hearing

Participants in magistrate hearings are the magistrate (and other court staff),164 a probation officer, 

interpreters, a prosecutor,165 a primary division attorney,166 an alternate division attorney,167 and the 

defendant.168 Prior to 2016, indigent defense system attorneys were not present at magistrate hearings.

For each defendant who is scheduled to appear at a magistrate hearing, the attorney general’s office must 

file a complaint, referred to locally as the “magistrate’s complaint.” Along with the magistrate’s complaint, 

the attorney general’s office also files an affidavit or declaration of probable cause.

A probation officer meets with each defendant who is scheduled for court that day and attempts to 

interview them, although the defendant is allowed to decline the interview. There are no attorneys 

present during these interviews. If the defendant consents to the interview, the probation officer obtains 

then the weekend session is held on Sunday rather than Saturday. The court rules allow the magistrate hearing to be conducted in 
person, with all of the participants physically present in the courtroom, or through the use of video technology, with various of the 
participants physically present at different locations. Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 3.1. Primarily as an outcome of the pandemic, all 
magistrate hearings are now conducted by video conference.

162   Any person who has received a notice to appear can walk in to the primary division office or the alternate division office 
to apply for an appointed attorney right away, and if they meet the eligibility requirements the division will assign an attorney to 
represent them right away rather than waiting until after the arraignment to do so, however this occurs only very rarely and there is 
no formal mechanism to advise people who have been arrested and released that this possibility exists.

163   Rothgery v. Gillespie County, 554 U.S. 191, 211 (2008). See also Michigan v. Jackson, 475 U.S. 625, 629 n.3 (1986); Brewer v. Williams, 
430 U.S. 387, 388-89 (1977).

164   The two superior court magistrates alternate monthly in presiding over magistrate hearings. One of the magistrates 
participates by video from his chambers, while his court staff are physically present in the courtroom. The other magistrate is 
physically present in the courtroom along with his court staff.

165   Prior to 2023, a prosecutor was physically present in the courtroom, but beginning in 2023 the prosecutor usually participates 
by video from the attorney general’s office. The prosecutor is allowed to be physically present in the courtroom if they prefer to do so.

166   The primary division attorneys take turns staffing the magistrate hearing dockets, with one attorney responsible for appearing 
at each docket. The primary division attorney participates by video, usually from the primary division office, although they are  
allowed to be physically present in the courtroom if they prefer to do so.

167   The one part-time alternate division attorney handles all magistrate hearings and participates by video, usually from the 
alternate division office, although they are allowed to be physically present in the courtroom if they prefer to do so.

168   Defendants appear by video from the department of corrections. 

 Page 46 of 103 



32The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROCESS OF A CRIMINAL CASE

the defendant’s contact information and length 

of residence, other information to add to a 

risk assessment, and the defendant’s financial 

information. Regardless of whether the defendant 

is interviewed, the probation officer gathers the 

defendant’s local record and NCIC record. The 

probation officer assembles all of this information 

into the “magistrate summary report,” for the use of 

the magistrate during the hearing. 

The primary division attorney assigned to 

that day’s magistrate hearing docket receives, 

throughout the day prior to the hearings beginning, 

documents related to each defendant, including 

the magistrate’s complaint, the affidavit of probable 

cause, the defendant’s financial declaration if one 

was prepared, and the magistrate summary report 

compiled by the probation officer. The indigent 

defense system attorneys do not typically speak to 

the defendants prior to the hearings – there is no 

opportunity to do so – so whatever representation 

they provide to any defendant at the magistrate 

hearing is generally based solely on the paperwork 

they receive from the prosecutor and probation 

officer.169 

At the magistrate hearing, the magistrate 

determines whether the defendant needs an interpreter170 and, for a warrantless arrest, determines 

whether there was probable cause for the arrest.171 For a person arrested without a warrant, in County of 

Riverside v. McLaughlin,172 the United States Supreme Court held that a judge must make a probable cause 

determination within 48 clock hours of a warrantless arrest, or the government risks being held responsible 

for an illegal detention. It is not necessary for there to be an actual hearing, and a judge can make this 

determination without ever seeing the defendant. Instead, the court can review the paperwork signed 

under oath by the officer.

Guam law accordingly requires that a court make a probable cause determination at or before an in-custody 

defendant’s magistrate hearing following a warrantless arrest, which must occur within 48 hours, but the 

169   The indigent defense system attorneys also use the documents received prior to the magistrate hearing to determine whether 
their respective divisions have a conflict of interest with representing the defendant in their case.

170   Guam S.Ct. Admin. R. 13-004, Attach I - “Registered Court Interpreter Program for Indigent Criminal Defense”.

171   8 Guam Code Ann. § 45.20 (2022). 

172   500 U.S. 44 (1991).

Proceedings by video conference

The superior court may use video conferencing 
technology to conduct magistrate hearings, first 
appearances, arraignments, bail determination 
hearings, pretrial conferences, criminal trial 
settings, and other pretrial motion hearings. The 
technology used must allow all participants to 
“see, hear and communicate with each other 
simultaneously” and to “see, hear and otherwise 
observe any physical evidence or exhibits.”

“Each location must provide parties with a means 
of communicating fully and confidentially with 
counsel.” During magistrate hearings conducted 
by video conferencing, “if the detainee has 
retained counsel who wishes to be present 
during the hearing, counsel has the option of 
appearing in either the courtroom or at DOC.”

All magistrate hearings are conducted by video 
conference, and at least some of the participants 
in arraignments appear by video conference. All 
other hearings are presided over by the superior 
court judges, and each judge makes their own 
decision about whether the participants must 
appear in person or can participate by video or 
phone, but there is a trend toward more in-
person appearances. For trials, all participants 
always appear in person.

 Page 47 of 103 



33The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROCESS OF A CRIMINAL CASE

defendant does not have to be present during the probable cause determination.173 If 48 hours pass without 

a detained person being brought before the court, the person will be released from custody. To determine 

whether there was probable cause for the warrantless arrest, the magistrate reviews the declaration or 

affidavit of probable cause that is filed by the prosecutor along with the complaint. If the magistrate finds 

that there was not probable cause for the arrest, the case is dismissed and the defendant is released from 

jail; if the magistrate finds that there was probable cause for the arrest, the case continues against the 

defendant.

Next, the magistrate:174

• informs the defendant of the charge(s) against them, as contained in the complaint and any 

supporting affidavit (or the indictment in a felony case if one has already been filed at the time of the 

magistrate hearing), and ensures that the defendant has received a copy;

• informs the defendant of their right to retain counsel and to request appointment of counsel if they 

are unable to secure their own attorney, then if the defendant does not have an attorney, the magistrate 

determines whether the defendant meets the eligibility criteria and appoints counsel for any defendant 

found to be eligible;

• determines whether and under what conditions the defendant can be released from custody pending 

disposition of the charge(s) against them;

• informs the defendant that they are not required to make a statement, while any statement they 

make may be used against them; and 

• in felony cases, informs the defendant of their rights to indictment and to preliminary examination. 

The defendant is not asked to enter a plea at the magistrate hearing.175 Defendants are never asked to 

speak with a prosecutor before an attorney is appointed, and pleas are rarely discussed and never taken at a 

magistrate hearing. 

a. The right to counsel

Although both a primary division attorney and an alternate division attorney are present at all magistrate 

hearings, those attorneys have not yet been appointed to represent any defendant scheduled for a 

hearing. Instead, their role at the magistrate hearing is primarily: to aid the court in determining whether 

a defendant meets the financial eligibility guidelines to receive appointed counsel; to advise the court 

whether their office has a known conflict of interest in representing an eligible defendant in the case 

against them; and for any defendant who appears at their magistrate hearing without an attorney (without 

regard to the defendant’s financial status), to represent that defendant only during the magistrate hearing 

for purposes of the pretrial release determination. 

The magistrate informs each defendant, directly and individually, of their right to counsel and to have 

counsel appointed at no cost to them if they meet the financial eligibility standards. A defendant who is 

173   8 Guam Code Ann. § 45.20 (2022).

174   8 Guam Code Ann. § 45.30 (2022). 

175   8 Guam Code Ann. § 45.30 (2022).

 Page 48 of 103 



34The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROCESS OF A CRIMINAL CASE

accused of an offense for which incarceration is a possible punishment has three choices about the right 

to counsel. The defendant can: have or intend to obtain their own private attorney; request that counsel be 

appointed to represent them; or waive their right to counsel altogether and choose to self-represent.176

Waiver of the right to counsel. A defendant has a Sixth Amendment right to waive counsel and self-

represent, but a judge must determine that the defendant’s choice to waive the right to counsel and 

represent themselves is made knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently.177 There is no entity on Guam that is 

responsible for knowing how many defendants in criminal cases waive their right to counsel and whether 

those defendants are indigent.178

Requesting appointed counsel & indigency determination. If a defendant appears in a criminal proceeding 

without an attorney, the court must ask if the defendant “desires the assistance of counsel.”179 At magistrate 

hearings, the magistrates do not require an unrepresented defendant to affirmatively request appointed 

counsel; rather, for any defendant who appears without an attorney, the magistrate determines whether the 

defendant meets the financial eligibility guidelines that allow them to receive an appointed attorney.

The court rules require that a defendant who wants an appointed attorney must complete and sign under 

penalty of perjury a written “Financial Declaration.”180 For most defendants, a probation officer has prepared 

this document and provided it to the magistrate in advance of the hearing. Without regard to whether a 

financial declaration has been completed by a defendant, the magistrate questions the defendant about 

their income and household size.

The court applies financial eligibility 

guidelines established by the PDSC board 

to the defendant’s financial information 

(whether provided in a financial declaration, 

or orally, or both) to determine whether the 

defendant has the financial ability to secure 

their own attorney.181 The financial eligibility 

guidelines established by the PDSC board 

were most recently amended on October 24, 

2023, and they are:182

176   Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 802 (1975). 

177   Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 802 (1975). 

178   Anecdotally, justice system stakeholders report that it is extremely rare for a defendant to waive their right to counsel; so rare 
that one judicial officer could only recall a single defendant having waived their right to counsel over the past seven years.

179   8 Guam Code Ann. § 45.30(b) (2022).

180   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.2. and app. A.

181   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.2. 

182   Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 02-24 (adopted Oct. 24, 2023). See Board Meeting Packet, 
Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Board of Trustees’ Regular Scheduled Meeting (Oct. 24, 2023). The amendment to the 
eligibility guidelines was approved October 3, 2023, subject to receiving additional input from members of the Guam bar. Minutes, 
Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Board of Trustees’ Regular Scheduled Meeting (Oct. 3, 2023). 

PERSONS 
IN FAMILY/

HOUSEHOLD

100% 200%

ANNUAL ANNUAL HOURLY

1 $16,770 $33,540 $16.13 

2 $22,680 $45,360 $21.81 

3 $28,590 $57,180 $27.49 

4 $34,500 $69,000 $33.17 

5 $40,410 $80,820 $38.86 

6 $46,320 $92,640 $44.54 

7 $52,230 $104,460 $50.22 

8 $58,140 $116,280 $55.90 

For families /households with 
more than 8 persons, add $11,820 
for each additional person.

Annual 
Wage / 
2080 hours

 Page 49 of 103 



35The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROCESS OF A CRIMINAL CASE

If a defendant’s income, given their household size, is less than the amount shown in the chart above as 

200% annual (or the equivalent hourly rate), then the court is statutorily required to appoint an attorney at 

no cost to the defendant upon the defendant’s request.183 

Even with the fairly straight-forward criteria for eligibility, there is occasionally disagreement among judicial 

officers and indigent defense system attorneys about whether a defendant is eligible for an appointed 

attorney. 184 For example, some believe that the term “household” means only the defendant and their 

dependents who live with them, others believe that it includes the defendant and dependents whom they 

are legally obligated to support, and still others believe that it includes all individuals living in the same 

home as the defendant (for example including elderly parents, grandparents, aunts and uncles, cousins, 

etc.). 

There is no mechanism in Guam’s statutes or court rules for a defendant to appeal from a court’s decision 

that they are not financially eligible to receive appointed counsel; however, each time that a defendant 

appears in a criminal proceeding without a lawyer, the presiding judicial officer must again ask if the 

defendant wants an appointed attorney and determine their eligibility to receive one,185 and if a defendant’s 

financial status changes at any stage of the proceedings then the court can appoint or withdraw counsel 

accordingly.186

Appointment of counsel. For all defendants who want an appointed attorney and whom the magistrate has 

found financially eligible to receive one, the magistrate appoints either the primary division or the alternate 

division or a private attorney.187 In most circumstances, the defendant leaves their magistrate hearing not 

knowing the identity of the specific attorney who will represent them, and most often no specific individual 

attorney has yet been assigned to their case. The process of assigning a specific attorney to represent a 

specific defendant takes time, during which the indigent defendant is not actively represented by any 

attorney.

183   8 Guam Code Ann. § 45.30(b) (2022) (“The court shall assign counsel at public expense if the defendant desires counsel and is 
financially unable to employ counsel.”). 

184   Under the guidelines that were in effect prior to October 24, 2023, the value of household assets was also considered in 
determining eligibility, giving rise to frequent disagreements between magistrates and indigent defense system attorneys about 
whether a defendant met the criteria. Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 04-14, Adoption and Approval 
of the Updated PDSC Eligibility Guidelines (adopted Jan. 14, 2014). Under these earlier guidelines, the primary division attorneys 
would sometimes move to withdraw from representing a defendant to whom they had been appointed, on the basis of having 
learned that the defendant appeared to have assets (such as a savings account or an interest in real estate) that had not been 
considered at the time of the original eligibility determination. The newly amended guidelines appear to eliminate consideration of 
assets, which should reduce the grounds for denial of appointed counsel.

185   8 Guam Code Ann. § 45.30(b) (2022).

186   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.2.(c).

187   Prior to November 17, 2023, the courts were required to appoint counsel in the following order: “(1) The Public Defender Service 
Corporation; (2) The Alternate Public Defender Office; (3) The Private Attorney Panel; and (4) Active members of the Guam Bar 
Association.”  Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.3(a) (prior to amendment of Nov. 17, 2023). Because so few attorneys have been willing 
to serve as panel attorneys for felony and misdemeanor cases, on November 17, 2023, the supreme court temporarily suspended 
(from November 17, 2023, through May 17, 2024) the making of appointments to panel attorneys for felony and misdemeanor cases. 
Promulgation Order 06-006-25, Amendments to Miscellaneous Rule 1.1.3 of the Local Rules of the Superior Court of Guam (Indigent 
Defense Rule) (Guam Nov. 17, 2023).

 Page 50 of 103 



36The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROCESS OF A CRIMINAL CASE

Each and every defendant has a right to effective representation that is free from conflicts of interest.188 As 

the United States Supreme Court stated in Glasser v. United States: “‘assistance of counsel’ guaranteed by 

the Sixth Amendment contemplates that such assistance be untrammeled and unimpaired by a court order 

requiring that one lawyer shall simultaneously represent conflicting interests.”189 

As recognized by the Guam Rules of Professional Conduct, a conflict of interest can arise in basically three 

ways: 190 

• when a lawyer represents, at the same time, two clients who have conflicting interests;

• when a lawyer’s current client has interests that conflict with those of the lawyer’s former client or a 

third person with whom the lawyer has a relationship; and 

• when the lawyer’s own personal interests conflict with those of the lawyer’s client. 

Generally, unless a client gives “informed consent, confirmed in writing,” a lawyer cannot represent a client 

if the lawyer has a conflict of interest.191 Under the Guam Rules of Professional Conduct, in most instances, if 

one lawyer in a law firm is disqualified from representing a client due to a conflict of interest, then all of the 

lawyers in that same law firm are also disqualified from representing that client.192  

When the magistrate is aware at the time of a magistrate hearing that two or more eligible defendants are 

being prosecuted for a single course of conduct (co-defendants), then the magistrate appoints the primary 

division to represent the first co-defendant, the alternate division to represent the second co-defendant, 

and different private attorneys to represent each additional co-defendant. While conflicts of interest in 

a multi-defendant case are fairly easily seen at the time of a defendant’s magistrate hearing, in a single-

defendant case an attorney may not realize that other types of conflicts of interest exist until they learn 

more about the facts of the case through discovery and investigation. 

Primary division. The primary division is required by statute to accept every appointment made by a judicial 

officer in every case of a financially eligible defendant unless the primary division has a conflict of interest.193 

In 2014, the PDSC board adopted standard operating procedures to guide all of the divisions of the PDSC 

corporation in determining when they must decline an appointed case because of a conflict of interest. 

The PDSC board’s conflict of interest policy prohibits a division of the PDSC corporation from representing 

an appointed defendant when: (1) the defendant newly appointed to the division is a victim or witness in 

another case currently being handled by the same division; (2) a victim, witness, or co-defendant in the case 

of the defendant newly appointed to the division is currently a client of the appointed division in another 

188   See, e.g., Wood v. Georgia, 450 U.S. 261, 271 (1981) (“Where a constitutional right to counsel exists, our Sixth Amendment cases 
hold that there is a correlative right to representation that is free from conflicts of interest.”); Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 US 335, 346 (1980) 
(“Defense counsel have an ethical obligation to avoid conflicting representations and to advise the court promptly when a conflict of 
interest arises during the course of trial.”); Glasser v. United States, 315 U.S. 60, 70 (1942).

189   Glasser v. United States, 315 U.S. 60, 70 (1942).

190   Guam R. Prof’l Conduct r. 1.7, 1.9. 

191   Guam R. Prof’l Conduct r. 1.7, 1.9.

192   Guam R. Prof’l Conduct r. 1.10.

193   12 Guam Code Ann. § 11104 (2022). 

 Page 51 of 103 



37The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROCESS OF A CRIMINAL CASE

case; or (3) an employee of the appointed division is a victim or witness in the case of the defendant newly 

appointed to the division.194

If neither the magistrate nor the participating indigent defense system attorneys are aware of any conflict of 

interest with the primary division, then the magistrate will appoint the primary division (but the defendant 

does not know which primary division attorney will defend them and no specific attorney has been assigned 

at that point). If the primary division is aware at the time of the magistrate hearing that it has a conflict of 

interest, then the magistrate will appoint the alternate division or a private attorney.

Alternate division. In any case in which the primary division has a conflict of interest, the alternate division 

accepts the appointment unless the alternate division has a conflict of interest. If neither the magistrate 

nor the participating indigent defense system attorneys are aware of any conflict of interest with the 

alternate division, then the magistrate will appoint the alternate division (but the defendant does not know 

which alternate division attorney will defend them and no specific attorney has been assigned at that 

point, though it will definitely not be the alternate division attorney who is participating in the defendant’s 

magistrate hearing). If the alternate division is aware at the time of the magistrate hearing that it has a 

conflict of interest, then the magistrate will appoint a private attorney.

Appointed private attorneys. Prior to November 2023, in any case in which both the primary division and 

the alternate division had a conflict of interest, the magistrate would rotate alphabetically through the 

panel attorneys on the appropriate list (felony or misdemeanor) and each of those attorneys was required 

to accept the appointment unless they had a conflict of interest (or was otherwise unavailable “due to 

scheduling conflicts, workload, or other good cause”), in which circumstance the magistrate would appoint 

the next panel attorney unless and until all panel attorneys were determined to be unavailable.195 

If no panel attorney is available (and from November 2023 through at least May 2024 in all criminal cases 

without regard to whether a panel attorney is available), the magistrate appoints, rotating alphabetically, 

the next non-panel attorney “from a membership list as approved by the Supreme Court.”196 All of the court 

clerks have access to the spreadsheet of non-panel attorneys who are eligible to be involuntarily appointed. 

Whenever a judicial officer makes a new appointment or allows an appointed attorney to withdraw, 

the chamber clerk for that judicial officer emails the clerk of court and the chief deputy clerk, and the 

spreadsheet is immediately updated. Some judicial officers say there is an unwritten internal agreement 

among the judicial officers of the superior court to only appoint non-panel attorneys in felony cases who 

have been licensed to practice law for more than seven years, while others say there is no such agreement. 

194   Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 03-14, Approval of the Public Defender Service Corporation’s 
Standard Operating Procedures (SOP) for Conflicts of Interest (adopted Jan. 4, 2014) (attaching as Attachment “A” the Standard 
Operating Procedures for “Conflicts of  Interest (Withdrawals from Cases due to Conflicts)”).

195   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.3(b) (4)(A). Despite the plain language of the court rule, many indigent defense system 
attorneys believe that panel attorneys cannot refuse or “pass” cases on the basis of a scheduling conflict or an excessive number of 
cases. 

196   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.3(a) (as amended Nov. 17, 2023); Promulgation Order 06-006-25, Amendments to Miscellaneous 
Rule 1.1.3. of the Local Rules of the Superior Court of Guam (Indigent Defense Rule) (Guam Nov. 17, 2023). 

 Page 52 of 103 



38The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROCESS OF A CRIMINAL CASE

When the magistrate appoints a private attorney (either a panel attorney or a non-panel attorney), the 

magistrate states the name of the attorney who is being appointed, but the defendant is not provided 

contact information for the appointed attorney, and the attorney is not at that point aware that the 

appointment has been made197 nor have they had an opportunity to determine whether they have a conflict 

of interest in accepting the case.

b. Pre-trial release or detention 

Next, the magistrate determines whether and under what circumstances the defendant can be released 

from custody pending disposition of the charge(s) against them.198 The magistrate first asks the prosecution 

for their bail request (whether they are seeking to confine or release the defendant), then asks probation 

about the defendant’s prior history and risk assessment, and finally asks the defense attorney for their 

request and argument. Since January 2023, the attorney general’s office reportedly seeks continued pretrial 

confinement for all in-custody defendants, without regard to the details of the case or the defendant.

If a private attorney (panel or non-panel) was appointed to represent the defendant, that defendant’s 

pretrial release determination will most likely be continued to the next scheduled magistrate hearing 

docket, so that the appointed private attorney can be present to represent the defendant. Some justice 

system stakeholders question the wisdom of requiring a defendant to sit in jail for additional time awaiting 

their attorney, rather than allowing the judicial officer to rule on the defendant’s release.199

If the primary division or the alternate division was appointed to represent the defendant, then the attorney 

from the relevant division who is present for that day’s magistrate hearing docket will represent the 

defendant solely for the pre-trial release decision.200 The indigent defense system attorneys typically ask for 

a personal release bond for every defendant.201 As discussed above, the indigent defense system attorneys 

do not usually speak to the defendants prior to the magistrate hearing (nor do they have confidential 

conversations with defendants during the hearing). This means that the advocacy they can provide about 

pretrial release for any defendant is almost entirely limited to making arguments based on the information 

contained in the charging documents prepared by the prosecutor and the magistrate’s summary report 

prepared by the probation officer. Some justice system stakeholders question whether any attorney can 

provide meaningful representation under these circumstances. 

197   There are only rarely any private attorneys present (physically or virtually) during magistrate hearings.

198   8 Guam Code Ann. § 45.30 (2022). 

199   The U.S. Supreme Court reaffirmed in Rothgery v. Gillespie County that the right to counsel attaches when “formal judicial 
proceedings have begun,” but that this is distinct from whether that proceeding is a “critical stage” at which counsel must be present 
as a participant. Rothgery v. Gillespie County, 554 U.S. 191, 211-12 (2008). The U.S. Supreme Court has not addressed whether the 
decision to release or detain a defendant pre-trial is a critical stage in a criminal case. This is a developing area of the law.

200   The indigent defense system attorneys who are present for the day’s magistrate hearing docket also represent, solely during 
the magistrate hearing and for the limited purpose of the pre-trial release determination, every non-indigent defendant who 
appears at their magistrate hearing without an attorney. This type of appearance by the indigent defense system attorneys is referred 
to locally as a “limited entry.” 

201   A personal release bond means that the defendant is released from confinement without posting any cash bail, but if the 
defendant fails to appear in court as ordered then they will be required to pay a set amount of money.

 Page 53 of 103 



39The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROCESS OF A CRIMINAL CASE

c. Next steps

At the conclusion of the magistrate hearing, the case is allotted to a courtroom (and by that allotment, to a 

specific superior court trial judge).202

The next in-court proceeding following the magistrate hearing is either preliminary examination (only 

available for a felony pre-indictment) or arraignment, neither of which can occur unless an attorney 

represents the eligible defendant and actively participates in the proceedings. 

2. Preliminary examination (felonies only, pre-indictment) 

At the magistrate hearing for a felony defendant, the magistrate schedules a preliminary examination, 

unless the defendant waives the right to have one.203 The preliminary examination is statutorily required to 

be held within 10 days of the magistrate hearing for a defendant who remains in custody and within 20 days 

for a defendant who was released from custody.204

The purpose of the preliminary hearing is for the magistrate to determine whether there is probable cause 

to believe that the alleged offense has been committed and that it was committed by the defendant, 

and both the prosecutor and the defense attorney can examine witnesses and introduce evidence at the 

hearing.205 If the magistrate finds no probable cause, the defendant is discharged (although the prosecutor 

may still seek an indictment from a grand jury); if the magistrate finds probable cause, the magistrate 

enters an order holding the defendant to answer to the charge (which will happen at arraignment) and the 

prosecutor is required to file an information in the superior court within 15 days.206

However, according to justice system stakeholders, as a practical matter, preliminary examinations never 

take place on Guam. This is because the preliminary examination will not be held if an indictment has been 

returned,207 and in practice the prosecutors always obtain an indictment before a preliminary examination 

can be held. Not a single primary division attorney could recall a preliminary examination ever having 

occurred. When an indictment is returned, a marshal serves the defendant with a copy of the indictment 

and a summons to appear in court for arraignment.

3. Arraignment

Arraignment is a critical stage in a criminal case, during which the indigent defendant has the right to 

counsel and for their appointed attorney to be present as an active participant in the proceedings.208 Plea 

202   See Guam S.Ct. Admin. R. 23-002, Exh. A - “Amended Trial Court Case Assignment Procedures.”

203   8 Guam Code Ann. §§ 1.17, 45.50 (2022). A defendant can waive the preliminary examination and be held over to court for 
arraignment on an information. 8 Guam Code Ann. § 45.50 (2022).

204   8 Guam Code Ann. § 45.50 (2022).

205   8 Guam Code Ann. §§ 45.60, 45.80 (2022).

206   8 Guam Code Ann. § 45.80 (2022).

207   8 Guam Code Ann. § 45.50 (2022).

208   Hamilton v. Alabama, 368 U.S. 52, 53-55 (1961).

 Page 54 of 103 



40The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROCESS OF A CRIMINAL CASE

negotiations and the entry of a guilty plea (which can occur at arraignment) are also critical stages of a 

criminal case, during which the defendant has the right to “effective assistance of competent counsel.”209

An arraignment cannot take place until prosecution is commenced, for a misdemeanor by the filing of 

a complaint, and for a felony by the filing of an information or an indictment; and once prosecution is 

commenced then the arraignment is to be held “promptly.”210 

• For a defendant who was “booked and released” at the time of their arrest (and also for a defendant 

who received a summons or citation instead of being arrested), this is the first time they appear in court 

before a judicial officer; and for most of those defendants who are indigent, it is the time when they 

request211 and first receive an appointed attorney. The arraignment on a misdemeanor typically occurs 

approximately 364 days after the person was arrested, while the arraignment on a felony typically 

occurs just shy of three years after arrest.212 At the conclusion of the arraignment, the case is allotted to a 

courtroom (and by that allotment, to a specific superior court trial judge) for all further proceedings.213

• For a defendant who was “booked and confined” at the time of their arrest and therefore had a 

magistrate hearing, this is at least their second appearance before a judicial officer; and for most of 

those defendants who are indigent, they received an appointed attorney as part of their magistrate 

hearing. The arraignment on a misdemeanor typically occurs approximately 20 days after the 

magistrate hearing (because that was when the attorney general filed the complaint), and on a felony 

typically occurs 30 to 40 days after the magistrate hearing (because either an indictment was returned 

or the defendant waived their right to an indictment within that time). 

An arraignment on Guam is almost an exact replica of the proceedings that occur at a magistrate hearing, 

with all of the same participants appearing in the same ways214 (including being presided over by one of the 

two magistrates, rather than a judge), but there are a few important differences including choices that the 

defendant must make. 

At the arraignment, the court reads the charging instrument to the defendant and calls on them to plead: 

not guilty; not guilty by reason of mental illness, disease, or defect; guilty; or nolo contendere with the 

consent of the court.215 The defendant is required to enter a plea to the charge. Most defendants plead not 

guilty at arraignment, but magistrates have the authority to take guilty pleas and impose sentences in 

misdemeanor cases.

209   Lafler v. Cooper, 566 U.S. 156, 132 S. Ct. 1376, 1386 (2012); Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 373 (2010); McMann v. Richardson, 397 
U.S. 759, 771, 771 n.14 (1970).

210   8 Guam Code Ann. § 60.10 (2022).

211   Any person who has received a notice to appear can walk in to the primary division office or the alternate division office 
to apply for an appointed attorney right away, and if they meet the eligibility requirements the division will assign an attorney to 
represent them right away rather than waiting until after the arraignment to do so, however this occurs only very rarely and there is 
no formal mechanism to advise people who have been arrested and released that this possibility exists.

212   For both misdemeanors and felonies, the arraignment for a “booked and released” defendant can occur sooner if the 
prosecutor files the charging document and has the defendant served with a summons to appear.

213   See Guam S.Ct. Admin. R. 23-002, Exh. A - “Amended Trial Court Case Assignment Procedures.”

214   In-custody defendants appear by video from the department of corrections. Out-of-custody defendants are usually required to 
be physically present in the courtroom, but one of the magistrates occasionally allows a defendant to appear by video from another 
location if the defendant has a conflict or is unable to get transportation to the courthouse. 

215   8 Guam Code Ann. §§ 60.10, 60.40 (2022).

 Page 55 of 103 



41The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROCESS OF A CRIMINAL CASE

The defendant must either assert or waive their right to a speedy trial. If the defendant asserts their speedy 

trial rights, they are guaranteed a trial within 45 days if they are incarcerated or 60 days if they are not 

incarcerated, but the trial could happen extremely soon (for example, as early as five days later), leaving little 

time for investigation or preparation. If the defendant waives their right to a speedy trial, the trial will usually 

be set for somewhere between 90 days and one year out, depending on the calendar of the particular judge 

to whom the case is allotted.

The defendant declares whether they desire a bench trial or a jury trial by a specified number of jurors. For 

a misdemeanor, the defendant can request a jury trial (of six jurors), and absent a request will have a bench 

trial. For a felony, the defendant can request a jury trial of 12 jurors, and absent a request will have a jury 

trial of six jurors. If the defendant’s attorney fails to request a jury trial at arraignment, in most instances the 

judiciary will grant the attorney’s request made at a later date in the proceedings.

These decisions, about how to plead, whether to assert speedy trial rights, and the type of trial desired, 

are decisions that must be made by the defendant and cannot be made by the attorney alone.216 While 

the attorney must decide in each case “what arguments to pursue, what evidentiary objections to raise, 

and what agreements to conclude regarding the admission of evidence,”217 it is the defendant’s decision 

about “whether to plead guilty, waive the right to a jury trial, testify in one’s own behalf, and forgo an 

appeal.”218 As one judge explains, if a defense attorney comes to arraignment and tells the magistrate they 

have not yet met with their client, the magistrate has to continue the arraignment so that attorney-client 

communications can occur.

Despite these requirements, most indigent defendants are represented during their arraignment by 

the primary division attorney or the alternate division attorney who happens to be scheduled to handle 

that day’s arraignment docket,219 rather than by the specific attorney who will actually be responsible for 

defending them.

• For indigent defendants who had a magistrate hearing: If a specific private attorney was appointed 

during the magistrate hearing to represent the defendant, then that appointed private attorney will 

most likely represent the defendant during the arraignment unless they turned out to be unavailable 

and a different private attorney needs to be appointed. If the primary division or the alternate division 

was appointed during the magistrate hearing to represent the defendant, then the specific division 

attorney who is responsible for defending the client in their case will talk to them in advance of the 

arraignment, but the defendant will be represented during the arraignment only by the relevant 

division attorney who happens to be handling arraignments on that day and is most often simply 

relying on notes contained in the appointed defendant’s file.

216   See Guam R. Prof’l Conduct r. 1.2(a).

217   Gonzalez v. United States, 553 U.S. 242, 248 (2008).

218   McCoy v. Louisiana, 584 U.S. ___, 138 S. Ct. 1500, No. 16-8255 at 6 (2018); Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 751 (1983). See Guam R. 
Prof’l Conduct r. 1.2(a). 

219   The primary division rotates division attorneys to handle arraignment dockets, while the alternate division has one part-time 
attorney who handles all arraignments.

 Page 56 of 103 



42The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROCESS OF A CRIMINAL CASE

• For indigent defendants who did not have a magistrate hearing and are appearing in court before 

a judicial officer for the first time, they will typically be represented during the arraignment only by 

the relevant division attorney who happens to be handling arraignments on that day. For all of these 

indigent defendants who want an appointed attorney and whom the magistrate finds financially 

eligible to receive one, the magistrate appoints either the primary division or the alternate division or 

a private attorney.220 In most circumstances, the defendant leaves their arraignment not knowing the 

identity of the specific attorney who will represent them, and most often no specific individual attorney 

has yet been assigned to their case. The process of assigning a specific attorney to represent a specific 

defendant takes time, during which the indigent defendant is not actively represented by any attorney.

Nonetheless, the arraignment commences the formal prosecution of a defendant and sets in motion 

deadlines for the defendant’s case. At a later date (but within 90 days) and without input from the attorneys 

in the case, the judge presiding over the case enters a scheduling order, setting dates for motion hearings, a 

pretrial conference (typically set for one week before the trial date), and trial.221 

220   Prior to November 17, 2023, the courts were required to appoint counsel in the following order: “(1) The Public Defender 
Service Corporation; (2) The Alternate Public Defender Office; (3) The Private Attorney Panel; and (4) Active members of the Guam Bar 
Association.”  Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.3(a) (prior to amendment of Nov. 17, 2023). Because so few attorneys have been willing 
to serve as panel attorneys for felony and misdemeanor cases, on November 17, 2023, the supreme court temporarily suspended 
(from November 17, 2023, through May 17, 2024) the making of appointments to panel attorneys for felony and misdemeanor cases. 
Promulgation Order 06-006-25, Amendments to Miscellaneous Rule 1.1.3 of the Local Rules of the Superior Court of Guam (Indigent 
Defense Rule) (Guam Nov. 17, 2023).

221   Guam Super. Ct Local R. CR 1.1.

 Page 57 of 103 



43The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROVIDING COUNSEL AT CRITICAL STAGES

CHAPTER VI

Providing Counsel at Critical 
Stages 
The first factor that triggers a presumption of ineffectiveness is the absence of counsel for the accused, or 

the “actual” denial of counsel. “Most obvious[ly],” as the U.S. Supreme Court said in Cronic, each governing 

jurisdiction is responsible for ensuring that every indigent defendant who does not choose to self-represent 

and who faces possible loss of liberty in a criminal case is actually represented by an attorney at every 

critical stage of the proceeding.222 

Because all crimes on Guam are either a felony, misdemeanor, or petty misdemeanor, and they all carry 

possible imprisonment as a sentence upon conviction,223 every person charged with a crime who cannot 

afford to hire their own attorney is entitled under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to have an 

attorney provided at public expense to represent them.224

FINDING 1: Guam does not collect, analyze, or report on actual denial of 
counsel statistics. 

No Guam entity is responsible for knowing how many defendants in criminal cases request appointed 

counsel and then are: 

• found to be ineligible for appointed counsel and represent themselves (pro se defendants); or 

• found to be ineligible for appointed counsel and obtain their own representation.225 

Without knowing the number of pro se defendants it is impossible to accurately understand the potential 

effects of possible future criminal justice policy decisions. For example, with the October 2023 change to the 

222   United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 659 (1984). See also In re Gault, 387 U.S. 1, 36 (1967) (“The juvenile needs the assistance 
of counsel to cope with problems of law, to make skilled inquiry into the facts, to insist upon regularity of the proceedings, and to 
ascertain whether he has a defense and to prepare and submit it. The child ‘requires the guiding hand of counsel at every step in the 
proceedings against him.’”) (quoting Powell v. Alabama, 287 U. S. 45, 69 (1932)).

223   9 Guam Code Ann. § 1.18(a) (2022). See 8 Guam Code Ann. § 5.50 (2022).

224   Halbert v. Michigan, 545 U.S. 605 (2005); Alabama v. Shelton, 505 U.S. 654 (2002); Argersinger v. Hamlin, 407 U.S. 25 (1972); In re 
Gault, 387 U.S. 1 (1967); Douglas v. California, 372 U.S. 353 (1963); Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963);  725 Ill. Comp. Stat. § 5/113-3(b) 
(2018) (counsel “shall” be appointed “if the court determines that the defendant is indigent and desires counsel” in every case that 
carries a penalty other than “fine only”).

225   As explained later in this report, there are various requirements in Guam law for the courts and/or the PDSC corporation to 
track and report on the cases in which counsel is appointed. This finding focuses on those cases in which counsel is not appointed.
     The judiciary’s electronic case management system shows, on a case-by-case basis, whether each defendant was represented 
by counsel, but the data is not aggregated and reported on so that it can be analyzed. For those defendants who are pro se in 
the judiciary’s data, there is no mechanism to readily determine whether they voluntarily chose to represent themselves or did so 
because they were found ineligible for an appointed attorney.

 Page 58 of 103 



44The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROVIDING COUNSEL AT CRITICAL STAGES

eligibility guidelines, a larger number of defendants are likely projected to receive appointed counsel but 

how that affects the indigent defense systems is unknown.  

FINDING 2: Constructive denial of counsel can occur because a specific 
unconflicted attorney may not be assigned to represent a defendant for 
weeks, or sometimes months, after the defendant’s arraignment.

The Guam government is responsible for ensuring that, where an attorney is appointed to represent an 

indigent defendant, that appointed attorney is able to provide effective representation.226 In United States v. 

Cronic, the U.S. Supreme Court explains that deficiencies in indigent defense systems can make any lawyer 

– even the best lawyer – perform in a non-adversarial way that results in a “constructive” denial of counsel.227

Whether a defendant is in- or out-of-custody, their initial appearance before a judicial officer is the 

proceeding on Guam that triggers the attachment of the right to counsel under Rothgery v. Gillespie 

County.228 From that moment forward, every indigent defendant has the right to be effectively represented 

by appointed counsel during every critical stage of their case, unless they make an informed and intelligent 

waiver of their right to counsel. The right to counsel guaranteed to an indigent defendant is the right to be 

represented by an attorney who does not have a conflict of interest.229

An indigent defendant who was “booked and confined” at the time of their arrest receives an appointed 

attorney at their magistrate hearing, held within 48 hours of their arrest. An indigent defendant who was 

“booked and released” at the time of their arrest receives an appointed attorney at their arraignment, 

which typically occurs approximately 364 days after the person was arrested on a misdemeanor and just 

shy of three years after the person was arrested on a felony. Regardless of whether counsel is appointed 

at a magistrate hearing or at an arraignment, the primary division will be appointed unless they or the 

magistrate are aware at the time of the proceeding that the primary division has a conflict of interest in 

representing the particular defendant in their particular case.

226   See, e.g., McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771 n.14 (1970) (“It has long been recognized that the right to counsel is the right 
to the effective assistance of counsel.”).

227   United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 659-60 (1984) (“[I]f counsel entirely fails to subject the prosecution’s case to meaningful 
adversarial testing, then there has been a denial of Sixth Amendment rights that makes the adversary process itself presumptively 
unreliable.  . . . Circumstances of that magnitude may be present on some occasions when, although counsel is available to assist the 
accused during trial, the likelihood that any lawyer, even a fully competent one, could provide effective assistance is so small that a 
presumption of prejudice is appropriate without inquiry into the actual conduct of the trial. Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45 (1932), was 
such a case.”); Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 683 (1984) (citing United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648 (1984): “The Court has 
considered Sixth Amendment claims based on actual or constructive denial of the assistance of counsel altogether, as well as claims 
based on state interference with the ability of counsel to render effective assistance to the accused.”).

228   Rothgery v. Gillespie County, 554 U.S. 191, 211 (2008). See also Michigan v. Jackson, 475 U.S. 625, 629 n.3 (1986); Brewer v. Williams, 
430 U.S. 387, 388-89 (1977).

229   See, e.g., Wood v. Georgia, 450 U.S. 261, 271 (1981) (“Where a constitutional right to counsel exists, our Sixth Amendment cases 
hold that there is a correlative right to representation that is free from conflicts of interest.”); Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 US 335, 346 (1980) 
(“Defense counsel have an ethical obligation to avoid conflicting representations and to advise the court promptly when a conflict of 
interest arises during the course of trial.”); Glasser v. United States, 315 U.S. 60, 70 (1942).

 Page 59 of 103 



45The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROVIDING COUNSEL AT CRITICAL STAGES

When the primary division is appointed to represent an indigent defendant, within a day or two the 

primary division’s leadership assigns a specific primary division attorney to defend the appointed client.230 

The specific primary division attorney who is assigned is responsible for determining whether the primary 

division must withdraw on the basis of a conflict of interest. In some instances, a conflict of interest does 

not become apparent until discovery is received from the prosecutor and/or until the defense can conduct 

an independent investigation. In other instances, though, potential conflicts of interest are apparent almost 

from the moment of appointment. Whenever conflicts of interest become known, the primary division 

attorneys sometimes ignore these conflicts in the hope of resolving the case without withdrawing. 

This practice places the needs of the “system” (attempting to minimize the demands on the alternate 

division and the appointed private attorneys) over the ethical and constitutional obligations due to 

appointed clients (the right to conflict-free effective assistance of counsel). Indigent defendants in these 

circumstances are denied conflict-free effective assistance of counsel at the critical stages of at least their 

arraignment and during the pre-trial period between arraignment and the beginning of trial, and in some 

instances during plea negotiations and at the entry of a guilty plea and also at sentencing.231

If the primary division does eventually declare a conflict, then it takes additional time for them to formally 

withdraw and for the system to sort out who the next appointed lawyer will be and for that attorney to then 

start actually working. During this time from arrest to appointment of the unconflicted attorney who will 

actually defend against the charges, defendants’ cases can go uninvestigated, exculpatory evidence may be 

lost, witnesses become unreachable, and crime scenes deteriorate. 

230   Primary division attorneys are assigned to a specific courtroom where they represent a portion of the appointed clients whose 
cases are allotted to that courtroom (and by that allotment, to a specific superior court trial judge). The only exception is that an 
attorney newly hired into the primary division is not assigned to a courtroom until they have been employed in the primary division 
for a few months. During their first few months of employment in the primary division, a newly hired attorney is assigned only to the 
rotation for magistrate hearings and arraignments.

231   See, 
• arraignments. Hamilton v. Alabama, 368 U.S. 52, 53-55 (1961). 
• during the pre-trial period between arraignment and the beginning of trial. Brewer v. Williams, 430 U.S. 387, 398-99 (1977); 
Powell v. Alabama, 387 U.S. 45, 57 (1932). 
• during plea negotiations and at the entry of a guilty plea. Lafler v. Cooper, 566 U.S. 156, 132 S. Ct. 1376, 1386 (2012); Padilla v. 
Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 373 (2010); McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771, 771 n.14 (1970). 
• during sentencing. Lafler v. Cooper, 566 U.S. 156, 132 S. Ct. 1376, 1386 (2012); Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 538 (2003); Glover v. 
United States, 531 U.S. 198, 203-04 (2001); Mempa v. Rhay, 389 U.S. 128, 134, 137 (1967). 

 Page 60 of 103 



46The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROVIDING QUALIFIED, TRAINED, AND SUPERVISED ATTORNEYS

CHAPTER VII

Providing Qualified, Trained, 
and Supervised Attorneys 
In United States v. Cronic , the U.S. Supreme Court points to the facts in the case of Powell v. Alabama232 as 

demonstrating the constructive denial of counsel.233 In the Powell case, the judge overseeing the defendants’ 

trial appointed as defense counsel a real estate lawyer who was not licensed in Alabama and was admittedly 

unfamiliar with the state’s rules of criminal procedure.234 The Powell Court concluded that defendants 

require the “guiding hand” of counsel;235 that is, the attorneys a government provides to represent indigent 

people must be qualified and trained to help those people advocate for their stated legal interests.

Although attorneys graduate from law school with a strong understanding of the principles of law and legal 

theory and generally know how to think like a lawyer, no law school graduate enters the legal profession 

automatically knowing how to be a criminal defense lawyer.236 Expertise and skill must be developed. Just as 

one would not go to a dermatologist for heart surgery, a real estate or divorce lawyer cannot be expected to 

handle a complex criminal case competently. Attorneys must know what legal tasks need to be considered 

in each and every case they handle and must know how to perform all of those tasks.

To ensure that attorneys continue to be competent from year to year to represent indigent defendants in 

the types of cases they are assigned, national standards require the indigent defense system to provide 

attorneys with access to a “systematic and comprehensive” training program,237 at which attorney 

232   Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 53-56 (1932). 

233   United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 659-60 (1984) (“[I]f counsel entirely fails to subject the prosecution’s case to meaningful 
adversarial testing, then there has been a denial of Sixth Amendment rights that makes the adversary process itself presumptively 
unreliable. . . . Circumstances of that magnitude may be present on some occasions when, although counsel is available to assist the 
accused during trial, the likelihood that any lawyer, even a fully competent one, could provide effective assistance is so small that a 
presumption of prejudice is appropriate without inquiry into the actual conduct of the trial. Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45 (1932), was 
such a case.”)

234   A retired local Alabama attorney who had not practiced in years was also appointed to assist in the representation of all nine 
co-defendants.

235   Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 68-69 (1932) (“The right to be heard would be, in many cases, of little avail if it did not 
comprehend the right to be heard by counsel. Even the intelligent and educated layman has small and sometimes no skill in the 
science of law. If charged with crime, he is incapable, generally, of determining for himself whether the indictment is good or bad. He 
is unfamiliar with the rules of evidence. Left without the aid of counsel he may be put on trial without a proper charge, and convicted 
upon incompetent evidence, or evidence irrelevant to the issue or otherwise inadmissible. He lacks both the skill and knowledge 
adequately to prepare his defense, even though he may have a perfect one. He requires the guiding hand of counsel at every step in 
the proceedings against him. Without it, though he be not guilty, he faces the danger of conviction because he does not know how 
to establish his innocence.”).

236   Christopher Sabis and Daniel Webert, Understanding the Knowledge Requirement of Attorney Competence: A Roadmap 
for Novice Attorneys, 15 Geo. J. Legal Ethics 915, 915 (2001-2002) (“[B]ecause legal education has long been criticized as being out of 
touch with the realities of legal practice and because novice attorneys often lack substantive experience, meeting the knowledge 
requirements of attorney competence may be particularly difficult for a lawyer who recently graduated from law school or who 
enters practice as a solo practitioner.”).

237   National Advisory Comm’n on Crim. Justice Standards and Goals, Report of the Task Force on the Courts, ch. 13 (The 
Defense), std. 13.16 (1973). See also American Bar Ass’n, Criminal Justice Standards for the Defense Function, std. 4-1.12(b) (4th ed. 
2017).

 Page 61 of 103 



47The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROVIDING QUALIFIED, TRAINED, AND SUPERVISED ATTORNEYS

attendance is compulsory.238 Training must be tailored to the types and levels of cases for which the attorney 

is appointed.239 For example, an attorney who is appointed in drug-related cases must be trained in the 

latest forensic sciences and case law related to drugs. Ongoing training, therefore, is an active part of the job 

of being an indigent defense system attorney.

Attorneys who were once well-qualified and well-trained can, for any number of reasons, lose their 

competency to handle cases over time, and indigent people do not get to choose which attorney is 

assigned to represent them. National standards require that all indigent defense system attorneys must 

be “supervised and systematically reviewed” to ensure that they continue to provide effective assistance of 

counsel to each and every indigent client.240 Implicit within supervision is that the supervisor has authority 

to ensure an attorney is no longer assigned if they are no longer competent. 

For all of these reasons, national standards require that each attorney must have the qualifications, 

training, and experience necessary for each specific type of case to which they are appointed.241 As national 

standards explain, an attorney’s ability to provide effective representation in a criminal case depends on 

their familiarity with the “substantive criminal law and the law of criminal procedure and its application in 

the particular jurisdiction.”242 The American Bar Association observed over 30 years ago that “[c]riminal law 

is a complex and difficult legal area, and the skills necessary for provision of a full range of services must be 

carefully developed. Moreover, the consequences of mistakes in defense representation may be substantial, 

including wrongful conviction and death or the loss of liberty.”243

FINDING 3: Guam does not have adequate attorney qualification, training, 
and supervision standards. 

PDSC corporation. The PDSC board is responsible for establishing rules and regulations regarding 

employees of the PDSC corporation, including their selection, retention, and compensation.244 The 

PDSC corporation’s executive director has the final statutory authority to hire attorneys for all of the 

divisions within the PDSC corporation and is also responsible for training and supervising them, all in 

compliance with any rules, regulations, or policies established by the PDSC board.245 In practice, all of these 

responsibilities are carried out on a day-to-day basis by the PDSC corporation’s deputy director for the 

primary division and by the alternate division’s managing attorney for the alternate division.246

238   American Bar Ass’n, ABA Ten Principles of a Public Defense Delivery System, principle 9 & cmt. (2002).

239   American Bar Ass’n, Criminal Justice Standards for the Defense Function, std. 4-1.12(c) (4th ed. 2017).

240   See American Bar Ass’n, ABA Ten Principles of a Public Defense Delivery System, principle 10 (2002). 

241   See, e.g., American Bar Ass’n, ABA Ten Principles of a Public Defense Delivery System, principle 6 & cmt. (2002).

242   National Legal Aid & Def. Ass’n, Performance Guidelines for Criminal Defense Representation, guideline 1.2(a) (1995).

243   American Bar Ass’n, Standards for Criminal Justice: Providing Defense Services, § 5-1.5 & cmt. (3d ed. 1992).

244   4 Guam Code Ann. § 4105 (2022); 12 Guam Code Ann. § 11110 (2022). See 4 Guam Code Ann. § 6302 (2022). See, e.g., Guam Public 
Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 06-11, The Gubetnamenton Guahan Competitive Wage Act of 2011 (Public Law 
30-196) (adopted June 7, 2011) (attaching as Exh. A the “Hay Pay Scale” showing intended Oct. 1, 2010, compensation levels for all PDSC 
employees).

245   12 Guam Code Ann. § 11109 (2022).

246   See, e.g., “Agreement Between the Judicial Council of Guam and the Public Defender Service Corporation” recitals F, G 
(October 1, 2019).

 Page 62 of 103 



48The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROVIDING QUALIFIED, TRAINED, AND SUPERVISED ATTORNEYS

Attorney qualification standards. The only required qualification for a person to be hired as an attorney 

at the PDSC corporation is that they be an attorney either licensed by Guam (an “active” member of the 

Guam Bar Association) or admitted to and in good standing in “the highest court of any state, district, 

commonwealth, territory247 or possession of the United States” (a “temporary active” member of the Guam 

Bar Association). 

The lack of additional mandatory qualifications does not mean PDSC corporation attorneys are unqualified. 

Indeed, the PDSC corporation actively recruits off-island by distributing job listings248 to the National 

Association for Public Defense and creates interview panels249 to try to make good hires. The lack of required 

qualifications means that the quality of attorneys hired may be dependent on the personalities of the 

people making the hires.

New attorney training standards. While some attorneys have years of experience practicing law when they 

are hired within the PDSC corporation, other attorneys come to the PDSC corporation straight out of law 

school with no practice experience at all. There is no formal or standardized training program for attorneys 

newly hired at either the primary division or the alternate division. Instead, less experienced attorneys within 

each division are encouraged to watch more experienced division attorneys in court and seek guidance 

from them. 

The more senior primary division attorneys typically “try to take on a new hire” and “show them the ropes,” 

such as how to provide advice to clients about immigration and deportation, which motions to file in 

specific situations, and how to make an effective bail argument. 

For newly hired attorneys at the alternate division, the alternate division’s managing attorney determines 

on a case-by-case basis what training that attorney needs. For example, if a newly hired alternate division 

attorney is new to Guam, then the attorney will be specifically assigned to shadow another alternate division 

attorney and the managing attorney second-chairs a few of the new attorney’s court proceedings. 

On-going training standards. All Guam attorneys are required to obtain ten hours of continuing legal 

education each year, of which at least two hours must be legal ethics or professionalism.250 Guam’s statutes 

247   The Sixth Amendment Center respectfully acknowledges Guam’s prohibition against the use of the term “territory” and uses 
it in this report only when quoting directly from legal documents or the writing of others.  See 1 Guam Code Ann. § 420 (2022) (“In 
the interest of promoting self-respect and in recognition of the necessarily pejorative, diminishing and colonial aspects of the term 
territory within the context of American law, the term territory of Guam or its derivatives, such as territorial, shall not be used in direct 
titular association with the island, people, or government of Guam or for the purposes of direct self-description, in any government 
document or otherwise as part of any government title.”).

248   To apply for an open attorney position, an applicant must, in response to a job posting, submit an employment application 
packet to the government of Guam. The application packet includes the applicant’s resume, transcript, bar license, and character 
& standing or fitness reports. As part of the PDSC administration’s duties on behalf of all of its divisions, the sole human resources 
specialist within the PDSC administration receives and reviews each application and directs it to whichever division is hiring for the 
attorney position.  

249   The interview panels are made up of: an equal employment opportunity representative, whose only role is to ensure that 
the process complies with Guam’s equal employment opportunity laws; the division’s supervising attorney (at the primary division, 
either the executive director or the deputy director; at the alternate division, the managing attorney); and some number of additional 
attorneys from the division. Ahead of each interview, the interview panel prepares a written “interview plan” containing the questions 
they will ask of an applicant. None of the divisions within the PDSC corporation have any formal or written criteria to determine 
whether to hire or reject an applicant for an attorney position. 

250   Guam Rule Governing Mandatory Continuing Legal Education.

 Page 63 of 103 



49The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROVIDING QUALIFIED, TRAINED, AND SUPERVISED ATTORNEYS

and court rules do not establish any further or more specific training requirements for attorneys who are 

appointed to represent indigent people, for example, related to the types of cases in which they represent 

indigent people.

Even within the PDSC corporation, none of the divisions have any requirements for their attorneys to receive 

training related to the types of cases to which they are appointed. No person within the PDSC corporation is 

formally assigned responsibility for ensuring that PDSC corporation attorneys receive the on-going training 

they need to provide effective assistance of counsel. 

The PDSC corporation does not have a budget line item dedicated to the costs of training appointed 

attorneys (nor for training of non-attorney staff). From January 2014 through November 2017, the PDSC 

board regularly approved the expenditure of the PDSC corporation’s lapsed funds to provide training for 

some number of PDSC corporation attorneys and non-attorney staff.251 There is no apparent indication that 

the PDSC board has approved any training expenditures from December 2017 through the present, so it 

is unclear whether the PDSC corporation (or any of its individual divisions) has spent any funds to provide 

training during those years. 

To the extent that each attorney who represents indigent people on Guam voluntarily chooses to obtain 

training relevant to that representation, they face greater barriers to doing so than attorneys in most of the 

jurisdictions that provide a Sixth Amendment right to counsel. This is because Guam attorneys must obtain 

training either on-Island or off-island, and both have limitations.

The training available on-island in the types of cases that carry a right to appointed counsel is provided by 

either the PDSC corporation or by some aspect of the Guam legal community. By far the greatest portion 

of Guam’s attorneys who practice in the areas that have a right to counsel are the attorneys employed with 

the PDSC corporation, so there is little need or desire for the broader Guam legal community to provide or 

receive training in these practice areas. As a result, unless the PDSC corporation provides it, there usually is 

not any on-island training for the skills, procedures, and substantive law that appointed attorneys need.  

From time to time, the PDSC corporation provides in-house training (open to all PDSC corporation attorneys 

and to all appointed private attorneys, and usually certified for continuing legal education credits) that 

focuses on current issues of indigent defense system attorneys in representing their appointed clients. 

Occasionally, the PDSC corporation brings national defense experts to Guam to provide training, and it 

makes these training programs available to all of Guam’s indigent defense system attorneys (both PDSC 

corporation attorneys and appointed private attorneys). When PDSC provides in-house training, the PDSC 

corporation attorneys are required to attend unless they must be in court, while attendance is optional for 

appointed  private attorneys. Many attorneys take advantage of every training opportunity offered. From 

251   See, e.g., Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 06-14, The Use of Alternate Public Defender Lapsed 
Funds to Cover Costs Associated With Attorney Eric R. Overton’s Attendance at the California Attorneys for Criminal Justice (CACJ) 
Annual Fall Criminal Defense Seminar (adopted Jan. 14, 2014), through  Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. 
PDSC 04-18, The Use of Lapsed Funds for PDSC/APD Attorneys & Investigator to Attend a Trial Clinic With Trainers Laurie Shanks, 
Terry Kindlon & Faheemah Downs January 17-19, 2018 Tumon, Guam (adopted Nov. 28, 2017). 

 Page 64 of 103 



50The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROVIDING QUALIFIED, TRAINED, AND SUPERVISED ATTORNEYS

time to time, the Guam judiciary sponsors on-island training for specialty court teams and stakeholders that 

include primary division and alternate division attorneys.

There is a wealth of training available off-island in every type of case and every aspect of providing 

representation, but it is a significant expenditure of both time and money for any Guam attorney to attend 

these training programs in person. It is increasingly possible and common for attorneys to virtually attend 

training programs being presented anywhere, but this seldom allows for the hands-on skills training and 

case development workshops that are a large part of the training needed by appointed trial attorneys.  

The PDSC corporation attorneys report being authorized to travel outside of Guam for training opportunities 

from time to time, and the PDSC corporation pays for the costs of the attorneys to attend these off-island 

programs. The off-island training programs attended by PDSC corporation attorneys allow the attorneys 

to obtain extensive and focused, hands-on training, geared toward the types of cases they are appointed 

to defend; including, for example, programs offered by the National Association for Public Defense, bring-

your-own-case criminal defense appellate training, specialty court training for the entire team (sometimes 

sponsored by the Guam judiciary), youth defender advocacy, and training on national standards for public 

defense attorneys. In addition, there are off-island training opportunities offered by the Pacific Judicial 

Council.

The primary division attorneys meet all together every weekday morning at 8:30 a.m. (to discuss who will 

cover which courtrooms, any current issues, and any updates on policy change), meet informally with one 

another every day, and hold “brainstorming sessions” about their cases every other month. Every attorney in 

the primary division has an “open-door policy,” and primary division attorneys say their questions never go 

unanswered - “we are spoiled by our culture” where the primary division attorneys help each other out and 

closely collaborate with one another. 

Attorney performance standards. While there are many national standards for attorney performance in 

representing defendants charged with crimes, Guam has not through statute, court rule, or policy made 

any of these standards binding on its indigent defense system attorneys, and it has not promulgated any 

such standards of its own. As a result, there are no mandatory standards against which to train Guam’s 

indigent defense system attorneys who are appointed in adult criminal trial-level cases,252 nor are there any 

mandatory standards against which to measure their performance.

The PDSC board has not approved any standards governing attorney performance in adult representation, 

so there is no internal standard against which to train PDSC corporation attorneys who are appointed in 

adult criminal trial-level cases, nor is there any standard against which to measure their performance. 

252   In 2018, the PDSC corporation received technical assistance from the Center for Justice Innovation (formerly known as the 
Center for Court Innovation) through a U.S. Bureau of Justice Assistance grant to develop attorney performance standards and help 
grow holistic defense capacity by creating a plan for hiring a social worker. Development of the attorney performance standards for 
representation in adult criminal cases stalled during the pandemic and had not yet been adopted at the time of this report. See PDSC 
Attorney Performance Standards (draft, as of Mar. 7, 2023). 

In July 2022, the PDSC board adopted performance guidelines for juvenile defense representation, which its divisions have 
begun to use for training in juvenile representation. PDSC Performance Guidelines for Juvenile Defense Represented (rev’d July 20, 
2022). 

Performance standards adopted by the PDSC board are not binding on appointed private attorneys.

 Page 65 of 103 



51The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROVIDING QUALIFIED, TRAINED, AND SUPERVISED ATTORNEYS

Supervision. These same informal methods of training primary division attorneys (described above) are also 

the informal methods primarily used to supervise all of the primary division attorneys, in addition to annual 

performance evaluations conducted by the PDSC corporation’s deputy director (or occasionally by the 

executive director). As one PDSC corporation attorney put it, it is important to supervise PDSC corporation 

attorneys in a way that does not alienate them, because the attorneys “have plenty of options” for other 

employment on Guam.

Any on-going supervision of alternate division attorneys is informal and provided “only as needed.” For 

example, no one purports to supervise the part-time alternate division attorney who handles all magistrate 

hearings and arraignments. The alternate division’s managing attorney from time-to-time conducts 

performance evaluations of alternate division attorneys, but the frequency of performance reviews varies 

depending on how long the attorney has been at the alternate division and how many years of experience 

they have as an attorney – ranging from once a year to every 18 months or longer. The most frequent 

complaint from alternate division clients, received almost daily, is from in-custody clients who feel they are 

lacking contact with their alternate division attorney, which the alternate division responds to by having its 

(non-attorney) management officer speak to the client, informing the responsible attorney of the call, and 

where immediate contact is needed having either the attorney or an alternate division investigator visit the 

client in detention.

Appointed private attorneys. The judiciary also does not have adequate attorney qualification, training, and 

supervision standards for appointed private attorneys. 

Attorney qualification standards. Under normal circumstances, no one actively recruits attorneys to become 

a panel attorney. In late 2022, in response to the lessening number of panel attorneys, the then-chief justice 

reached out to all the private law firms on Guam asking each one to have at least one of their associate 

attorneys participate as a panel attorney. 

Guam’s court rules require that every panel attorney must be a member of the Guam Bar Association, with 

“when applicable, prior criminal trial experience, significant involvement in serious or complex criminal 

cases, knowledge of the Rules of Criminal Procedure, and the bail statutes, knowledge of other relevant 

areas of criminal practice, clinical experience or participation in trial advocacy programs, prior juvenile [or] 

guardian ad litem and/or appellate experience.”253 Attorneys who want to be a panel attorney are required 

to submit their “Private Attorney Panel Application” to the Supreme Court of Guam,254 and the court clerk 

provides copies of each application to the PAP standing committee members.

The PAP standing committee reviews the application to determine “whether the applicant possesses the 

qualifications required for the PAP.”255 Standing committee members assess the qualifications of applicants 

either to be approved for felonies, misdemeanors, juvenile cases, or appeals, or to be rejected. If the standing 

253   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.3.(b)(2)(A).

254   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.3.(b)(2). 

255   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.3.(b)(2)(D).

 Page 66 of 103 



52The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROVIDING QUALIFIED, TRAINED, AND SUPERVISED ATTORNEYS

committee determines that an applicant does possess the required qualifications, the standing committee 

is required by the court rules to approve the application, which is then distributed to all justices and judges 

to allow them to comment.256 Ultimately, though, it is the chief justice who determines whether each 

applicant is placed on the panel attorney list and for which case type(s).257 There is no indication that any 

applicant has been rejected in recent history. 

The court rules intend for the panel to have 10 to 15 panel attorneys available for appointment in each of five 

categories: felony; misdemeanor; juvenile, including juvenile delinquency and person in need of services 

cases; guardian ad litem in juvenile cases; and appellate.258 At no time during the past five years has there 

been the intended number of panel attorneys.

Training standards. There is no requirement that private attorneys who are appointed to represent indigent 

people on Guam (whether panel attorneys or non-panel attorneys) obtain any training in the types of 

cases to which they are appointed. Whenever the PDSC corporation provides in-house training, including 

when it brings national defense experts to Guam to provide training, all appointed private attorneys (both 

panel attorneys and non-panel attorneys) are allowed to attend if they choose to do so, and these training 

programs are usually certified for continuing legal education credits. 

As the number of panel attorneys has decreased and the number of involuntary appointments of non-

panel attorneys has increased, the Guam judiciary requested the PDSC corporation to design and provide 

a training series expressly for the benefit of appointed private attorneys. Beginning February 2023, the 

PDSC corporation began presenting twice-monthly training programs that are certified for continuing 

legal education credits - the “Indigent Criminal Defense Series” -designed by the PDSC corporation’s 

deputy director. Appointed private attorneys are not required to attend, but it is the judiciary’s hope that 

the existence of this training program will encourage private attorneys to become panel attorneys and will 

provide them with the skills and knowledge necessary to provide effective representation to their appointed 

clients. 

Attorney performance standards. As stated above, Guam has not through statute, court rule, or policy 

made any national performance standards binding on its indigent defense system attorneys, and it has not 

promulgated any such standards of its own. As a result, there are no mandatory standards against which 

to train appointed private attorneys nor are there any mandatory standards against which to measure their 

performance.

Supervision. Although the supreme court “create[d] a Standing Committee to oversee the Private Attorney 

Panel,”259 the court rules do not provide any method or authority by which the standing committee can 

actually oversee the provision of counsel by panel attorneys who are appointed to represent indigent 

256   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.3.(b)(2).

257   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.3.(b)(2)(F). 

258   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.3.(b)(2)(G).

259   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.3.(b)(1)(A). 

 Page 67 of 103 



53The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROVIDING QUALIFIED, TRAINED, AND SUPERVISED ATTORNEYS

defendants. There is no mechanism for anyone to evaluate or supervise the private attorneys (panel 

attorneys and non-panel attorneys) in their representation of appointed clients, other than through court 

sanctions or referral to the Guam Bar Association for disciplinary proceedings (and no justice system 

stakeholder can recall any disciplinary referral ever having been made in relation to an appointed private 

attorney’s representation of a trial-level client). 

FINDING 4: The courts’ practice of appointing non-panel attorneys without 
determining whether they have the necessary knowledge, skills, and abilities 
to provide effective representation, and then failing to provide independent 
supervision of those attorneys, can cause a constructive denial of counsel.

Until early 2023, when the court had to appoint a non-panel attorney, the judge presiding over the case 

would simply appoint an attorney whom that judge thought would be able to provide effective assistance 

of counsel in the particular type of case involved. There were no formal qualifications that an attorney was 

required to have before being appointed in a particular type of case, and there was nothing to ensure that 

involuntary appointments were distributed equitably among the private attorneys of the Guam bar.

Beginning in approximately February 2023, the courts changed their procedures for the involuntary 

appointment of non-panel private attorneys. Today, the supreme court compiles and maintains a list of the 

non-panel attorneys whom a judge can appoint.260 To compile the list, the supreme court clerk begins with 

the list of all attorneys who are active members of the Guam Bar Association. Then, using the information 

supplied by the attorneys as part of their licensure requirements, the supreme court clerk removes from the 

list everyone who is an employee of the federal government, an employee of any Guam governmental body, 

or an employee of any legal services provider. The resulting alphabetical list of non-panel attorneys contains 

all attorneys in private practice who maintain an active Guam license even though they may not be actively 

practicing law or may not be presently living and working on Guam.261 

The court does not consider the qualifications or experience of the non-panel attorneys in making 

appointments.262 As a result, the court has at times appointed non-panel attorneys who lack any experience 

or training in criminal defense to represent indigent defendants facing felony and/or misdemeanor 

prosecution in the trial court. For example:

• a felony case was assigned to a lawyer who had never in his career been to court; 

• a homicide case was assigned to an estate lawyer;

• an environmental lawyer was appointed to a human trafficking case; 

• an attorney who works full-time as a teacher was assigned a felony case.

260   See Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.3(a) (as amended Nov. 17, 2023); Promulgation Order 06-006-25, Amendments to 
Miscellaneous Rule 1.1.3 of the Local Rules of the Superior Court of Guam (Indigent Defense Rule) (Guam Nov. 17, 2023). 

261   For example, a Guam attorney with an active license who goes to the United States to care for a family member for six months 
is not expected to change their address with the Guam Bar Association. 

262   Some judicial officers say there is an unwritten internal agreement among the judicial officers of the superior court to only 
appoint non-panel attorneys in felony cases who have been licensed to practice law for more than seven years, while others say there 
is no such agreement.

 Page 68 of 103 



54The Right to Counsel on Guam

PROVIDING QUALIFIED, TRAINED, AND SUPERVISED ATTORNEYS

The court has also, at times, appointed non-panel attorneys who are not living or practicing law on Guam. 

For example, an attorney who works for his law firm in its Japan office was appointed to a case because the 

court’s list does not show office locations.

Non-panel attorneys who are located off-island at the time of appointment or who believe they lack the 

necessary competence to effectively handle the type of case to which they have been appointed can, and 

frequently do, file a motion to withdraw. The judges usually grant motions to withdraw that are filed for 

these reasons, but not always. When an appointed private attorney is allowed to withdraw, the court must 

appoint another private attorney, and all of this results in greater and greater periods of time during which 

the indigent person is not being represented in their case.

The court’s new process of considering every Guam private attorney as available for the court to appoint 

has provoked varying views, ranging from the belief that indigent people should not be provided an 

involuntarily conscripted and unwilling attorney, to the idea that every attorney should willingly accept 

court-appointed work as a public service.

 Page 69 of 103 



55The Right to Counsel on Guam

SUFFICIENT TIME & RESOURCES

CHAPTER VIII

Sufficient Time & Resources
The U.S. Supreme Court in Powell v. Alabama notes that the lack of “sufficient time” to consult with counsel 

and to prepare an adequate defense was one of the primary reasons for finding that the defendants were 

constructively denied counsel.263 As one state supreme court observed, “as the practice of criminal law has 

become more specialized and technical, and as the standards for what constitutes reasonably effective 

assistance of counsel have changed, the time an appointed attorney must devote to an indigent’s defense 

has increased considerably.”264 

Impeding counsel’s time “is not to proceed promptly in the calm spirit of regulated justice, but to go forward 

with the haste of the mob,” the Powell Court explained.265 The lack of sufficient time may be caused by any 

number of things, including but not limited to payment arrangements that create financial incentives for 

lawyers to dispose of cases quickly rather than in the best interests of their clients, or excessive workloads. 

Whatever the cause, insufficient time to prepare and present an effective defense for each indigent 

defendant is a marker of the constructive denial of counsel.

No matter how complex or simple a case may seem at the outset, no matter how little or how much time 

an attorney wants to spend on a case, and no matter how financial matters weigh on an attorney, there are 

certain fundamental tasks each attorney must do on behalf of every client in every criminal case. Even in the 

simplest case, the attorney must, among other things: 

• meet with and interview the client; 

• attempt to secure pretrial release if the client remains in custody (but, before doing so, learn from the 

client what conditions of release are most favorable to the client); 

• keep the client informed throughout the duration of proceedings; 

• request and review discovery from the prosecution; 

• independently investigate the facts of the case, which may include learning about the defendant’s 

background and life, interviewing both lay and expert witnesses, viewing the crime scene, examining 

items of physical evidence, and locating and reviewing documentary evidence; 

• assess each element of the charged crime to determine whether the prosecution can prove facts 

sufficient to establish guilt and whether there are justification or excuse defenses that should be 

asserted; 

• prepare appropriate pretrial motions and read and respond to the prosecution’s motions; 

• prepare for and appear at necessary pretrial hearings, and preserve the client’s rights in those 

hearings; 

263   Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 59 (1932).

264   State v. Wigley, 624 So.2d 425, 428 (La. 1993).

265   Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 59 (1932).

 Page 70 of 103 



56The Right to Counsel on Guam

SUFFICIENT TIME & RESOURCES

• develop and continually reassess the theory of the case; 

• assess all possible sentencing outcomes that could occur if the client is convicted of the charged 

crime or a lesser offense; 

• negotiate plea options with the prosecution, including sentencing outcomes; and 

• all the while prepares for the case to go to trial (because the decision about whether to plead or go to 

trial belongs to the client, not to the attorney).266

The time an appointed attorney can devote to accomplishing each of these tasks in each defendant’s case 

depends on the total amount of time the attorney has available for all professional endeavors and the total 

amount of work the attorney must accomplish in that available time. This discussion is often framed in 

terms of “caseloads” or “workloads.”

Caseload refers to the raw, quantifiable number of cases an attorney handles during a particular period of 

time. A lawyer’s total annual caseload is the count of all indigent representation system cases in which the 

lawyer provides representation during a given year, starting with the number of cases the attorney had 

open at the beginning of the year and adding to that the number of cases assigned to the attorney during 

the year.

In addition to considering the raw number of cases of each type that an attorney handles, the U.S. 

Department of Justice has advised, and national standards agree, that “caseload limits are no replacement 

for a careful analysis of a public defender’s workload . . ..”267 Workload includes the cases an attorney is 

appointed to handle within a given system (i.e., caseload), but it also includes the cases an attorney takes 

on privately, public representation cases to which the attorney is appointed by other jurisdictions, and 

other professional obligations such as obtaining and providing training and supervision.268 Further, national 

standards agree that the lawyer’s workload must take into consideration “all of the factors affecting a public 

defender’s ability to adequately represent clients, such as the complexity of cases on a defender’s docket, 

the defender’s skill and experience, the support services available to the defender, and the defender’s other 

duties.”269

266   McCoy v. Louisiana, 584 U.S. ___, 138 S. Ct. 1500, No. 16-8255 at 6 (2018); Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 751 (1983). See Guam R. 
Prof’l Conduct r. 1.2(a); National Legal Aid & Defender Ass’n, Performance Guidelines for Criminal Defense Representation 
(1995).

267   Statement of Interest of the United States at 9, Wilbur v. City of Mount Vernon, No. C11-1100RSL, ECF No. 322 (W.D. Wash. filed 
Dec. 4, 2013), http://www.justice.gov/crt/about/spl/documents/wilbursoi8-14-13.pdf; American Bar Ass’n, ABA Ten Principles of a 
Public Defense Delivery System, principle 5 cmt. (2002). 

268   American Bar Ass’n, ABA Ten Principles of a Public Defense Delivery System, principle 5 cmt. (2002).

269   Statement of Interest of the United States at 9, Wilbur v. City of Mount Vernon, (W.D. Wash. filed Dec. 4, 2013) (No. C11-1100RSL), 
ECF No. 322, http://www.justice.gov/crt/about/spl/documents/wilbursoi8-14-13.pdf. See, e.g., 
Mary Sue Backus & Paul Marcus, The Right to Counsel in Criminal Cases, A National Crisis, 57 Hastings L. J. 1031, 1125 (2006); National 
Study Comm’n on Defense Servs., Guidelines for Legal Defense Systems in the United States § 5.1 (1976).

 Page 71 of 103 



57The Right to Counsel on Guam

SUFFICIENT TIME & RESOURCES

FINDING 5: Guam does not collect and analyze the necessary information to 
accurately determine the caseloads or workloads of indigent defense system 
attorneys.

Certain information is necessary for policymakers and justice system stakeholders to plan for the future 

needs of Guam’s indigent defense system and to ensure that there are a sufficient number of attorneys with 

sufficient time to provide effective representation to each indigent defendant. This information includes 

how much time is actually required to effectively represent each indigent defendant in each type of case, 

how many cases each indigent defense system attorney is handling in a given year, what other workload 

responsibilities each indigent defense system attorney has in a given year, and whether each indigent 

defense system attorney is working with sufficient support to allow them to dedicate adequate time to each 

indigent defendant’s case. 

Guam’s indigent defense system caseload & workload data. Guam’s court rules require the primary division 

and the alternate division to each prepare and submit to the administrator of the courts monthly reports of 

the number of court appointments they receive.270 From October 1, 2004 through September 30, 2020, the 

PDSC corporation was also required by its annually renewed contract with the judicial council to submit to 

the judicial council “a quarterly report of number and type of cases transferred from [the primary division] 

to [the alternate division] and cases to which [the alternate division] is appointed by the court directly.”271 

The clerks of the supreme court and the superior court are each required by Guam’s court rules to maintain, 

for their respective courts, “a public record of assignments to the [primary division], [the alternate division], 

the [panel attorneys], and [non-panel attorneys] as well as current statistical data reflecting the proration of 

appointments.”272

Guam has in place adequate infrastructure and technology to track, report, analyze, and understand the 

caseloads and workloads of appointed attorneys,273 but those mechanisms are not being used effectively. 

During this evaluation, the primary division, the alternate division, and the judiciary each independently 

provided extensive information about the cases assigned to indigent defense system attorneys for fiscal 

years 2018 through 2022 and a portion of fiscal year 2023.274 Despite the extensive caseload data provided, it 

has significant limitations.

270   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.3.(c)(2).

271   See, e.g., “Agreement Between the Judicial Council of Guam and the Public Defender Service Corporation” § 7 
(October 1, 2019).

272   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.3.(b)(4)(D). See also Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.3.(c)(1).

273   The primary division and the alternate division both independently use an Abacus case management system, which allows 
them to generate reports showing, in theory, how many open cases each division attorney has of each type of case at any given 
moment. The civil division uses a different Clio case management system.

274   The primary division and the alternate division each independently provided, during this evaluation, data showing the number 
of cases of each type that each division’s attorneys had open at the start of each fiscal year, were assigned during each fiscal year, and 
disposed during each fiscal year. 

The judiciary provided, during this evaluation, data showing the number of cases of each type that were assigned to each private 
attorney (both panel attorneys and non-panel attorneys) during each fiscal year.

 Page 72 of 103 



58The Right to Counsel on Guam

SUFFICIENT TIME & RESOURCES

The primary division, the alternate division, and the judiciary do not use the same case types in their data. 

6AC obtained from each of the data providers, to the extent possible, the definitions they use for each 

of their case types and then grouped the data reported into broad case types as shown in the following 

table.275

6AC GROUPING

Case Type Primary Division Alternate Division Courts

Adult

Felony Felony Felony

Misdemeanor Misdemeanor Misdemeanor

Veterans Court

Juvenile

Delinquency Juvenile Juvenile

Drug Court

PINS

Proceedings

Guardianship Guardian ad Litem

Appeal Criminal Appeal Appeal

Civil

Civil Civil

Domestic

Protective Order Protective Order

Probate

Mental Health Court

Special Proceedings Special proceedings

Miscellaneous

Consultation Consultation (Court ordered)

Pro Bono

Other

For adult criminal cases at the trial-court level (the focus of this evaluation), all of the data providers seem to 

use the same definition of a “case” (or at least very similar ones). Generally, a criminal case is defined by all of 

the Guam data providers as all charges against a single defendant that arise out of a single incident.276

If an appointed attorney had zero cases at the beginning of a year, then the number of cases newly assigned 

to that attorney during that year would be the appointed attorney’s caseload. To calculate the appointed 

attorney’s actual annual caseload, one must add the number of cases that the attorney already had open at 

275   For fiscal year 2020, the primary division broke down their case types of felony and misdemeanor into even smaller categories. 
Felonies were reported in case types of: assault; adult drug court; arson; burglary; DUI; family violence; forgery; mischief/trespass; 
robbery; terrorizing; theft; home invasion; CSCC; or general jurisdiction. Misdemeanors were reported in case types of: DWI; family 
violence; or general jurisdiction.  

276   It is important to distinguish between the term “case” for purposes of caseloads and the use of criminal docket numbers in 
the court’s case management system. It seems that each criminal docket number in the court’s case management system may in 
theory constitute more than one “case” for purposes of caseloads; for example, it appears that two or more codefendants may be 
jointly charged under a single docket number, but all of the charges against each codefendant would constitute a separate case for 
purposes of caseloads. On the other hand, it seems that the judiciary may count as a single case, for purposes of caseloads, two or 
more criminal docket numbers against the same defendant when they are assigned at the same time to an appointed attorney.

 Page 73 of 103 



59The Right to Counsel on Guam

SUFFICIENT TIME & RESOURCES

the beginning of the year (sometimes referred to as the “carry-over” from previous years). None of Guam’s 

three data reporters have accurate data about the “carry-over” caseloads of indigent defense system 

attorneys:

• For appointed private attorneys, the judiciary does not maintain data on the number of appointed 

cases that each appointed private attorney already had pending at the start of a year, nor the number of 

appointed cases that each appointed private attorney closed during a year, so it is impossible to know 

the “carry-over” caseload of appointed private attorneys on Guam. The judiciary also does not collect 

or maintain data on the number or types of other non-appointed cases that private attorneys handle 

during a year, so it is impossible to know the true caseloads carried by appointed private attorneys.

• The primary division and the alternate division both maintain data on the number of appointed cases 

that each division attorney closed during a year, leading to the number of appointed cases that each 

division attorney already had pending at the start of the following year, but this data cannot be relied 

upon. The primary division and the alternate division are aware that their caseload data contains a 

significant number of cases showing as open at the start of a fiscal year that are in fact no longer open 

cases within their respective divisions. Sometimes the divisions delay changing the status of a case in 

their case management system. But the “carry-over” caseloads reflected in their data for each fiscal year 

show a significant number of theoretically open cases that are attributed to attorneys who have not 

worked within those divisions in many years; the greatest likelihood is that there is nobody within the 

two divisions who is responsible for maintaining the accuracy of the caseload data. 

The primary division, the alternate division, and the judiciary each maintain data on the number of new 

cases assigned each year. The three data reporters do not consistently use the same methods for when they 

count a case as being newly opened in their caseload data, nor for when they count a case as closed, nor 

is there any coordination among the data reporters to reflect when the same case is assigned more than 

once (for example as a result of a conflict causing a case to move from the primary division to the alternate 

division and then from the alternate division to an appointed private attorney).277 As a result, the number 

of new cases assigned each year, as reported by each of the data reporters individually and by all of them 

collectively, may undercount or may overcount the actual number of new cases. 

277   The primary division counts as a newly opened case any matter that comes into the division in any fashion. In criminal cases, 
for example, when a person walks into the primary division office for only a consultation (which occurs rarely and usually involves a 
person who has received a notice to appear but has not yet been formally charged), the primary division counts that as one new case 
within the “consultation” case type. If the defendant is formally charged, then a new file is “opened” and the consultation file should 
be “closed,” but it is unclear when or whether the primary division would ever shows a consultation case as closed in their caseload 
data if the defendant is not charged. 

The alternate division does not typically have any consultation cases, and when they do have consultations they do not typically 
count them as constituting a case. In the six years of caseload data produced during this evaluation, it seems that the alternate 
division only kept track of consultations during fiscal year 2021 and all consultations opened during that year were also closed during 
that year. 

When a primary division attorney or an alternate division attorney represents a person only during a magistrate hearing (referred 
to locally as a “limited entry”), the divisions do not count that representation as a new case. The division attorneys spend a portion 
of their available professional hours providing representation to clients during magistrate hearings - this is a part of the divisions’ 
workload - but this workload is not reflected in the number of cases newly assigned to the division attorneys each year.

The judiciary counts a new case at the moment that it appoints a private attorney (both panel attorneys and non-panel 
attorneys) to represent a client in that case, so the judiciary’s caseload data accurately reflects the number of cases, by case type, that 
were assigned to each appointed private attorney during a given year.

 Page 74 of 103 



60The Right to Counsel on Guam

SUFFICIENT TIME & RESOURCES

The three data providers also maintain data showing the number of those new cases assigned to each 

attorney. The available reliable data does not show for each attorney the number of cases carried over from 

the preceding year, so the caseloads of indigent defense system attorneys on Guam during fiscal year 2022 

are likely significantly higher for each attorney.

Each indigent defense system attorney on Guam devotes some portion of their available professional 

hours to performing work that is not reflected in their caseloads. For attorneys in the primary division and 

the alternate division, this includes for example management responsibilities, providing and/or receiving 

supervision and training, and appearing on behalf of appointed clients in therapeutic courts and/or at status 

hearings for appointed clients who are on probation. For the appointed private attorneys, this includes all 

of the professional hours they spend attending to anything other than their appointed Guam cases. The 

three data reporters do not maintain data sufficient to determine what portion of the appointed attorneys’ 

professional hours is devoted to their appointed cases and what portion is devoted elsewhere. 

FINDING 6: Guam does not have any caseload or workload standards.

Policymakers in many jurisdictions have recognized the need to set their own localized caseload and 

workload standards. Local standards are able to consider unique demands made on appointed attorneys in 

the local jurisdiction, such as the travel distance between the court and the local jail, or the prosecution’s 

charging practices. Local caseload standards are also able to address types of cases for which a jurisdiction 

provides a right to counsel, but that are not contemplated by the national standards.

The PDSC board has not established any caseload or workload limits or standards, either formally or 

informally.278 The attorneys employed within the PDSC corporation believe that they cannot decline to 

accept a case, when appointed by a court, based on having an excessive caseload. The PDSC board has, 

however, frequently required the PDSC corporation to cease providing representation in certain types of 

cases because the existing caseloads of the PDSC corporation were higher than would allow its attorneys to 

provide effective assistance of counsel under the Guam Rules of Professional Conduct.279 This makes clear 

278   “The PDSC corporation leadership is actively looking for grant funding for the purpose of developing Guam-specific caseload 
and workload standards.

279   From June 19, 1995 through March 31, 1996, the PDSC board directed the  PDSC executive director to “limit the case load 
of the Public Defender Service Corporation with regard to civil and domestic cases to require that the Corporation only handle 
domestic and civil cases which involve violence or the threat of violence and need immediate action, and in addition uncontested 
guardianships” effective June 19, 1995 and continuing “until the case load is substantially reduced to meet the requirements of the 
Ethics Code, or by the addition of attorneys to help meet the burden.” Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. 
PDSC 95-01, Limiting the Case Load of the Public Defender Service Corporation Temporarily (adopted June 13, 1995); Guam Public 
Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 96-01, Lifting the Temporary Limitation of Caseload in Civil and Domestic Cases 
of the Public Defender Service Corporation (adopted Mar. 15, 1996).
     Effective April 1, 1997, the PDSC board directed the PDSC executive director to “limit the caseload of the Public Defender Service 
Corporation with regard to civil and domestic cases to require that the Corporation handle only domestic and civil cases which involve 
violence or the threat of violence and in addition uncontested guardianships primarily for medical insurance purposes” effective 
April 1, 1997 and continuing “until the caseload is substantially reduced to meet the requirements of the Ethics Code, by the addition 
of support staff to help meet the burden, or until such time as the Board may direct.” Guam Public Defender Service Corporation 
Resolution No. PDSC 97-01, Limiting the Caseload of the Public Defender Service Corporation Temporarily (adopted Mar. 31, 1997).
     Effective November 9, 1999, the PDSC board directed the PDSC executive director to “limit the caseload of the Corporation with 
regard to civil and domestic cases, to require that the Corporation handle only domestic and civil cases which involve violence or the 

 Page 75 of 103 



61The Right to Counsel on Guam

SUFFICIENT TIME & RESOURCES

that the PDSC board believes it has the power to limit the caseloads of the PDSC corporation attorneys, yet 

the PDSC board has not established any caseload standards, nor has it established any procedures by which 

the individual attorneys or leadership of the three divisions can bring excessive caseloads to the attention of 

the board.

Guam’s court rules do not establish any caseload or workload limits or standards for the private attorneys 

who are appointed to represent indigent people. The court rules do expressly allow a panel attorney to 

declare that they are unavailable to accept an appointment in a specific case “due to scheduling conflicts, 

workload, or other good cause.”280 

threat of violence and in addition uncontested guardianships primarily for medical insurance purposes” effective immediately and 
continuing until the one vacant Attorney I position and the one vacant Attorney II position is filled “or until such time as the Board 
may direct.” Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 99-06(2), Limiting the Caseload of the Public Defender 
Service Corporation Temporarily (adopted Nov. 9, 1999).
     From June 3, 2002 through October 31, 2003, the PDSC board directed the PDSC executive director to “limit the caseload of 
the Corporation with regard to civil and domestic cases to require that the agency handle only domestic and civil cases which 
involve violence or the threat of violence, and in addition, uncontested guardianships primarily for medical insurance purposes” 
effective immediately and continuing until October 31, 2003. Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 02-03, 
Moratorium Involving Civil and Domestic Cases Due to Budgetary Constraints (adopted June 3, 2003).
     From August 28, 2012 through July 28, 2020, the PDSC board imposed “an indefinite continuation of the previous moratorium 
involving non-criminal cases (with certain exceptions)” and “recogniz[ing] that certain exceptions (i.e., uncontested guardianships, 
burial of expired bodies, and domestic cases involving violence or the threat of violence) exist” allowed the PDSC corporation to 
continue to accept “[c]ases of this nature” through December 31, 2012, “whereupon this matter will be reviewed for further action.” 
Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 13-12, Continuation of a Moratorium Involving Civil and Domestic 
Cases (adopted Aug. 28, 2012); Guam Public Defender Service Corporation Resolution No. PDSC 05-20, Lifting a  Moratorium Involving 
Civil and Domestic Cases (adopted July 28, 2020).

280   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.3(b) (4)(A). Despite the plain language of the court rule, many indigent defense system 
attorneys believe that panel attorneys cannot refuse or “pass” cases on the basis of a scheduling conflict or an excessive number of 
cases. 

 Page 76 of 103 



62The Right to Counsel on Guam

INDEPENDENCE & OVERSIGHT

CHAPTER IX

Independence & Oversight
Perhaps the most noted critique of the defendants in Powell was that it lacked independence from 

governmental interference, specifically from the judge presiding over the case. As noted in Strickland, 

“independence of counsel” is “constitutionally protected,” and “[g]overnment violates the right to effective 

assistance when it interferes in certain ways with the ability of counsel to make independent decisions 

about how to conduct the defense.”281 In specific relation to judicial interference, the Powell Court stated: 

[H]ow can a judge, whose functions are purely judicial, effectively discharge the obligations of 

counsel for the accused? He can and should see to it that, in the proceedings before the court, 

the accused shall be dealt with justly and fairly. He cannot investigate the facts, advise and direct 

the defense, or participate in those necessary conferences between counsel and accused which 

sometimes partake of the inviolable character of the confessional.282

In other words, it is never possible for a judge presiding over a case to properly assess the quality of a 

defense lawyer’s representation, because the judge can never, for example, read the case file, learn the 

defendant’s stated interests, follow the attorney to the crime scene, or sit in on witness interviews. That is 

not to say a judge cannot provide sound feedback on an attorney’s in-court performance. The appropriate 

defender supervisors should actively seek to learn a judge’s opinion on attorney performance. And, in some 

extreme circumstances, a judge can determine that counsel is ineffective, for example, if the lawyer is 

sleeping through the proceedings. It is just that a judge’s in-court observations of a defense attorney cannot 

comprise the totality, or even majority, of supervision. 

While Cronic and Powell focus on independence of counsel from judicial interference, other U.S. Supreme 

Court decisions extend the independence standard to political interference as well. In the 1979 case of Ferri 

v. Ackerman, the United States Supreme Court stated that “independence” of appointed counsel to act 

as an adversary is an “indispensable element” of “effective representation.” 283 Two years later, the Court 

observed in Polk County v. Dodson that states have a “constitutional obligation to respect the professional 

independence of the public defenders whom it engages. 284 Commenting that “a defense lawyer best 

serves the public not by acting on the State’s behalf or in concert with it, but rather by advancing the 

undivided interests of the client,” the Court notes in Polk County that a “public defender is not amenable to 

administrative direction in the same sense as other state employees.”285 

281   Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984).

282   Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 61 (1932).

283   444 U.S. 193, 204 (1979).

284   454 U.S. 312 (1981).

285   Polk County v. Dodson, 454 U.S. 312, 321-22 (1981).

 Page 77 of 103 



63The Right to Counsel on Guam

INDEPENDENCE & OVERSIGHT

The Cronic Court clearly advises that governmental interference that infringes on a lawyer’s independence 

to act in the stated interests of defendants or places the lawyer in a conflict of interest causes a constructive 

denial of counsel.286 

FINDING 7: The judiciary exerts undue influence over the indigent defense 
system.

To be clear, it is not that the justices and judges of Guam who oversee the indigent defense system are 

malicious or consciously trying to undermine the basic constitutional right to counsel. Rather, when public 

defense attorneys are provided through a system overseen by judges, defense attorneys inevitably bring 

into their calculations what they think they need to do to stay in favor with the judge who appoints and pays 

them, rather than solely advocating for the stated interests of the defendant as is their ethical duty. 

Public defense attorneys in judicially controlled systems understand that their personal compensation along 

with the resources needed to properly defend an indigent person require the approval of the judges. And 

so, it does not take a judge to say overtly, for example: “Do not file motions in my courtroom.” Fearing loss 

of income from not pleasing the judge, indigent defense attorneys often take on more cases than they can 

ethically handle, delay working on cases, and triage their available hours in favor of some clients but to the 

detriment of others, thereby failing to meet the parameters of ethical representation owed to all clients.

Judicial control of the indigent defense system generally. Guam’s chief justice is the chair of the PDSC board 

that oversees the PDSC corporation, and the chief justice appoints two of the other four members. The 

superior court presiding judge is the vice-chair of the PDSC board.

One of the associate justices is the chair of the PAP standing committee. The chief justice both appoints 

the four voting members of the PAP standing committee and decides who the panel attorneys are. The 

supreme court clerk of court is a member of the PAP standing committee. 

The judicial council (which is made up completely of justices and judges) controls the sources and 

expenditures of the “Judicial Client Services Fund” that provides funding for case-related expenses of 

indigent defendants and compensation of all appointed private attorneys. 

All of these provide opportunity for judicial influence over the indigent defense system.

Judicial control of panel and non-panel attorney compensation. From May 2022 through March 2023, the 

hourly rate paid to appointed private attorneys was $100 per hour. The hourly rate increased temporarily 

to $150 per hour for the period of April through December 2023.287 The court rules also set a cap on the 

286   466 U.S. 648 (1984).

287   See Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.5.(a), as temporarily amended by Promulgation Order No. 06-006-23, Amendments to 
Miscellaneous Rule 1.1.5 of the Local Rules of the Superior Court of Guam (Indigent Defense Rule) (eff. Apr. 1, 2023).
     For comparative purposes, Guam statutes enacted in 2010 require the attorney general’s office to, for example, review certain 
government contracts, for which the attorney general’s office is authorized to bill at an hourly rate of $200 per hour. See 5 Guam Code 
Ann. § 30202 (2022). In setting this hourly rate for the attorney general’s office billing in 2010, the legislature observed that “in recent 

 Page 78 of 103 



64The Right to Counsel on Guam

INDEPENDENCE & OVERSIGHT

amount of the fee the courts will pay in each type of case (with the maximum fee including any billing for 

paralegal hours at not more than $45 per hour and any billing for attorney hours at the applicable $100/$150 

hourly rate).288 The court temporarily increased the compensation cap in misdemeanor cases from $3,500 to 

$3,600 for the period of April through December 2023.289 

In theory, the administrator of the courts can authorize compensation beyond the established fee cap 

if the appointed attorney can “demonstrate extraordinary circumstances and good cause to justify an 

exception.”290 Despite this theoretical possibility, no stakeholder could recall any instance in which an 

appointed private attorney has requested to exceed the compensation cap and that request was approved 

by the administrator of the courts.

Absent an approved request to exceed the compensation cap, the maximum fees allowed to an appointed 

private attorney for representing an indigent defendant, and the compensable attorney hours that capped 

compensation allows based on the applicable hourly rate (assuming no billing for paralegal hours), are:

COMPENSATION AUTHORIZED TO APPOINTED PRIVATE ATTORNEYS 
 BY GUAM’S COURT RULES

Type of case

$100 hourly rate, applicable
May 1, 2022, through March 31, 2023

$150 hourly rate, applicable
April 1, 2023, through December 31, 2023

Maximum 
fee

Compensable hours
under maximum 

fee
Maximum fee Compensable hours

under maximum fee

Felony carrying potential 
life imprisonment $25,000 250 hours $25,000 166.67 hours

First degree felony 
carrying less than life 
imprisonment

$20,000 200 hours $20,000 133.33 hours

Second degree felony $10,000 100 hours $10,000 66.67 hours

Third degree felony $7,500 75 hours $7,500 50 hours

Misdemeanor $3,500 35 hours $3,600 24 hours

Habeas corpus 
proceeding $3,150 31.5 hours $3,150 21 hours

Juvenile delinquency $3,150 31.5 hours $3,150 21 hours

Guardian ad litem 
or juvenile special 
proceedings

$7,500 75 hours $7,500 50 hours

Appeal $10,000 100 hours $10,000 66.67 hours

hearings before [the legislature], witnesses have testified that private law firms currently bill their clients from Two Hundred Dollars 
($200) to Three Hundred Fifty Dollars ($350 per hour.” 5 Guam Code Ann. § 30201 (2022).

288   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.4.(f), 1.1.5. (eff. May 1, 2022, through Mar. 31, 2023). 

289   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.5.(a), as temporarily amended by Promulgation Order No. 06-006-23, Amendments to 
Miscellaneous Rule 1.1.5 of the Local Rules of the Superior Court of Guam (Indigent Defense Rule) (eff. Apr. 1, 2023).

290   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.5.(a).

 Page 79 of 103 



65The Right to Counsel on Guam

INDEPENDENCE & OVERSIGHT

When an attorney is paid an hourly rate with a cap on the maximum that the attorney can earn in a case, 

this creates a conflict of interest between the appointed attorney’s own financial interests and the legal 

interests of the indigent defendants they are appointed to represent. This is because the attorney’s financial 

incentive is to devote exactly the maximum number of compensable hours and not a single moment more 

to each individual defendant’s case. While the courts’ hoped, by temporarily increasing the hourly rate, to 

encourage more private attorneys to voluntarily join the panel attorneys list, this temporary change, without 

also increasing the cap,  has the perverse effect of allowing appointed private attorneys to earn money faster 

while doing less work on behalf of their appointed clients.

Additionally, judges typically do not provide adequate financial oversight to look for trends on attorney 

billing which may alert the system to potential issues. For example, the judicial branch provided data about 

the identity of the private attorneys it appointed to represent indigent defendants in trial-level cases during 

fiscal years 2018 through 2022 and for October 1, 2022 through September 1, 2023 of fiscal year 2023. The 

court data shows that the courts appointed 139 individual private attorneys or non-profit law firms, but 

these attorneys all worked in only 93 different law offices (some solo practitioners, some in firms employing 

multiple attorneys). 

Over the almost identical period during which these appointments were made, only 41 law offices 

submitted invoices to the judicial branch for appointed representation provided by one or more of their 

attorney employees. It is impossible to determine why 52 private law offices did not bill the court after their 

attorney employees were appointed to represent an indigent defendant. The court rules require appointed 

private attorneys to submit their invoice to the court each month,291 and while the judicial branch will pay an 

appointed private attorney’s invoice even if it is submitted late, presumptively most Guam attorneys would 

intend to comply with the Guam court rules. It is possible that although the court appointed the private 

attorney, the private attorney nevertheless did not provide any representation services to their appointed 

client or chose to represent the appointed client pro bono. Equally possible is that the court appointed 

the private attorney but then allowed that private attorney to withdraw and appointed a different private 

attorney.

As mentioned, when an attorney is paid an hourly rate with a cap on the maximum that the attorney can 

earn in a case, this creates a conflict of interest between the appointed attorney’s own financial interests 

and the legal interests of the indigent defendants they are appointed to represent. This is because the 

attorney’s financial incentive is to devote exactly the maximum number of compensable hours and not a 

single moment more to each individual defendant’s case. The private attorneys whom the court appoints to 

represent indigent defendants are free to also represent as many privately paying clients as they choose; by 

billing for each appointed client’s case up to but not beyond the compensation cap, the appointed attorney 

maximizes their earnings from indigent defense cases while remaining free to devote all of their other 

available working hours to more lucrative privately paying clients. The danger here is that not only will the 

291   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.5.

 Page 80 of 103 



66The Right to Counsel on Guam

INDEPENDENCE & OVERSIGHT

appointed private attorney stop representing an appointed client as soon as it is no longer profitable, but 

that the attorney will also seek to be appointed to represent as many indigent clients as possible so that 

they can bill up to the maximum allowed compensation in each case.292  

Judicial control of necessary expenses. Appointed private attorneys must ask the judiciary for case-related 

expenses – necessary expenses that an attorney incurs in providing effective representation to an individual 

appointed client – while PDSC corporation attorneys do not, creating a disparity among indigent defendants 

dependent on the type of system attorney who is appointed to represent them. Necessary case-related 

expenses can include, for example, postage to communicate with the client and witnesses and the court 

system, long-distance and collect telephone charges, mileage, and other travel costs to and from court and 

to conduct investigations, preparation of copies and exhibits, costs incurred in obtaining discovery, and 

the costs of hiring necessary investigators and experts in the case. No one can say how much is expended 

for case-related expenses of indigent adult criminal defendants on Guam during any fiscal year, nor does 

anyone know whether all of the necessary case-related expenses are provided. 

Guam’s court rules provide that a court “may authorize” any attorney who is appointed to represent an 

indigent defendant “to retain the services of investigators, experts and interpreters upon a showing that 

such services are necessary for adequate representation of the person.”293 To obtain authorization from the 

court, the appointed attorney must apply for the court’s approval before retaining the services, and payment 

for services approved by the court is made from one line item or another of the judicial branch’s “Judicial 

Client Services Fund.” To whatever extent case-related services are provided for indigent defendants on 

Guam, this is the method by which they are obtained except investigators for the cases of defendants 

represented by primary division attorneys or alternate division attorneys.

The primary division attorneys and the alternate division attorneys do not have to seek and obtain court 

authorization for investigative services on behalf of their appointed clients, and the only limits on the 

amount of investigation available is simply the man-hours that the staff investigators can provide. The 

primary division has six full-time investigators on staff, who provide whatever investigative services are 

needed in the cases of defendants represented by primary division attorneys. The compensation of these 

primary division investigators, as well as any expenses they incur in connection with investigating, is paid 

out of the PDSC corporation’s legislative appropriation funding. Similarly, the alternate division has two 

investigators on staff, who provide the investigative services needed in the cases of defendants represented 

by alternate division attorneys, and the compensation and expenses of the alternate division investigators 

are paid out of the alternate division’s legislative appropriation funding.  

292   The judicial branch’s ledgers show the word “CAP” in the description for each invoice where the appointed private attorney 
has reached the maximum compensation authorized by the court rules. Over the six years of reported payments, one of the 41 law 
firms that submitted invoices to the court was paid the maximum allowable compensation 123 times, for a total of $552,886.60 before 
counting the attorney’s additional compensation where they did not bill the maximum allowed (the next highest ranking law firm 
was paid the maximum allowable compensation only 26 times, and 16 of the 41 law firms never submitted an invoice that reached the 
maximum compensation allowed). 

293   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.4.(a).

 Page 81 of 103 



67The Right to Counsel on Guam

INDEPENDENCE & OVERSIGHT

The only method by which an appointed private attorney can obtain investigative services for their 

appointed clients (other than paying for them out of their own pocket) is by obtaining the advance approval 

of the court, and the maximum total amount that the court will authorize for all case-related services in a 

single case is $1,500 (increased temporarily to $2,000 for the period of April 1 through December 31, 2023).294 

In other words, investigative services for an indigent defendant represented by an appointed private 

attorney, along with expert services and interpreter services, cannot exceed $1,500 unless the attorney can 

“demonstrate extraordinary circumstances and good cause” to obtain greater funding from the court.295 

Stakeholders cannot recall a single instance in which a court has authorized the expenditure of more than 

$1,500 for case-related services on behalf of any indigent defendant. Indigent defendants represented by a 

primary division attorney, or an alternate division attorney have the full $1,500 per case available, with court 

approval, for experts and interpreters.

Guam’s statutes and court rules do not expressly address how an appointed private attorney can be 

reimbursed for out-of-pocket case-related expenses that the attorney incurs on behalf of appointed clients 

for necessary expenses such as postage, toll telephone calls, copies, mileage, and parking. Presumably the 

courts will authorize the attorney to be reimbursed for these expenses, so long as the attorney’s total invoice 

for fees & expenses does not exceed the maximum allowed compensation for a given case under the court 

rules and so long as the attorney does not incur more than $250 in total expenses without first obtaining 

court authorization.296 Of concern is that appointed private attorneys may forego incurring necessary case-

related expenses on behalf of their appointed clients, out of concern that they will not be reimbursed for 

those expenditures.

294   See Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.4.(c), as temporarily amended by Promulgation Order No. 06-006-23, Amendments to 
Miscellaneous Rule 1.1.5 of the Local Rules of the Superior Court of Guam (Indigent Defense Rule) (eff. Apr. 1, 2023).

295   Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.4.(c).

296   See Guam Super. Ct Local R. MR 1.1.4.(e) and 1.1.5.

 Page 82 of 103 



68The Right to Counsel on Guam

RECOMMENDATIONS

CHAPTER X

Recommendations
Guam’s justice system is relatively young, and its indigent defense system is even younger. Members of the 

judiciary expressed the position that judicial oversight of indigent defense services was necessary in the 

earliest stages of growth to ensure its proper development and evolution. Nonetheless, Guam must ensure 

the independence of right to counsel services.

There is no uniform “cookie-cutter” indigent defense services delivery model that jurisdictions must apply. 

The question for Guam’s policymakers is how best to provide effective assistance of counsel to indigent 

people, as required by the Sixth Amendment, under Guam’s unique circumstances. The Sixth Amendment 

Center does not presume that the recommendations below are the only way to restructure Guam’s indigent 

defense system, and the examples of statutory language from various states are provided simply as starting 

points for legislative consideration. 

RECOMMENDATION 1: Guam should vest the authority to 
oversee all indigent legal services in an independent right 
to counsel commission. 

National standards, as compiled in the ABA Ten Principles of a Public Defense Delivery System, agree that 

the best way to protect defense counsel independence is by establishing an independent public defense 

commission.297 The National Study Commission on Defense Services’ Guidelines for Legal Defense Systems in 

the United States explain:298

A special Defender Commission should be established for every defender system, whether public or 

private. 

The Commission should consist of from nine to thirteen members, depending upon the size of 

the community, the number of identifiable factions or components of the client population, and 

judgments as to which non-client groups should be represented. 

Commission members should be selected under the following criteria: 

(a)  The primary consideration in establishing the composition of the Commission should be 

ensuring the independence of the Defender Director.

297   American Bar Ass’n, ABA Ten Principles of a Public Defense Delivery System, principle 1 (2023) (“To safeguard independence 
and promote effective and competent representation, a nonpartisan board or commission should oversee the Public Defense 
Provider.”).;

298   National Study Comm’n on Def. Servs., Guidelines for Legal Defense Systems in the United States, guideline 2.10 (1976).

 Page 83 of 103 



69The Right to Counsel on Guam

RECOMMENDATIONS

(b)  The members of the Commission should represent a diversity of factions in order to ensure 

insulation from partisan politics. 

(c)  No single branch of government should have a majority of votes on the Commission.

(d)  Organizations concerned with the problems of the client community should be represented on 

the Commission.

(e)  A majority of the Commission should consist of practicing attorneys.

(f)  The Commission should not include judges, prosecutors, or law enforcement officials.

Members of the Commission should serve staggered terms in order to ensure continuity and avoid 

upheaval.

Statutory language establishing the commission should ensure its independence. For example, 

Connecticut’s statute states that its commission is an “autonomous body within the judicial department for 

fiscal and budgetary purposes only.”299

Guam should give an equal number of member appointments to the executive, legislative, and judicial 

branches of government, so that no single branch of government can usurp power over or exert outsized 

influence over the delivery of indigent defense services.

In constructing its independent commission, Guam should follow the lead of the increasing number 

of jurisdictions that prohibit voting members of the commission from being a sitting judge, a current 

prosecuting attorney, a current law enforcement employee, or a person currently paid to provide public 

defense services (or any employee of any person in those roles).300 For example, New Mexico’s commission 

statute states: 301

A person appointed to the commission shall have: (1) significant experience in the legal defense of 

criminal or juvenile justice cases; or (2) demonstrated a commitment to quality indigent defense 

representation or to working with and advocating for the population served by the department.

The following persons shall not be appointed to and shall not serve on the commission: (1) current 

prosecutors, law enforcement officials or employees of prosecutors or law enforcement officials; (2) 

current public defenders or other employees of the department; (3) current judges, judicial officials 

or employees of judges or judicial officials; (4) current elected officials or employees of elected 

officials; or (5) persons who currently contract with or receive funding from the department or 

employees of such persons.

299   Conn. Gen. Stat. § 51-289(l) (2023).

300   The NSC’s Guidelines direct that an indigent defense system “[c]ommission should not include judges, prosecutors, or law 
enforcement officials.” National Study Comm’n on Def. Servs., Guidelines for Legal Defense Systems in the United States, guideline 
2.10 (1976). These prohibitions are only for sitting judges and prosecutors; states often find former judges and law enforcement 
officials to make very good commission members. 
La. Rev. Stat. § 15:146(B)(2) (2020).

301   N.M. Stat. Ann. § 31-15-2.2 (2023).

 Page 84 of 103 



70The Right to Counsel on Guam

RECOMMENDATIONS

These prohibitions are only on current judges, defenders, and prosecutors. Jurisdictions often find former 

judges, former defenders, and former law enforcement officials to make good commission members. 

Many jurisdictions also include one or more voices on their commission from communities affected by 

the indigent defense function and ensure that the commission reflects the demographic makeup of the 

community. In addition, Guam can also consider the value that commission members of varying expertise 

and background can bring, and so might consider sociologists, psychologists, political scientists, historians, 

and/or accountants.

National standards do not prohibit a commission from having members who work or reside outside of the 

jurisdiction. Guam can consider allowing commission members to be from other off-island jurisdictions that 

are subject to the Sixth Amendment.    

RECOMMENDATION 2: Guam should empower the right to 
counsel commission to promulgate and enforce standards 
applicable to all indigent defense system attorneys. 

The right to counsel commission must be statutorily required to promulgate and enforce binding 

standards applicable to all indigent defense system attorneys. For example, Michigan statutorily requires its 

commission to promulgate and enforce mandatory statewide standards for, among other things: attorney 

qualifications; attorney performance; attorney supervision; time sufficiency; continuity of services whereby 

the same attorney provides representation from appointment through disposition; client communications; 

data collection; and indigency determination.302

Specifically, Michigan’s statutory language requires its commission to implement minimum standards, 

rules, and procedures that adhere to the following principles: 303

• Defense counsel is provided sufficient time and a space where attorney-client confidentiality is 

safeguarded for meetings with defense counsel’s client.

• Defense counsel’s workload is controlled to permit effective representation. Economic disincentives 

or incentives that impair defense counsel’s ability to provide effective representation shall be avoided. 

The MIDC may develop workload controls to enhance defense counsel’s ability to provide effective 

representation.304

302   Mich. Comp. Laws § 780.991 (2023).

303   Mich. Comp. Laws § 780.991(2)(a)-(f) (2023).

304   There are no national standards that require indigent defense providers to keep contemporaneous time records. However, 
it is a practice that 6AC strongly encourages. The benefit of time-tracking is that it allows indigent defense systems to objectively 
demonstrate when they are at capacity, to set binding caseload standards, and to establish protocols for withdrawing from cases. 
By continually tracking time, indigent defense systems can change caseload standards as new events require it. For example, if a jail 
changes practices that affect how long it takes for lawyers to meet with clients, tracking time allows the indigent defense system 
to show the impact of that decision on the amount of time that must be dedicated to the average case, and potentially to lower a 
caseload standard. Time-tracking can also account for other factors that may increase or decrease the amount of work and effort 
attorneys must spend on their appointed cases, including but not limited to: the complexity of cases; the geographical size of the 
jurisdiction; appropriate access to non-legal support staff, such as investigators, social workers, mitigation specialists, paralegals, etc.; 
and the prevalence of mental health, developmental disabilities, and/or substance addiction issues in the clients.

 Page 85 of 103 



71The Right to Counsel on Guam

RECOMMENDATIONS

• Defense counsel’s ability, training, and experience match the nature and complexity of the case to 

which he or she is appointed.

• The same defense counsel continuously represents and personally appears at every court appearance 

throughout the pendency of the case. However, indigent criminal defense systems may exempt 

ministerial, nonsubstantive tasks, and hearings from this prescription.

• Defense counsel is required to attend continuing legal education relevant to counsel’s indigent 

defense clients.

• Defense counsel is systematically reviewed at the local level for efficiency and for effective 

representation according to MIDC standards.

RECOMMENDATION 3: Guam should empower the right to 
counsel commission to collect, analyze, and report on data 
needed to ensure effective representation.

National standards call for the right to counsel commission to “collect reliable data on public defense, 

regularly review such data, and implement necessary improvements” to “ensure proper funding and 

compliance” with the requirements of the right to counsel.305 The commission should collect and evaluate 

on an on-going basis all information necessary to ensure that a sufficient number of qualified attorneys 

are available to be appointed and that adequate resources are available (overhead including support 

staff, training, supervision, and technology; case-related needs including social workers, investigators, and 

experts; and fair attorney compensation) to ensure effective assistance of counsel can be provided to each 

person who is entitled to public counsel under the Organic Act, the Sixth Amendment, and Guam law.

Some of this data necessarily comes from other components of the justice system, including law 

enforcement, prosecutors, and the courts. The commission should coordinate with all justice components to 

gather information without imposing duplicative, undue, or onerous administrative or fiscal burdens and to 

do so in a way that protects the privacy and attorney-client privilege of individuals and the privileged work 

product of prosecutors and defense attorneys.

305   American Bar Ass’n, ABA Ten Principles of a Public Defense Delivery System, principle 4 (2023) (data should be collected 
on caseloads and workloads; major case events; use of investigators, experts, social workers, and support services; case outcomes; 
monetary expenditures; and demographic data on employees and clients). 

 Page 86 of 103 



72The Right to Counsel on Guam

RECOMMENDATIONS

RECOMMENDATION 4: Guam should authorize and fund 
the right to counsel commission to create an office of 
indigent legal services to carry out the day-to-day duties of 
the commission. 

As directed by national standards, the commission should have statutory authority to select a senior 

attorney to serve as executive director of the office of indigent legal services, chosen “on the basis of a non-

partisan, merit procedure which ensures the selection of a person with the best available administrative and 

legal talent, regardless of political party affiliation, contributions, or other irrelevant criteria.”306 The executive 

director should be hired by the commission for a fixed term that is subject to renewal and should not be 

removed from office absent good cause shown through due process.307 

At minimum, Guam’s office of indigent legal services should reflect the following staffing levels:

• one executive director: primarily the “outward looking” person to interact with the rest of Guam’s 

government & communities;

• one deputy director: primarily the “inward looking” person to interact with the administration of and 

heads of the service providers;

• one training/supervision director: to provide and oversee system-wide training and to assess the 

system attorneys;

• one finance director: to receive, analyze, and oversee all system funding;

• one IT director: to receive, analyze, and oversee all system data (including caseloads, workloads, etc.); 

and 

• and necessary support staff.

The commission should be authorized to decide the best indigent defense delivery systems for Guam, and 

funding scheme, with the office of indigent legal services administering the system. Importantly, the office 

of indigent defense legal services should not provide direct representation itself.  So, for example, they could 

continue to have the PDSC corporation with its three existing divisions, and then establishe a managed 

assigned counsel system.  Or they might choose to separate the PDSC corporation into three entirely 

separate entities and add a managed assigned counsel entity.

The office of indigent legal services executive director should hire lawyers to run the day-to-day operations 

of whatever divisions or separate entities are ultimately created. This includes hiring a manager of the panel 

attorney system that must be out from under the judiciary. Subsequently, the new managed assigned 

counsel system must be given the resources to hire the requisite financial staff needed to monitor, approve 

and pay private attorney vouchers.

306   National Study Comm’n on Def. Servs., Guidelines for Legal Defense Systems in the United States, guideline 2.12 (1976).

307   National Study Comm’n on Def. Servs., Guidelines for Legal Defense Systems in the United States, guideline 2.12 (1976).

 Page 87 of 103 



 Page 88 of 103 



 

 

 

Old Business 

Agenda Item VI – C 

APD Managing Attorney 

Report/Statistics 

 Page 89 of 103 



ALTERNATE PUBLIC DEFENDER

FY2024 2ND QUARTER

CY2024 TO-DATE COUNT

01/01/2024 thru 03/31/2024

ATTO
R
N
EY

Pos
se

ss
io

n 
C
on

tro
lle

d 
Subs

ta
nc

e 
- P

CS W
ith

 In
te

nt
 - 

AD
C
 F

ELO
N
Y

Fam
ily

 V
io

le
nc

e 
- S

ta
lk
in

g 
- T

er
ro

riz
in

g 
FELO

N
Y

D
W

I -
 D

W
I+

BAC
 - 

D
W

I R
el

at
ed

 F
ELO

N
Y

H
om

e 
In

va
si
on

 - 
Bur

gl
ar

y 
- T

he
ft 

- R
ob

be
ry

 F
ELO

N
Y

Veh
ic

ul
ar -

 N
eg

lig
ent

 H
om

ic
id

e 
Fel

on
y

M
ur

de
r -

 A
gg

ra
va

te
d 

Ass
au

lt 
FELO

N
Y

C
SC

 - 
Kid

na
ppi

ng
 F

ELO
N
Y

Fire
arm

s 
/ G

un
 re

la
te

d F
ELO

N
Y

Fra
ud

 - 
For

ger
y 

FELO
N
Y

C
rim

in
al

 M
isc

hi
ef

 - 
C
rim

in
al

 T
re

sp
as

si
ng

 - 
H
ar

ra
ss

m
en

t

G
en

er
al J

ur
is
di

ct
io

n 
FELO

N
Y (a

ll 
ot

he
rs

)

FE
LO

N
Y
 T

O
T
A
L

D
W

I -
 R

ec
kl
es

s 
D
riv

in
g 

M
IS

D
EM

EAN
O

R

Fam
ily

 V
io

le
nc

e 
M

IS
D
EM

EAN
O

R

The
ft 

- R
et

ai
l T

he
ft 

M
IS

D
EM

EAN
O

R

Ass
au

lt 
- H

ar
ra

ss
m

en
t M

IS
D
EM

EAN
O

R

C
rim

in
al

 M
isc

hie
f -

 C
rim

in
al

 T
re

sp
as

si
ng

 M
IS

D
EM

EAN
O

R

G
en

er
al J

ur
is
di

ct
io

n M
IS

D
EM

EAN
O

R
 (a

ll 
ot

he
rs

)

M
IS

D
EM

E
A
N
O
R
 T

O
T
A
L

JU
V-D

EL

JU
V-P

IN
S

JU
V
E
N
IL

E
 -
 F

A
M

IL
Y
 C

O
U
R
T
 T

O
T
A
L

APPEAL

C
IV

IL
 - 

SPEC
IA

L 
- P

RO
TEC

TIV
E O

R
D
ER

JA
N
U
A
R
Y
 2

0
2
4
 -
 M

A
R
C
H
 2

0
2
4

Pe
rc
en
ta
ge

C
Y
2
0
2
3
 t
o
 d

at
e

Pe
rc
en
ta
ge

FY
2
0
2
4
 t
o
 d

at
e

Pe
rc
en
ta
ge

P
R
E
-T

R
IA

L 
C
A
S
E
 N

U
M

B
E
R
S

A. Gayle 14 1 7 1 1 1 25 1 1 0 1 27 21% 27 21% 59 24% 127 ACG

P. Santos 9 1 6 6 3 1 26 1 1 2 0 3 31 24% 31 24% 60 24% 151 PJS

T. Dunphy 1 1 2 1 14 1 7 1 2 26 1 1 1 30 23% 30 23% 48 19% 93 TCD

L. Rapadas 1 2 3 1 1 2 1 10 11 16 12% 16 12% 30 12% 111 LMR

T. Scott 5 8 1 1 2 3 3 1 24 2 2 1 1 27 21% 27 21% 54 22% 61 TRS

R. Dirkx 0 0 0 0 0% 0 0% 0% RSD

TOTAL 28 12 0 14 1 9 8 0 0 5 3 80 2 18 1 8 1 3 33 1 12 13 3 2 131 100% 131 100% 251 100%  543

 

  

  

 

12+ MOS 68% 52% 29% 45%

00-05 MOS 24% 34% 54% 41%

06-11 MOS 8% 14% 17% 14%

Average Case Time CY2024 CY2023

Months MISDE FELONY MISDE FELONY

93%

37%

Closure Orders 113 86% 368 73% 325 69% 399 88% 275 76% 409 105% 394

50 12%

To Judgment 111 85% 238 47% 274 58% 168

83 18% 54 15% 76 19%

29% 94 22%

APD W/D 17 13% 103 21% 74 16%

26% 88 19% 78 21% 113121

CY2019 CY2018

CASES OPENED 131 502 471 453 363 391 423

PDSC W/D to APD 27 21% 130 26%

80 33 13

CY2024 CY2023 CY2022 CY2021 CY2020

Date Printed: 3/29/2024 Time: 11:41 AM Prepared by MO-AK Page 90 of 103 



 

 

 

Old Business 

Agenda Item VI -D 

EJC Managing Attorney 

Report/Statistics 

 Page 91 of 103 



OCT NOV DEC
QTR 

TOTAL JAN FEB MAR
QTR 

TOTAL APR MAY JUN
QTR 

TOTAL JUL AUG SEPT
QTR 

TOTAL

INTAKE and SCREENING 
DECLINED (CONFLICT) & REFFERED 0 0 0 0 0 0
OPENED 6 12 11 29 10 9

Total Intake and Screening 6 12 11 29 10
Description of Services 
Consult/Advice (Referred out) 6 8 10 24 8 6
Protective Order 0 1 1 2 0 1
Protective Order w/ Temp Child Custody/Visitation 

0 1 0 1 1 0

Restraining Order 0 0 0 0 0 0
Motion to Extend RO/PO 0 0 0 0 0 2
Declined (Victim Requested) 0 2 0 2 1 0

Total of services for opened cases 6 12 11 29 10

CASE STATUS
Active Open Cases 7 3 4 14 2 2
Closed 12 11 12 35 10 4

CASES REFERRED TO TAC
Office of the Attorney General 
((Victim Service Center)

1 0 1 2 3 0

Guam Police Department (GPD) 9 6 5 20 1 2
Guam Bar Association (GBA) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other 3 9 9 21 6 7

Total Referred to TAC  13 15 15 43
CASES REFERRED OUT
Adult Protective Services (APS) 0 5 4 9 0 0
Child Protectve Services (CPS) 1 0 1 2 0 1
Guam Bar Association (GBA) 0 0 1 1 0 0
Guam Police Department (GPD) 10 4 10 24 4 4
Guam Legal Services (GLS) 0 1 3 4 4 1
Micronesian Legal Services Corp. 
(MLSC)

0 0 0 0 1 0

Office of the Attorney General 
(Victims Service Center) 

0 2 0 2 0 3

MISCELLANEOUS

Collaborations/Outreach 4 2 1 7 1 5
Conferences 1 0 0 1 0 1
Trainings 1 1 0 2 0 0

The Advocacy Center
2023 2024 Total Fiscal 

Year 

(TAC) 2024 Fiscal Year Information for Board of Trustees 

 Page 92 of 103 



OCT NOV DEC
QTR 

TOTAL
JAN FEB MAR

QTR 
TOTAL

APR MAY JUN
QTR 

TOTAL
JUL AUG SEPT

QTR 
TOTAL

NUMBER OF CASES 
Opened 4 11 20 35 25 8
Closed 8 7 6 21 11 25
Juvenile Special Proceedings 
Court Appointments

0 1 1 3 3 1

SERVICES COMPLETED
FEMA Support Services 0 0 0 0 0 0
Guardianship Over Minors 3 4 2 9 5 9
Landlord/Tenant 0 0 0 0 0 0
Last Will and Testament 0 0 0 0 0 2
Legal Advice Guidance 0 4 2 6 2 2
Living Will 0 0 0 0 0 0
Notary Service (Non-CLC) 0 10 16 26 0 3
Power of Attorney 0 0 1 1 3 2
Power of Attorney (Healthcare) 0 0 1 1 2 2
War Claims Issues 
(Inquiries/Probate) 5 0 0 5 0 9

OCT NOV DEC
QTR 

TOTAL
JAN FEB MAR

QTR 
TOTAL

APR MAY JUN
QTR 

TOTAL
JUL AUG SEPT

QTR 
TOTAL

NUMBER OF CASES
Opened 26 32 39 97 34 39
Closed 13 23 34 70 40 49
SERVICES COMPLETED
FEMA Support Services 0 0 0 0 0 0
Guardianship (Information and 
Advice)

2 0 0 2 0 2

Landlord/Tenant Issues 1 0 0 1 0 0
Last Will and Testament 6 3 5 14 15 11
Living Will 2 1 2 5 0 0
Power of Attorney 19 15 24 58 32 36

Power of Attorney (Healthcare) 20 15 23 58 32 34

RECEIVED REQUESTS

Adoption 0 0 0 0 0 0
Annulment 0 0 0 0 0 0
Banking Issues 0 0 0 0 0 0
Debt Collection 0 0 0 0 0 0
Deed of Gift 0 0 1 1 3 1
Divorce 0 0 1 1 0 1
Domestic Issues 1 0 0 1 0 0
Employment Law 0 0 0 0 0 0
Guardianship Over an Adult 1 0 0 1 0 0
Landlord/Tenant Issues 2 0 0 2 0 0
Litigation Award Assistance 3 0 0 3 0 0
Living Trusts 4 0 0 4 1 0
Medical Malpractice 5 0 0 5 0 0
Medicare Application 6 0 0 6 0 0
Name Change 7 0 0 7 0 0
Probate 2 1 0 3 0 0
Property Border Issue 0 0 0 0 0 0
Property Title Service 1 0 0 1 1 1
Notary Service (Gov't Docs) 0 2 0 2 0 1
Notary Service (Personal Docs) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Public Assistance 0 0 0 0 1 0
Quitclaim Deed 0 0 0 0 0 0
Quiet Title Issues 0 0 0 0 0 1
Retirement questions 0 0 0 0 0 0
Small Claims 1 0 0 1 0 0
Small Estate Affidavit 0 1 0 1 0 0
Social Security Fraud 0 0 0 0 0 0
Social Services Assistance 0 0 0 0 0 0
Wrongful Judgement 0 0 0 0 0 0

MISCELLANEOUS
Collaborations/Outreach 7 2 1 10 2 1
Conferences 1 0 0 1 0 1
Home/Hospital Visits 7 9 13 29 8 18
Trainings 1 0 0 1 0 1

ELDER JUSTICE 
CENTER

2023 2024
Total Fiscal 

Year 

(CLC/EJC) 2024 Fiscal Year Information for Board of Trustees 

CIVIL LAW CENTER
2023 2024

Total Fiscal 
Year 

 Page 93 of 103 



 

 

 

Old Business 

Agenda Item VI – E 

Executive Director Pay Update 

 Page 94 of 103 



PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICE CORPORATION 
(Kotperasion Setbision Defensot Pupbleku) 

GOVERNMENT OF GUAM 
779 Route 4 

Sinajåña, Guam 96910-5174 
Tel: (671) 475-3100 ◆ Fax: (671) 477-5844 

  
 
 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 

Hon. Robert J. Torres 
Chairman 

 
Hon. Alberto C. Lamorena, III 
Vice-Chairman 

 
Atty. Jacqueline T. Terlaje 
Member 

 
Mrs. Donna R. Muña Quiñata 
Member 

 
Dr. KristiAnna S. Whitman 
Member 

 
 
 

 
ADMINISTRATION 

 
Stephen P. Hattori 
Executive Director 

 
John P. Morrison 
Deputy Director 

 
Cathyann C. Gogue 
Administrative Director 

BEFORE THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

   
  

 

 

 
 

  
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

  
 

  
  

   

  
 

 
   

  
  

 

 

WHEREAS,  since adjustments have been made to the GPP and the APP,
  the Board of Trustees has  not addressed  adjustments  to  the

Executive  Pay  Plan  (EPP)  that  should  be  adjusted  to  22
percent;  and

WHEREAS,  the Board of Trustees recognizes the vital role that PDSC’s
Executive  Director  plays  in  leading  the  organization  and
acknowledges  his/her  credentials  and  significant
contribution  in  achieving  the  vision  and  mission  of  the
PDSC; and

OF THE GUAM PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICE CORPORATION 
RELATIVE TO  UPDATING  THE

GUAM PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICE CORPORATION’S 
EXECUTIVE PAY PLAN

SUBJECT TO THE AVAILABILITY OF FUNDING

RESOLUTION NO. PDSC 04-24

WHEREAS,  pursuant  to  4  GCA  §  6302  (b),  the  Public  Defender  Service
Corporation  is  authorized  to  reassign  pay  grades  as  they  deem
necessary;  and

WHEREAS,  on January 16, 2024, the DOA recommended to the Governor of
Guam  approval  of  a  22%  increase  to  the  2014  CWA  Attorney 
Pay  Plan  (APP)  to  nationwide  shortage  of  attorneys  and  for 
Guam  to  remain  competitive  for  purposes  of  recruitment  and 
retention  of attorneys; and

WHEREAS,  on January 31, 2024 Governor Lou Leon Guerrero  signed off on the
APP  update  following  the  study  performed  by  DOA.  The
approved plan aims to address the critical issue of recruiting  and
retaining  attorneys  throughout  the  Government  of  Guam,
particularly  in  key  government  agencies  such  as  the  Public
Defender  Services  Corporation  (PDSC)  and  the  Office  of
Attorney General.;  and

WHEREAS,  on February 27, 2024  the Board of Trustees, through Resolution
No. 01-24,  approved  updating the  APP for attorneys at PDSC 
and the  APD  to  yield a 22  percent  pay adjustment that  addresses 
the  previously  observed  disparity  between  attorneys  at  the 
Public Defender and Alternate Public Defender  to  those in other 
government of Guam  departments and/or agencies; and

 Page 95 of 103 



Reso. No. 04-24 
Page 2 of 2 

 

 
 
 

WHEREAS,  through 4 G.C.A. § 6301 and § 6302 (a), the Public Defender 
Service Corporation’s Board of Trustees is exercising its 
authority to adopt, apply and reassign pay grades they deem 
necessary to retain and recruit highly qualified managers 
(executives) to lead the organization; and provide compensation 
based on internal equity and external competitiveness; and 

 
NOW, THEREFOR, BE IT RESOLVED that the pay scale attached hereto as Exhibit A is 
adopted as the pay scale on which the Executive Director of the Public Defender shall be 
compensated; and 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that such adjustments shall go into effect upon adoption of this 
resolution by the Board of Trustees. Increments dates are not affected by this adjustment. 

 
DULY AND REGULARLY ADOPTED THIS 2nd day of March, 2024 at a duly noticed 
meeting of the Public Defender Service Corporation. 

 
 
 

Chief Justice ROBERT J. TORRES, JR. 
Chairman 

 
 
 

Cathy C. Gogue, Board Secretary 

 Page 96 of 103 



Grade STEP
1

STEP
2

STEP
3

STEP
4

STEP
5

STEP
6

STEP 
7

STEP
8

STEP
9

STEP
10

STEP
11

STEP
12

STEP
13

$96,175.00 $99,819.00 $103,602.00 $107,527.00 $111,601.00 $115,830.00 $120,219.00 $124,033.00 $127,969.00 $132,029.00 $136,218.00 $140,540.00 $144,999.00

$46.24 $47.99 $49.81 $51.70 $53.65 $55.69 $57.80 $59.63 $61.52 $63.48 $65.49 $67.57 $69.71

6% $101,945.50 $105,808.14 $109,818.12 $113,978.62 $118,297.06 $122,779.80 $127,432.14 $131,474.98 $135,647.14 $139,950.74 $144,391.08 $148,972.40 $153,698.94

10/1/2022 $49.01 $50.87 $52.80 $54.80 $56.87 $59.03 $61.27 $63.21 $65.21 $67.28 $69.42 $71.62 $73.89

6%+16% $118,256.78 $122,737.44 $127,389.02 $132,215.20 $137,224.59 $142,424.57 $147,821.28 $152,510.98 $157,350.68 $162,342.86 $167,493.65 $172,807.98 $178,290.77

4/1/2023 $56.85 $59.01 $61.24 $63.56 $65.97 $68.47 $71.07 $73.32 $75.65 $78.05 $80.53 $83.08 $85.72

$91,595.00 $95,066.00 $98,668.00 $102,407.00 $106,287.00 $110,314.00 $114,494.00 $118,127.00 $121,875.00 $125,742.00 $129,731.00 $133,847.00 $138,094.00

$44.04 $45.70 $47.44 $49.23 $51.10 $53.04 $55.05 $56.79 $58.59 $60.45 $62.37 $64.35 $66.39

6% $97,090.70 $100,769.96 $104,588.08 $108,551.42 $112,664.22 $116,932.84 $121,363.64 $125,214.62 $129,187.50 $133,286.52 $137,514.86 $141,877.82 $146,379.64

10/1/2022 $46.68 $48.45 $50.28 $52.19 $54.17 $56.22 $58.35 $60.20 $62.11 $64.08 $66.11 $68.21 $70.37

6%+16% $112,625.21 $116,893.15 $121,322.17 $125,919.65 $130,690.50 $135,642.09 $140,781.82 $145,248.96 $149,857.50 $154,612.36 $159,517.24 $164,578.27 $169,800.38

4/1/2023 $54.15 $56.20 $58.33 $60.54 $62.83 $65.21 $67.68 $69.83 $72.05 $74.33 $76.69 $79.12 $81.63

$86,820.00 $90,110.00 $93,524.00 $97,068.00 $100,746.00 $104,563.00 $108,525.00 $111,968.00 $115,521.00 $119,186.00 $122,968.00 $126,869.00 $130,895.00

$41.74 $43.32 $44.96 $46.67 $48.44 $50.27 $52.18 $53.83 $55.54 $57.30 $59.12 $60.99 $62.93

6% $92,029.20 $95,516.60 $99,135.44 $102,892.08 $106,790.76 $110,836.78 $115,036.50 $118,686.08 $122,452.26 $126,337.16 $130,346.08 $134,481.14 $138,748.70

10/1/2022 $44.24 $45.92 $47.66 $49.47 $51.34 $53.29 $55.31 $57.06 $58.87 $60.74 $62.67 $64.65 $66.71

6%+16% $106,753.87 $110,799.26 $114,997.11 $119,354.81 $123,877.28 $128,570.66 $133,442.34 $137,675.85 $142,044.62 $146,551.11 $151,201.45 $155,998.12 $160,948.49

4/1/2023 $51.32 $53.27 $55.29 $57.38 $59.56 $61.81 $64.15 $66.19 $68.29 $70.46 $72.69 $75.00 $77.38

$81,522.00 $84,611.00 $87,816.00 $91,144.00 $94,597.00 $98,182.00 $101,902.00 $105,135.00 $108,471.00 $111,913.00 $115,463.00 $119,127.00 $122,907.00

$39.19 $40.68 $42.22 $43.82 $45.48 $47.20 $48.99 $50.55 $52.15 $53.80 $55.51 $57.27 $59.09

6% $86,413.32 $89,687.66 $93,084.96 $96,612.64 $100,272.82 $104,072.92 $108,016.12 $111,443.10 $114,979.26 $118,627.78 $122,390.78 $126,274.62 $130,281.42

10/1/2022 $41.54 $43.12 $44.75 $46.45 $48.21 $50.04 $51.93 $53.58 $55.28 $57.03 $58.84 $60.71 $62.64

6%+16% $100,239.45 $104,037.69 $107,978.55 $112,070.66 $116,316.47 $120,724.59 $125,298.70 $129,274.00 $133,375.94 $137,608.22 $141,973.30 $146,478.56 $151,126.45

4/1/2023 $48.19 $50.02 $51.91 $53.88 $55.92 $58.04 $60.24 $62.15 $64.12 $66.16 $68.26 $70.42 $72.66

$76,188.00 $79,075.00 $82,071.00 $85,181.00 $88,408.00 $91,758.00 $95,235.00 $98,257.00 $101,374.00 $104,591.00 $107,909.00 $111,333.00 $114,865.00

$36.63 $38.02 $39.46 $40.95 $42.50 $44.11 $45.79 $47.24 $48.74 $50.28 $51.88 $53.53 $55.22

6% $80,759.28 $83,819.50 $86,995.26 $90,291.86 $93,712.48 $97,263.48 $100,949.10 $104,152.42 $107,456.44 $110,866.46 $114,383.54 $118,012.98 $121,756.90

10/1/2022 $38.83 $40.30 $41.82 $43.41 $45.05 $46.76 $48.53 $50.07 $51.66 $53.30 $54.99 $56.74 $58.54

6%+16% $93,680.76 $97,230.62 $100,914.50 $104,738.56 $108,706.48 $112,825.64 $117,100.96 $120,816.81 $124,649.47 $128,605.09 $132,684.91 $136,895.06 $141,238.00

4/1/2023 $45.04 $46.75 $48.52 $50.36 $52.26 $54.24 $56.30 $58.09 $59.93 $61.83 $63.79 $65.81 $67.90

$70,873.00 $73,558.00 $76,345.00 $79,238.00 $82,241.00 $85,357.00 $88,591.00 $91,402.00 $94,302.00 $97,294.00 $100,381.00 $103,566.00 $106,852.00

$34.07 $35.36 $36.70 $38.10 $39.54 $41.04 $42.59 $43.94 $45.34 $46.78 $48.26 $49.79 $51.37

6% $75,125.38 $77,971.48 $80,925.70 $83,992.28 $87,175.46 $90,478.42 $93,906.46 $96,886.12 $99,960.12 $103,131.64 $106,403.86 $109,779.96 $113,263.12

10/1/2022 $36.12 $37.49 $38.91 $40.38 $41.91 $43.50 $45.15 $46.58 $48.06 $49.58 $51.16 $52.78 $54.45

6%+16% $87,145.44 $90,446.92 $93,873.81 $97,431.04 $101,123.53 $104,954.97 $108,931.49 $112,387.90 $115,953.74 $119,632.70 $123,428.48 $127,344.75 $131,385.22

4/1/2023 $41.90 $43.48 $45.13 $46.84 $48.62 $50.46 $52.37 $54.03 $55.75 $57.52 $59.34 $61.22 $63.17

$65,652.00 $68,110.00 $70,690.00 $73,369.00 $76,149.00 $79,034.00 $82,029.00 $84,632.00 $87,317.00 $90,087.00 $92,946.00 $95,895.00 $98,937.00

$31.56 $32.75 $33.99 $35.27 $36.61 $38.00 $39.44 $40.69 $41.98 $43.31 $44.69 $46.10 $47.57

6% $69,591.12 $72,196.60 $74,931.40 $77,771.14 $80,717.94 $83,776.04 $86,950.74 $89,709.92 $92,556.02 $95,492.22 $98,522.76 $101,648.70 $104,873.22

10/1/2022 $33.46 $34.71 $36.02 $37.39 $38.81 $40.28 $41.80 $43.13 $44.50 $45.91 $47.37 $48.87 $50.42

6%+16% $80,725.70 $83,748.06 $86,920.42 $90,214.52 $93,632.81 $97,180.21 $100,862.86 $104,063.51 $107,364.98 $110,770.98 $114,286.40 $117,912.49 $121,652.94

4/1/2023 $38.81 $40.26 $41.79 $43.37 $45.02 $46.72 $48.49 $50.03 $51.62 $53.26 $54.95 $56.69 $58.49

$60,482.00 $62,773.00 $65,152.00 $67,620.00 $70,183.00 $72,842.00 $75,602.00 $78,001.00 $80,476.00 $83,029.00 $85,663.00 $88,381.00 $91,185.00

$29.08 $30.18 $31.32 $32.51 $33.74 $35.02 $36.35 $37.50 $38.69 $39.92 $41.18 $42.49 $43.84

6% $64,110.92 $66,539.38 $69,061.12 $71,677.20 $74,393.98 $77,212.52 $80,138.12 $82,681.06 $85,304.56 $88,010.74 $90,802.78 $93,683.86 $96,656.10

10/1/2022 $30.82 $31.99 $33.20 $34.46 $35.77 $37.12 $38.53 $39.75 $41.01 $42.31 $43.66 $45.04 $46.47

6%+16% $74,368.67 $77,185.68 $80,110.90 $83,145.55 $86,297.02 $89,566.52 $92,960.22 $95,910.03 $98,953.29 $102,092.46 $105,331.22 $108,673.28 $112,121.08

4/1/2023 $35.75 $37.11 $38.51 $39.97 $41.49 $43.06 $44.69 $46.11 $47.57 $49.08 $50.64 $52.25 $53.90

E-V

E-W

E-X

EXECUTIVE PAY PLAN (EFFECTIVE APRIL 2023)

E-Q

E-R

E-S

E-T

E-U

EXHIBIT A

 Page 97 of 103 



Grade STEP
1

STEP
2

STEP
3

STEP
4

STEP
5

STEP
6

STEP 
7

STEP
8

STEP
9

STEP
10

STEP
11

STEP
12

STEP
13

EXECUTIVE PAY PLAN (EFFECTIVE APRIL 2023)

$55,488.00 $57,590.00 $59,773.00 $62,037.00 $64,388.00 $66,828.00 $69,360.00 $71,561.00 $73,831.00 $76,174.00 $78,591.00 $81,084.00 $83,657.00

$26.68 $27.69 $28.74 $29.83 $30.96 $32.13 $33.35 $34.40 $35.50 $36.62 $37.78 $38.98 $40.22

6% $58,817.28 $61,045.40 $63,359.38 $65,759.22 $68,251.28 $70,837.68 $73,521.60 $75,854.66 $78,260.86 $80,744.44 $83,306.46 $85,949.04 $88,676.42

10/1/2022 $28.28 $29.35 $30.46 $31.62 $32.81 $34.06 $35.35 $36.47 $37.63 $38.82 $40.05 $41.32 $42.63

6%+16% $68,228.04 $70,812.66 $73,496.88 $76,280.70 $79,171.48 $82,171.71 $85,285.06 $87,991.41 $90,782.60 $93,663.55 $96,635.49 $99,700.89 $102,864.65

4/1/2023 $32.80 $34.04 $35.34 $36.67 $38.06 $39.51 $41.00 $42.30 $43.65 $45.03 $46.46 $47.93 $49.45

$49,897.00 $51,787.00 $53,750.00 $55,786.00 $57,900.00 $60,094.00 $62,371.00 $64,350.00 $66,392.00 $68,498.00 $70,671.00 $72,914.00 $75,227.00

$23.99 $24.90 $25.84 $26.82 $27.84 $28.89 $29.99 $30.94 $31.92 $32.93 $33.98 $35.05 $36.17

6% $52,890.82 $54,894.22 $56,975.00 $59,133.16 $61,374.00 $63,699.64 $66,113.26 $68,211.00 $70,375.52 $72,607.88 $74,911.26 $77,288.84 $79,740.62

10/1/2022 $25.43 $26.39 $27.39 $28.43 $29.51 $30.62 $31.79 $32.79 $33.83 $34.91 $36.02 $37.16 $38.34

6%+16% $61,353.35 $63,677.30 $66,091.00 $68,594.47 $71,193.84 $73,891.58 $76,691.38 $79,124.76 $81,635.60 $84,225.14 $86,897.06 $89,655.05 $92,499.12

4/1/2023 $29.50 $30.61 $31.77 $32.98 $34.23 $35.52 $36.87 $38.04 $39.25 $40.49 $41.78 $43.10 $44.47

$45,014.00 $46,720.00 $48,490.00 $50,328.00 $52,235.00 $54,214.00 $56,268.00 $58,053.00 $59,895.00 $61,796.00 $63,756.00 $65,779.00 $67,866.00

$21.64 $22.46 $23.31 $24.20 $25.11 $26.06 $27.05 $27.91 $28.80 $29.71 $30.65 $31.62 $32.63

6% $47,714.84 $49,523.20 $51,399.40 $53,347.68 $55,369.10 $57,466.84 $59,644.08 $61,536.18 $63,488.70 $65,503.76 $67,581.36 $69,725.74 $71,937.96

10/1/2022 $22.94 $23.81 $24.71 $25.65 $26.62 $27.63 $28.68 $29.58 $30.52 $31.49 $32.49 $33.52 $34.59

6%+16% $55,349.21 $57,446.91 $59,623.30 $61,883.31 $64,228.16 $66,661.53 $69,187.13 $71,381.97 $73,646.89 $75,984.36 $78,394.38 $80,881.86 $83,448.03

4/1/2023 $26.61 $27.62 $28.67 $29.75 $30.88 $32.05 $33.26 $34.32 $35.41 $36.53 $37.69 $38.89 $40.12

$40,762.00 $42,307.00 $43,910.00 $45,574.00 $47,301.00 $49,093.00 $50,953.00 $52,570.00 $54,238.00 $55,958.00 $57,734.00 $59,566.00 $61,456.00

$19.60 $20.34 $21.11 $21.91 $22.74 $23.60 $24.50 $25.27 $26.08 $26.90 $27.76 $28.64 $29.55

6% $43,207.72 $44,845.42 $46,544.60 $48,308.44 $50,139.06 $52,038.58 $54,010.18 $55,724.20 $57,492.28 $59,315.48 $61,198.04 $63,139.96 $65,143.36

10/1/2022 $20.77 $21.56 $22.38 $23.23 $24.11 $25.02 $25.97 $26.79 $27.64 $28.52 $29.42 $30.36 $31.32

6%+16% $50,120.96 $52,020.69 $53,991.74 $56,037.79 $58,161.31 $60,364.75 $62,651.81 $64,640.07 $66,691.04 $68,805.96 $70,989.73 $73,242.35 $75,566.30

4/1/2023 $24.10 $25.01 $25.96 $26.94 $27.96 $29.02 $30.12 $31.08 $32.06 $33.08 $34.13 $35.21 $36.33

E-M

E-N

E-O

E-P

 Page 98 of 103 



 

 

 

EXHIBIT  B

New Business  Agenda Item 
VII-Amending Administrative

Assistant
to

Administrative Officer

 Page 99 of 103 



 Page 100 of 103 



 Page 101 of 103 



2.010 

ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 

NATURE OF WORK IN THIS CLASS: 

This is moderately complex staff administrative work in providing administrative and support 
services to management within a department/agency. 

Employees in this class perform the full range of moderately complex administrative duties, 
including budget formulation and administration; personnel action transactions; procurement of 
supplies, materials and equipment and other support services. Supervision may be exercised 
over subordinate clerical and other administrative staff support personnel. 

ILLUSTRATIVE EXAMPLES OF WORK: (Any one position may not include all the duties 
listed, nor do the examples cover all the duties which may be performed.) 

Coordinates the preparation and administration of the department/agency budget; examines 
overall budget estimates for completeness, accuracy and conformance with established 
guidelines and requirements; recommends adjustments to meet approved budget ceiling; 
completes grant application and other budgetary documents; monitors the expenditure of funds 
for budgetary control; prepares periodic financial status, staffing and other reports. 

Coordinates the processing of personnel actions for recruitment, promotions, meritorious step 
increases, adverse actions, establishment of new positions, and other requests. 

Prepares work requests and purchase requisitions for office supplies, materials and equipment. 

Interprets and explains administrative policies, rules, and procedures to employees and 
supervisors. 

Compiles statistics and other data for the preparation of the annual and other reports; composes 
correspondence and other materials. 

Performs related duties as required. 

MINIMUM KNOWLEDGE, ABILITIES AND SKILLS: 

Knowledge of general administrative processes and office management practices. 

Knowledge of management principles, practices and techniques. 

Ability to make work decisions in accordance with established laws, regulations and other 
program guidelines. 

Ability to analyze work problems having an administrative aspect and recommend solutions. 

Ability to learn, interpret and apply pertinent laws, regulations, and other program guidelines. 

 Page 102 of 103 



2.010
ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER
PAGE 2 of2

Ability to supervise the work of others.

Ability to prepare fund status reports.

Ability to work effectively with the public and employees.

Ability to communicate effectively, orally and in writing.

Ability to maintain records and prepare reports.

MINIMUM EXPERIENCE AND TRAINING:

A One year of experience in staff administrative work and graduation from a recognized
college or university with a Bachelor’s degree in public or business administration or
related fields; OR

B Any equivalent combination of experience and training which provides the minimum
knowledge, abilities and skills.

ESTABLISHED: JULY 1980

AMENDED: OCTOBER 2006

PAY GRADE: L
STEP 1: $26,520
STEP 10: $39,780

HAYEVALUATION: KNOWHOW: Eli 175
PROBLEM SOLVING: D 3 33% 57
ACCOUNTABILITY: D 1 C 66

TOTAL POINTS: 298

flcIT1k1JJ0
LOURDES M. PEREZ, Dirtor
Department of Administration

 Page 103 of 103 


	VI. Old Business
	VII. New Business
	VIII. Public Discussion
	6AC-GuamReport-3.15.24-Embargoed.pdf
	TOC
	OLE_LINK1
	OLE_LINK2
	_ftnref2
	I A
	1B

	2 A
	2B 1
	2 2
	2 3
	2 C

	3
	4
	4 A1
	4 2
	4B

	5
	5A
	5B
	5 1
	5 a
	5 b
	5 c 2 3

	6
	7
	8
	9
	10

	Reso. No. 04-24 APP_ Executive Pay Plan (EPP).pdf
	PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICE CORPORATION
	Reso. No. 04-24
	Chief Justice ROBERT J. TORRES, JR.


	BOT Meeting Packet_April 2 2024 agenda.pdf
	VI. Old Business
	VII. New Business
	VIII. Public Discussion
	6AC-GuamReport-3.15.24-Embargoed.pdf
	TOC
	OLE_LINK1
	OLE_LINK2
	_ftnref2
	I A
	1B

	2 A
	2B 1
	2 2
	2 3
	2 C

	3
	4
	4 A1
	4 2
	4B

	5
	5A
	5B
	5 1
	5 a
	5 b
	5 c 2 3

	6
	7
	8
	9
	10

	Reso. No. 04-24 APP_ Executive Pay Plan (EPP).pdf
	PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICE CORPORATION
	Reso. No. 04-24
	Chief Justice ROBERT J. TORRES, JR.



	6AC-Guam-Report-Final.pdf
	TOC
	OLE_LINK1
	OLE_LINK2
	_ftnref2
	I A
	1B

	2 A
	2B 1
	2 2
	2 3
	2 C

	3
	4
	4 A1
	4 2
	4B

	5
	5A
	5B
	5 1
	5 a
	5 b
	5 c 2 3

	6
	7
	8
	9
	10


	Button 2: 
	Button 3: 
	Button 5: 
	Button 6: 
	Button 7: 
	Button 8: 
	Button 9: 
	Button 10: 
	Button 11: 
	Button 12: 
	Button 13: 
	Button 14: 
	Button 15: 
	Button 16: 
	Button 17: 
	Button 18: 
	Button 19: 
	Button 20: 
	Button 21: 
	Button 22: 
	Button 23: 
	Button 24: 
	Button 25: 
	Button 26: 
	Button 27: 
	Button 28: 
	Button 29: 
	Button 30: 
	Button 31: 
	Button 4: 


